MICHIGAN GRATIE UN VERCITY

EAST LANSING, MICHIGAN

· - * sin

THE ISOLATION AND PHYSICAL-CHEMICAL CHARACTERIZATION

OF KAPPA-CASEIN FROM COW'S MILK

By

•

Harold E. Swaisgood

A THESIS

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Chemistry

ABSTRACT

8/12/164

THE ISOLATION AND PHYSICAL-CHEMICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF KAPPA-CASEIN FROM COW'S MILK

by Harold E. Swaisgood

The casein micelle of milk represents a complex of many interacting proteins, one of which - kappa-casein - stabilizes the other members in their ionic environment. However, the strong interactions between the micellar proteins impedes the isolation and characterization of the individual constituents. The purpose of this study was to develop a procedure for the isolation of kappa-casein and to investigate its chemical and physical properties.

These studies employed sedimentation-velocity and sedimentationequilibrium ultracentrifugation extensively, as well as electrphoresis, viscosity, and various chemical analytical techniques.

A procedure was developed for obtaining good yields of crude kappa-casein of about 90% purity. The crude kappa-casein was readily purified to approximately 97% purity for physical-chemical studies. The characteristics of the preparation were found to be similar to those previously reported for kappa-casein.

Association of kappa-casein molecules to form large aggregates of relatively uniform size in inorganic salt solutions near neutrality precludes the study of the basic unit in these buffers. Therefore, the physical properties of kappa-casein were determined in strong dissociating solvents. The weight-average molecular weight of the protein was approximately 125,000 in 67% acetic acid - 0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl and 5.0 <u>M</u> guanidine-HCl solutions. A molecular weight of approximately 56,000

Harold E. Swaisgood

was obtained for the low-molecular weight component in 7.0 \underline{M} urea, 33% acetic acid - 0.15 \underline{M} NaCl, and at low protein concentrations in 5.0 \underline{M} guanidine-HCl.

Reduction of the disulfide bonds caused the molecular weight to be lowered to 28,000 in 5.0 <u>M</u> guanidine HCl and 67% acetic acid – 0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl. Physical-chemical studies showed that the disulfide bonds were also destroyed in phosphate buffer at pH 12.

Determination of the sulfhydryl groups by several chemical methods indicated 2-3 -SH groups per 28,000 g. An odd number of -SH groups per 28,000 g suggested at least one inter-molecular disulfide bond since there were no free -SH groups. Minimum molecular weights calculated from the chemical analyses supported the physical studies.

These data led to the conclusion that the basic unit of kappacasein was composed of two 28,000 molecular weight sub-units joined by disulfide bond(s).

ACKNOWLE DGEMENTS

The author expresses his sincere appreciation to Dr. J. Robert Brunner, Professor of Food Science, for his encouragement and counsel during this study. His philosophy of life as well as his scientific ability will be a constant source of inspiration. The writer also expresses his gratitude to Dr. Hans A. Lillevik, Associate Professor of Biochemistry, for many helpful discussions and for arranging for the amino acid analyses.

The author wishes to acknowledge the financial assistance of a Predoctoral Fellowship from the Division of General Medical Sciences, United States Public Health Service. Grateful acknowledgement is also due to Dr. B. S. Schweigert, Professor and Chairman of the Department of Food Science, for providing research facilities and financial support.

The author is also indebted to Mr. C. W. Kolar for performing the zonal electrophoresis experiments and to Mr. E. M. McCabe and other graduate students who have contributed to this study.

And lastly, but never least, to my beloved wife, Janet, go my thanks for her patience and understanding during my entire graduate study program.

ii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
INTRODUCTION	• 1
HISTORICAL	• 3
General	• 3
Methods Employed in the Preparation of k-Casein	• 4
Method of Waugh and von Hippel (1956)	• 4
Method of Long (1958)	• 4
Method of Fox (1958) as Modified by Morr (1959)	• 5
Method of Pilson, Henneberry, and Baker (1960) for Fraction A	• 5
Method of McKenzie and Wake (1961)	• 6
Method of Cheeseman (1962)	• 7
Method of Hill (1963)	. 7
Method of Hipp, Groves, and McMeekin (1961) for Preparing α ₃ -Casein	. 8
Chemical Properties of k-Casein	• 8
Composition	• 8
Amino acids	. 8
Nitrogen	• 9
Phosphorus and NANA	• 9
Stabilization of α_{s} -Casein	• 10
Reaction with Rennin	. 111
Physical Properties	. 14
Ultracentrifugal Characteristics	• 14
Electrophoretic Characteristics	• 16

The Preparation and Preliminary Characterization of	i · o
Kappa-Casein	17
INTRODUCTION TO PART I	18
EXPERIMENTAL METHODS	19
Apparatus	19
Chemicals and Buffers	20
Preparatory Procedure	20
Isolation Procedure for Preparation No. 1	21
Isolation Procedure for Preparation No. 2	22
Isolation Procedure for Preparation No. 3 and 3 A $\ .$	22
Additional Purification as Applied to Preparations No. 3 and 3A	23
Isolation Procedure for Preparation No. 4	24
Analytical Methods	24
RESULTS	29
Preparation and Yields	29
Free-Boundary Electrophoretic Characteristics	32
pH of Minimum Solubility at 0.1 Ionic Strength	32
Stabilization of α_{s} -Casein	32
Complex Formation with α_s -Casein	33
Characteristics of the λ-Casein Fraction (Preparation No. 4)	33
Action of Rennin on k-Casein Preparations	34
DISCUSSION	53
General	53
Electrophoretic and Ultracentrifugal Characterization	54
Stabilization and Interaction with $\alpha_{\rm s}$ -Casein	56

PART I

Characteristics of the Preparation as a Primary Substrate for Rennin	57
Other Proteins Obtained During the Preparation of k-Casein or as a Result of a Slight Alteration in the Preparative Procedure	50
	73
SUMMARY OF PART I	61

PART II

Properties of Kappa-Casein	62
INTRODUCTION TO PART II	63
EXPERIMENTAL	65
Apparatus	65
Chemicals	66
Chemical Methods	67
Amino Acid Analysis	67
Nitrogen	67
Sulfur	68
Phosphorus	68
N-Acetylneuraminic Acid	68
Disulfide Bond Reduction	69
Sulfhydryl Group Titration	69
Nitroprusside	71
Physical Methods	71
Ultracentrifugation	71
Determination of protein concentration	71
Sedimentation—equilibrium	72
Approach-to-equilibrium	73
Sedimentation-velocity	73

Page

Densities and partial specific volume	•	•	•	•	•	74
Intrinsic viscosity determinations .	•	•	•	•	•	75
RESULTS	•	•	•	•	•	76
Composition	•	•	•	•	•	76
Physical Properties of k-Casein	•	•	•	•	•	77
Properties in Non-Dissociating Solvents .	•	•	•	•	•	77
Properties in Dissociating Solvents	•	•	•	•	•	77
Sedimentation characteristics in SDS solutions	•	•	•	•	•	77
Sedimentation and viscosity character in 5.0 M GU solutions	181 •	tic •	.8	•	•	79
Sedimentation and viscosity character in concentrated acetic acid solution adjusted to 0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl	ist ns •	tic •		•	•	80
Sedimentation characteristics in 7.0 urea solutions at pH 8.5	<u>.</u>	•	•	•	•	81
Sedimentation and viscosity character in pH 12.2 phosphate buffer	ist •	tic •	•	•	•	81
Physical Properties of Reduced k-Casein	•	•	•	•	•	82
Sedimentation Characteristics in 5.0 \underline{M} GU	٠	٠	•	•	•	82
Sedimentation Characteristics in 67% Acetic Acid Adjusted to 0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl	•	•	•	•	•	83
Determination of Sulfhydryl Groups	•	•	•	•	•	84
DISCUSSION	•	•	•	•	•	103
Composition of k-Casein	٠	•	•	•	•	103
Molecular Size and Interactions of k-Casein .	•	•	•	•	•	105
Polymer Size of k-Casein in Neutral Salt Solutions	•	•	•	•	•	105
Dissociation of the k-Casein Polymers and the Properties of the Units Obtained	the •	e •	•	•	•	106

Sedimentation, diffusion, and viscosity characteristics of k-casein in dissociating solvents	106
Sedimentation and diffusion characteristics of reduced k-casein in dissociating solvents	109
Comparison of k-casein and reduced k-casein	110
Some other possible structures of k-casein	112
SUMMARY OF PART II	120
LITERATURE CITED	121

,

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE		Page
1.	Comparison of the electrophoretic, ultracentrifugal, and yield characteristics of k-casein pre- parations	37
2.	Quantitative characteristics of the sedimentation- velocity patterns of k-caseins shown in Figure 4	39
3.	Electrophoretic properties of k-casein (Prepara- tion No. 3) in buffers from pH 2.3 to 8.6	40
4.	The amino acid composition of k-caseins	85
5.	Molecular weights of k-casein from chemical analysis	87
6.	Sedimentation coefficients of k-caseins at neutral pH	88
7.	Sedimentation coefficients of purified Preparation No. 3 A in buffers containing SDS	89
8.	Equilibrium molecular weight data for k- and reduced k-casein in 5.0 M GU, pH 4.8	90
9.	Hydrodynamic properties of k-casein in 5.0 M GU, 67% acetic acid - 0.15 M NaCl, and pH 12.2 phosphate buffer	91
10.	Equilibrium molecular weight data for k- and reduced k-casein in 67% acetic acid - 0.15 M NaCl	92
11.	Determination of the total sulfhydryl groups	93
12.	Summary of the physical properties of k-casein and reduced k-casein	117

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE		Page
1.	Procedure followed for obtaining k-casein from a concentrated urea-TCA solution of iso- electric casein or crude k-casein fraction	27
2.	Electrophoretic and sedimentation patterns of the material obtained from various steps of the isolation procedure	41
3.	Electrophoretic and sedimentation-velocity patterns of the k-casein preparations reported in Table 1	43
4.	Sedimentation-velocity patterns of different k-casein preparations in pH 7.0 phosphate buffer .	44
5.	Urea-star ch gel electrophoretic patterns of α_s^{-} , k-, and λ -caseins	46
6.	Free-boundary electrophoretic patterns of purified k-caseins in pH 7.0 phosphate buffer, $\sqrt{2} = 0.1$	47
7.	Electrophoretic patterns of k-casein Preparation No. 3 in buffers ranging from pH 2.3 to 8.6, $\int 2 = 0.1$ (see Table 3)	48
8.	A plot of the descending electrophoretic mobilities of k-casein Preparation No. 3 at various pH values (see Table 3)	49
9.	A plot of the nitrogen and 280 mµ absorption for the k-casein remaining in solution at pH values near the isoelectric point	50
10.	The stabilization of $\alpha_{\rm g}$ -casein by various amounts of k-casein Preparation No. 3	51
11.	Electrophoretic and sedimentation-velocity patterns of A) Hipp <u>et al.</u> (1952) α -casein fraction and k-/ α_8 -casein complexes induced by B) precipita- tion from 3.0 M urea and by C) momentarily adjusting a solution of the mixture to pH 12	52
12.	A plot of the reduced viscosity (ml/g) for k- casein in A) 67% acetic acid - 0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl, B) 5.0 <u>M</u> guanidine-HCl, and C) 0.1 <u>M</u> NaCl	94

FIGURE

13.	Plot showing the concentration dependence of the apparent molecular weight of k-casein in 5.0 M guanidine HCl and 67% acetic acid - 0.15 M NaCl	95
14.	Van Holde-Baldwin plots of short-column equilibrium data for k-casein	96
15.	Trautman plot of approach-to-equilibrium data for k-casein in 5.0 <u>M</u> guanidine.HCl	97
16.	Trautman plot of approach-to-equilibrium data for k-casein in 33% acetic acid - 0.15 <u>M</u> NaC1	98
17.	Trautman plot of approach-to-equilibrium data for k-casein in 7.0 <u>M</u> urea, pH 8.5, 25° C	99
18.	Trautman plot of approach-to-equilibrium data for k-casein in pH 12.2 phosphate buffer, 25° C	L00
19.	Plot showing the concentration dependence of the apparent molecular weights in dissociating solvents for reduced k-casein and k-casein exposed to pH 12	101
20.	Sedimentation-equilibrium patterns for k-casein and reduced k-casein in 67% acetic acid - 0.15 M NaCl and 5.0 M guanidine.HCl	L18

Page

LIST OF APPENDICES

	Page
APPENDIX I	129
Composition of Buffers	129
Properties of the Dissociating Solvents Used for	
Molecular Weight Calculations or Correction of the Sedimentation Coefficients to Water	130
APPENDIX II	132
Introduction	132
Notation	132
Sedimentation-Equilibrium	134
Theoretical	134
Experimental Application	137
Weight-average molecular weight for the entire cell contents	137
Weight-average molecular weight at r (Van Holde-Baldwin plot)	139
z-Average molecular weight for the entire cell contents	140
Example Calculation	140
Calculation of the Diffusion Coefficient	143
Approach-to-Equilibrium	144
Theoretical	144
Experimental Application	146
Sedimentation-Velocity	148
Calculation of the Coefficient	
The observed sedimentation coefficient	148
Correction of the observed S to standard conditions	149
Correction for radial dilution	149

	The frictional ration	150
	The Scheraga-Mandelkern constant	151
APPENDIX III	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	154

Page

INTRODUCTION

The casein micelle of milk is a complex system of interacting proteins and calcium ions. The micelles are in equilibrium with polymer complexes of the individual components, the equilibrium being displaced towards the micellar form by calcium ion addition. Nevertheless, the system is remarkably stable to rigorous industrial processing treatments such as pasteurization, sterilization, concentration, drying, reconstituting, freezing, and addition of sugar and/or inorganic salts. However, lowering the pH to 4.6 releases the calcium ions and the casein fraction precipitates.

At least four individual proteins are present in the micelle, two of which (α_s - and β -casein) are individually insoluble at calcium ion concentrations normal to milk. There are undoubtedly more than four constituents since the λ -casein fraction appears heterogeneous. The principle micellar system appears to be a complex of α_s - and k-casein.

The interactions leading initially to complexes and finally to micelles are strong and highly specific. This behavior was responsible for earlier conclusions that casein was a homogeneous substance. For example, the α -casein fraction appears to be homogeneous by free-boundary electrophoresis and ultracentrifugation and, in fact, can be isolated intact from 4.6 <u>M</u> urea solutions. However, studies involving the addition of calcium ion or strong dissociating solvents show that α -casein is a complex of k-, $\alpha_{\rm g}$ - and probably the λ -casein fraction. Furthermore, these strong interactions make the isolation and purification of any one of the components difficult. Consequently the information concerning the properties of the individual components is incomplete. k-Casein has been shown to be the "protective colloid" of the micelle system. The interaction of this protein with the other components yields a stable micelle and in its absence the other caseins (with the exception of λ -casein) will precipitate at low calcium ion concentrations. Also, the alteration of this single protein by the primary action of the enzyme rennin is sufficient to cause coagulation of the micellar proteins. Moreover, the interaction seems to be stoichiometric since a weight-ratio of 4 $\alpha_{\rm s}$ -: 1 k-casein is preferred for complex formation. Relatively pure k-casein forms polymers of nearly uniform size in buffers not considered to be strong dissociating agents. In fact, this protein seems to interact with itself and other proteins more readily than any of the other micellar components. The polymers formed are relatively independent of pH, temperature, ionic strength, and calcium ion concentration suggesting that this is a rather unusual specific interaction.

In view of the above discussion, k-casein would appear to present a challenging system for the study of secondary bonding forces in proteins. However, before such a study can be pursued three objectives must be achieved: a) a method for preparing considerable quantities of pure protein must be developed, b) the chemical composition must be determined, and c) elementary physical properties such as molecular weight, sedimentation coefficient, diffusion coefficient, intrinsic viscosity, and shape must be described. The purpose of the research described herein was to achieve, insofar as possible, these three objectives.

For the sake of organization, the thesis has been divided into two parts: Part I dealing with the method of preparation and preliminary characterization of k-casein and Part II describing the physical-chemical studies performed on the preparation.

e 0 q 1 d; C

04 50 ~

1

a;

th

ży

Ca

an

fr

HISTORICAL

General

Linderstrøm-Lang (1925) first recognized the calcium-insensitivity of a casein fraction which he called Z-casein. Later he (Linderstrøm-Lang, 1929) proposed the existence of a "protective colloid" in the casein fraction which was responsible for the stabilization of the casein micelle and was specifically attacked by rennin. The classical electrophoretic separation of whole casein into α -, β - and γ -casein, in order of decreasing mobility, was reported by Mellander (1939). Subsequently, Warner (1944) suggested that α -casein¹ was heterogeneous and later, Nitschmann and Lehmann (1947) proposed that rennin did not act directly on α -casein, but rather, on a component thereof.

The "protective colloid" theory has been the subject of considerable controversy. Recent experiments have supported this hypothesis so that at present it is universally accepted. The factor most responsible for the renewed impetus in casein research was the discovery of kappa-casein by Waugh and von Hippel (1956). While attempting to purify micellar casein, they obtained a fractionation of the casein into calcium-sensitive and calcium-insensitive fractions. Analysis of the calcium-insensitive fraction (Fraction S) revealed the presence of β -casein and a new component which they called k-casein. Furthermore, addition of Fraction S to the calcium-sensitive fraction in the correct proportions resulted in the formation of stable micelles in the presence of calcium ion.

¹ This component has now been définitely shown to be heterogeneous and will be referred to as the α-casein fraction (Brunner, Ernstrom, Hollis, Larson, Whitney, and Zittle, 1960).

pH. con in rer usi cas fra at con tio Pre Son tte R ٤đj :e_ 250 51₀₃ . .e

Methods Employed in the Preparation of k-Casein

Method of Waugh and von Hippel (1956)

This method essentially consists of a physical separation at constant pH. Micelles were collected from skimmilk by adjusting the calcium ion concentration to 0.06 <u>M</u> causing nearly all of the casein to concentrate in the micellar form, and centrifuging at 45,000 X G. Calcium ion was removed from the precipitate -- designated as first-cycle casein -- by using a chelating agent, e.g. sodium oxalate or citrate. First-cycle casein was made 0.25 <u>M</u> with respect to CaCl₂ and the calcium-sensitive fraction removed by centrifugation, first at 900 X G (37° C) and then at 90,000 X G (5° C). The supernatant, designated as Fraction S, contained about 70% k-casein. Later, Waugh (1958) reported a purification of Fraction S using centrifugation, salting-out, and isoelectric precipitation which yielded k-casein of approximately 90% purity. The contaminate consisted largely of m-casein which is probably similar to the λ -casein described by Long (1958), see Brunner <u>et al.</u> (1960).

Method of Long (1958)

The starting material for this procedure was the α -casein fraction prepared by the method of Warner (1944). A 2 - 3% protein solution was adjusted to 0.2 <u>M</u> CaCl₂ concentration and the calcium-sensitive fraction removed by centrifuging initially at 35° C and 9,000 RPM and finally at 25° C and 21,000 RPM. The k-casein obtained was contaminated with a slow-sedimenting component as shown by sedimentation-velocity patterns. The slow-sedimenting component was obtained by collecting the top layer from crude k-casein solutions centrifuged for 5 hours at 40,000 RPM.

The protein recovered was shown to be different from previously described caseins and was designated as λ -casein. It was stable to calcium ion, possessed an S₂₀ of <u>ca</u> 1.3 S at pH 7, contained 1.18% phosphorus, and did not stabilize α_s -casein or give a visible reaction with rennin.

Method of Fox (1958) as Modified by Morr (1959)

k-Casein was prepared from whole casein or from Warner's α -casein fraction. The preparative operations were performed at 0 - 5° C unless otherwise stated. The starting material was adjusted to pH 11.3 and held for 20 - 30 min. Calcium chloride was added to a final concentration of 0.2 M, the pH lowered to 8.3 and the resulting precipitate removed. The temperature was raised to 30° C causing more calcium-sensitive material to precipitate. The supernatant was adjusted to pH 4.7, dialyzed against water, and the precipitate collected. These steps were repeated to further remove the calcium-sensitive fraction. The precipitate was dissolved in 6.6 M urea and crude k-casein obtained by diluting to 3.3 M urea concentration. Crude k-casein was again dissolved in 6.6 M urea and the pH adjusted to 11.3 for a short time. After lowering the pH to 4.7 and diluting to 3.3 M urea concentration, a brown precipitate was removed and k-casein was precipitated from the supernatant by salting-out. (1.5 M ammonium sulfate). These steps were repeated twice. The k-casein obtained appeared homogeneous by sedimentation-velocity studies.

Method of Pilson, Henneberry, and Baker (1960) for Fraction A

 α -Casein fraction prepared by the method of Warner was adjusted to pH 12 at 25° C for 45 min, then lowered to pH 7.0, followed by addition of CaCl₂ to 0.25 <u>M</u> concentration. Calcium sensitive α -casein (α_s -casein)

÷, t 7 Þ. £ Q 7 1 A; t((¥, 2 2 Ţ 53 10 ÷1 i e le Va ₹e was removed by centrifugation and Fraction A was precipitated by adjusting the pH to 4.5. The precipitate was redissolved and the steps repeated. The material obtained was homogeneous by paper electrophoresis. The preparation was considered similar to Fraction S on the basis of the stability to calcium ion, reaction with rennin, and ability to stabilize α_s -casein.

Method of McKenzie and Wake (1961)

Whole acid casein was treated with $CaCl_2$ (ca 0.4 M) at pH 6.5 - 7.0. The calcium-sensitive fraction was removed by warming to 35° C and centrifuging at room temperature, first at 900 X G followed by 40,000 X G. After removing the calcium ion with oxalate, the supernatant was warmed to 25° C and 25g/100ml of anhydrous Na₂SO₄ was added. The precipitate (k- and β -casein) was removed by centrifugation (900 X G), dissolved in water and dialyzed against 0.005 M NaCl. Following adjustment of the pH to 7.2, an equal volume of absolute ethanol was added, followed by 2 M ammonium acetate until a definite mucilaginous precipitate formed. The precipitate was dissolved in 6 M urea and dialyzed against 0.005 M NaC1. If the dissolved precipitate was dialyzed against water or too long against 0.005 M NaCl, the k-casein precipitated and was only soluble with difficulty. The preceding steps with ethanol and ammonium acetate were repeated to assure complete removal of β -casein. Residual fat was removed from the final product by centrifuging at 90,000 X G. k-Casein was obtained in yields of ca 20% of theory and appeared homogeneous by velocity-ultracentrifugation and urea-starch gel electrophoresis.

Method of Cheeseman (1962)

 α -Casein fraction prepared by the urea method of Hipp, Groves, Custer and McKeekin (1952) was treated with oxalate to remove residual calcium. The solution was made 3.3 <u>M</u> with respect to urea at 4° C and the pH adjusted to 4.9, followed by dilution to 2 <u>M</u> urea concentration which precipitated α_s -casein. The supernatant, containing k-casein, was dialyzed against water and adjusted to 0.2 <u>M</u> CaCl₂ concentration at pH 6.6 - 7.0. Calcium-sensitive material was removed by centrifugation at 37° C and 2500 RPM. The preparation was 90% pure by free-boundary electrophoresis at pH 7.3. About 25% recovery was obtained assuming 15% k-casein in whole casein.

Method of Hill (1963)

Whole acid casein was made 0.25 M with respect to CaCl_2 at 3° C and pH 6.7 - 7.2. After removing the calcium-sensitive fraction by warming to 35° C and centrifuging at 5000 RPM, the supernatant was dialyzed against water and concentrated. The solution was again treated with CaCl₂, but this time centrifuged at 50,000 X G. The crude k-casein was applied to a DEAE cellulose column in pH 6.25 acetate buffer. A gradient elution was obtained by mixing the previous buffer with various amounts of pH 4.5 acetate buffer adjusted to 0.5 M with respect to CaCl₂. Under these conditions, β -casein was eluted first, whereas kcasein was not eluted until the CaCl₂ molarity had increased and the pH was lowered. k-Casein was soluble at pH 4.7 in 0.5 M CaCl₂. The purity of the preparation was not determined by the common physical methods.

Method of Hipp, Groves, and McMeekin (1961) for Preparing α_3 -Casein

Although the protein was not designated as such, it is undoubtedly similar, if not identical, to k-casein and therefore will be described here. The calcium-insensitive casein was prepared from Warner's α -casein fraction by centrifuging a solution of the protein adjusted to 0.2 <u>M</u> CaCl₂ concentration at 3500 X G at room temperature. Further purification of the calcium-insensitive protein was accomplished by refrigerated centrifugation at 40,000 RPM for 5 hours in 0.2 <u>M</u> NaCl. The pellet obtained was recentrifuged twice under the same conditions, except in the absence of salt.

 α_3 -Casein was homogeneous by urea-starch gel electrophoresis, freeboundary electrophoresis at pH 2.3 (μ = 3.6 Tiselius units), and velocityultracentrifugation at pH 7 (S₂₀ = 23.1 S). The protein appeared to have less stabilizing power than k-casein, however, it was coagulated by rennin yielding 17% of the total nitrogen as soluble nitrogen. It was soluble to the extent of only 0.26% at pH 6.9. The sialic acid content was 1.2% and phosphorus 0.35%.

Chemical Properties of k-Casein

Composition

<u>Amino acids</u>. The amino acid composition obtained on a sample prepared by the McKenzie-Wake method was reported by Jollès, Alais, and Jollès (1962). The results are presented later in the thesis for comparison with an analysis obtained on k-casein prepared by the procedure developed in this laboratory. The absence of cysteinein the casein fraction was first reported by Kassel and Brand (1938). Jollès <u>et al</u>.

(: fo æ po Ch 14, fo Pho C. : 196 NcF The as 2.4 196 for (Ma Sen qıe (19 g5; . مر (1962) compared their analysis to that of Hipp, Basch, and Gordon (1961) for α_3 -casein. k-Casein appeared to have a higher content of the hydroxyamino acids than α_3 -casein.

<u>Nitrogen</u>. Reported values for the nitrogen content have varied, possibly due to the extent of purity of the various preparations. Cheeseman (1962) reported 13.6%, Beeby (1963) 14.6%, Hipp <u>et al.</u> (1961) 14.6% for α_3 -casein, and Pilson <u>et al.</u> (1960) 13.9% for Fraction A.

Phosphorus and NANA. Similarly various values have been reported for the phosphorus and N-acetylneuraminic acid (NANA) composition. Phosphorus contents reported in the literature are 0.33% (Long, 1958), 0.19% for purified Fraction S (Waugh, 1958), 0.22% (Thompson and Pepper, 1962) and 0.217% (Alais and Jollès, 1961) for preparations by the McKenzie-Wake method, and 0.92% (Pilson et al., 1960) for Fraction A. The percentages of NANA for the various preparations were reported as 0.79% (Cheeseman, 1962); 1.2 - 2.0% (Hill, 1963); 2.5%, 1.8%, and 2.4% for different McKenzie-Wake preparations (Thompson and Pepper, 1962; Beeby, 1963; and Alais and Jollès, 1961 respectively); 2.14% for a preparation obtained by the method described in this thesis (Marier, Tessier, and Rose, 1963); and 2.22% for Fraction A (Cayen, Henneberry, and Baker, 1962). Some of the variation was undoubtedly due to the various analytical procedures employed. Alais and Jolles (1961) have shown that N-acetylneuraminic acid is the only sialic acid present in bovine k-casein. According to the latter authors, k-casein also contains 1.2% galactosamine and 1.4% galactose.

is add se] all Con lic exp k-c 195 Pre Vas Fre tte t٥ o£ 5**-C** str the t₀ (s: int 195

Stabilization of α_s -Casein

At calcium ion concentrations normal to milk, $\alpha_{\rm s}$ -casein by itself is insoluble (Waugh and von Hippel, 1956; Waugh, 1958). However, addition of increasing proportions of k-casein caused an increase in soluble α_s -casein. When the weight-ratio of α_s -/k-casein was 4 : 1, all of the α_s -casein was present in a stable micelle at 0.03 M CaCl₂ concentration and 37°C (Waugh and von Hippel, 1956). Once formed, the micelle was stable even at 0° C. However, when the micelle formation experiment was performed at 0° C, the α -casein was not stabilized by k-casein at a weight-ratio of 4 unless whey proteins were present (Waugh, 1958 and 1961). They observed the same weight-ratio to be the naturally preferred ratio in the absence of calcium at pH 7, or if the complex was formed from monomers of the components by short exposure to pH 12. Free k-casein was observed in the sedimentation-velocity pattern in the case of lower ratios at pH 7. This stoichiometry led Waugh (1958) to propose a molecular model for the complex containing three molecules of $\alpha_{\mathbf{s}}$ -casein and one of k-casein.

At the higher temperatures, the complex incorporated β -casein. β -Casein was also observed to interact with k-casein polymers as demonstrated by the fact that Fraction S did not become cloudy at 37° C in the presence of calcium ion (normally concentrations of β -casein similar to that in Fraction S would become cloudy). The function of m-casein (similar to Long's λ -casein and Hipp's α_2 -casein) in the micelle and its interactions with k-casein have not been determined (Waugh, 1958 and 1961; Long, 1958).

Zittle (1960 and 1961) described a test for determination of the stabilizing power of k-casein. Using his particular preparation of k-

casei iten 10 mg casein a McKe dase d Pepper Į iacrea of ren strati von Hi ior re in k-c 1957 a 5.7% i casein :5% of of Wau W ³²II sensit; т ₂₀₁; ^{illo} Pa Seze25 casein, Zittle (1960) found that 80% of the α_s -casein was stabilized when the ratio of k-/ α_s -casein was 0.1 and the test solution contained 10 mg α_s/ml . The stabilization was less at lower concentrations of α_s casein. Later, 90% stabilization at a ratio of 0.1 was reported using a McKenzie-Wake preparation (Zittle, 1961). Release of NANA by neuraminidase decreased somewhat the stabilizing power of k-casein (Thompson and Pepper, 1962).

Reaction with Rennin

Alais, Mocquot, Nitschmann, and Zahler (1953) demonstrated an increase in 12% TCA-soluble nitrogen (NPN) resulting from the action of rennin on casein. With the discovery of k-casein and the demonstration of its ability to stabilize the casein micelle, Waugh and von Hippel (1956) proposed that this protein was the primary substrate for rennin action. Subsequent studies indicated that fractions rich in k-casein liberated more NPN when serving as rennin substrates (Garnier, 1957 and 1959; Wake, 1957 and 1959). For example, Wake (1959) found a 6.7% increase in NPN for k-casein, but only 1% increase when first-cycle casein was studied. From these data, he calculated that k-casein comprised 15% of the whole casein, a result which agreed with the physical studies of Waugh and von Hippel (1956).

Waugh (1958) reported that Fraction S prepared from rennin treated skimmilk contained m-casein but not k-casein. However, the calciumsensitive fraction (Fraction P) behaved similarly to that obtained from untreated milk. Furthermore, the time required to convert k-casein into para-k-casein was comparable to the time required to clot skimmilk, whereas $\alpha_{\rm g}$ -casein and β -casein were not altered in this interval.

38 (G 38

TC= hor sho

and 600; ver:

stra is t Izde

> case Seth

ase २ छन् स्वर्य

ेर प्र हिंदी रोक्स्

i. Gi

)ÿ

Immunoelectrophoretic studies have shown four components in the α casein fraction, only one of which was altered by the action of rennin (Garnier, 1959 and 1960). Also, urea-starch gel electrophoresis of whole casein has revealed many bands, but only the k-casein band was altered by rennin treatment (Wake and Baldwin, 1961).

The peptide released from whole casein by rennin and soluble in 12% TCA was shown to be non-dialyzable and essentially electrophoretically homogeneous (Alais, 1956). Later, Nitschmann, Wissmann, and Henzi (1957) showed that this material was a glyco-macropeptide (GMP) containing galactose, glucosamine, and sialic acid but no free alpha amino groups and that its molecular weight by sedimentation-diffusion ranged between 6000 and 8000. The carbohydrate content of GMP from whole casein was verified (Brunner and Thompson, 1959).

Since all previous data indicated that k-casein was the primary substrate for rennin, large proportions of GMP having the same composition as that obtained from whole casein should be released from this protein. Indeed, several workers have shown that the GMP obtained from whole casein, α -casein fraction, and k-casein (prepared by the McKenzie-Wake method) was the same (Nitschmann and Beeby, 1960; Jollès and Alais, 1960; Alais and Jollès, 1961; Jollès, Alais, and Jollès, 1961). Starting with kcasein, Nitschmann and Beeby observed an 8% increase in NPN and obtained a GMP containing 11.2% N, 0.5% P, and 60% of the total GMP in the peptide portion. This GMP had the same amino acid composition as that obtained from whole casein or from the α -casein fraction. Confirming amino acid analyses were reported by Jollès and co-workers (1960 and 1961). Using their data, Jollès <u>et al</u>. (1960 and 1961) calculated the molecular weight of GMP to be 8000 <u>+</u> 500. This preparation contained 0.4% P, 10.1% N,

18,1 Gala res orij whe: y, y the Malj ¥as inve cari that Stat the oth soq MP der :aÿ ia] Pept it:e £.²⁷ tw₀ : بن :
28.2% carbohydrate, and 72% of the total weight in the peptide portion. Galactosamine, galactose, and sialic acid represented 24%, 26%, and 50% respectively of the total carbohydrate moiety of GMP, the same as in the original k-casein.

The GMP contained 74% of the carbohydrates in the original k-casein, whereas GMP from whole casein accounted for only 31% of the total carbohydrate (Alais and Jolles, 1961). These data suggest that not all of the carbohydrate in whole casein resides in the k-casein molecule. Malpress (1961) found that only 68% of the sialic acid in whole casein was released by rennin. Alais and Jolles (1961) indicated that further investigations are necessary to determine whether or not all of the carbohydrate of k-casein is located in the GMP. Wake (1959) suggested that some of the GMP is precipitated in 12% TCA. However, Beeby (1963) stated that all of the sialic acid was soluble in 12% TCA and therefore the GMP must also be completely soluble. The possibility that peptides other than the GMP are released must also be considered (Nitschmann and Henzi, 1959).

Jollès <u>et al</u>. (1961) could find no N-terminal amino acids in the GMP, confirming Nitschmann's earlier work, however, two yellow DNP derivatives were observed and the possibility was suggested that these may be derivatives of osamines. Action of carboxypeptidase released Val, Ala, Ser, and Thr from GMP and also from k-casein, therefore, the peptide must appear on the C-terminal end of the k-casein molecule. Interestingly, these workers observed that Val and Ala were liberated simultaneously and in equal amounts, suggesting that the GMP may have two chains. Carboxypeptidase liberated two new C-terminal amino acids from para-k-casein, Leu and Phe, supporting the conclusion that GMP was

Ī h t Ca Cc P W <u>i</u> þe i: 5 l 85 fı ir Ţ ί, 5ŋ ďį

ł

released from the C-terminal end (Jolles et al., 1962).

The bond cleaved by rennin and joining the GMP to para-k-casein has been the subject of many studies. Jollès, Alais, and Jollès (1963) treated k-casein with $LiBH_4$ and obtained products similar to para-kcasein and GMP. Moreover, phenylalaninol was found in the precipitate. Consequently, an ester linkage between phenylalanine and the GMP was postulated. Garnier, Mocquot, and Brignon (1962) found that one proton was released per 55,000 g of k-casein upon the action of rennin on this protein at pH 7. Under these conditions, the release of a proton would be expected if the bond was an ester but not if a peptide linkage was involved.

Recently Beeby and Nitschmann (1963) noted a faster increase in the NANA and nitrogen soluble at pH 4.7 than that soluble in 12% TCA when low enzyme concentrations were used. They suggested that k-casein exists as a complex and that the initial action of rennin disrupts this complex freeing the NANA containing portion which is soluble at pH 4.7 but not in 12% TCA. It was proposed that a subsequent cleavage at this portion yields the GMP which is soluble in 12% TCA.

Physical Properties

Ultracentrifugal Characteristics

Polymers of approximately 13.5 S which were insensitive to temperature, ionic strength, and calcium ion concentration were formed by k-casein in buffers near neutrality (Waugh, 1958). The sedimentation coefficient did not vary more than one unit at temperatures from 1° C to 37° C and at calcium ion concentrations from 0 to 1 <u>M</u> (Waugh and von Hippel, 1956).

i S S va рH We; 6.9 pre lot (Wat iong beca k-ca Irchi sedin ior k ^{10]}ect iz ler McKenz .hese itas pi ⁽¹⁵£3) ⁽³⁰,000 However, these authors found that by increasing the pH to 12 the polymers would dissociate, yielding a "monomer" with an S_{20} of about 1.3 S. The dissociation was reversible with respect to the sedimentation characteristics. From the ultracentrifugal and electrophoretic data on Fraction S, it was deduced that whole casein contained approximately 15% k-casein.

Similarly, Long (1958) observed sedimentation coefficients at 13.2 S to 16 S in neutral buffers and 1.1 S at pH 12. Morr (1959) reported values ranging from 12 S to 16 S for k-casein in phosphate buffer at pH 7. Coefficients of 13.9 S and 13.6 S were reported by McKenzie and Wake (1961) for their preparation in phosphate buffers at pH 6.5 and 6.9. Thompson and Pepper (1962) reported a value of 14 S for a similar preparation at pH 7.

The k-casein boundary was skewed indicating that the polymers were not entirely uniform in size or that some heterogeneity was involved (Waugh and von Hippel, 1956; Long, 1958; McKenzie and Wake, 1961). Long (1958) also observed that exposure to pH 12 caused the pattern to become more symmetrical when studied at pH 7. The molecular weight of k-casein in phosphate buffer at pH 12 was 16,300 as determined by the Archibald technique (Waugh, 1958). Using this value along with the sedimentation coefficient (1.37 S), Waugh calculated a frictional ratio for k-casein which, after making certain assumptions, indicated that the molecule could be represented by a cylinder 16 Å in diameter and 150 Å in length. However, employing the same technique and buffer system, McKenzie and Wake (1959b) obtained a molecular weight of 26,000 ± 3,000. These values should be compared to that obtained by Garnier et al. (1962) from proton release by rennin (55,000) and the values estimated by Beeby (1963) from a consideration of the amount and molecular weight of GMP (50,000).

Electrophoretic Characteristics

Descending mobilities obtained by free-boundary electrophoresis were -6.81 and -7.60 Tiselius units for k-casein at pH 6.98 and 6.5 in phosphate buffer, $\Gamma/2 = 0.1$, respectively (Long, 1958). Morr (1959) reported mobilities of -7.16 to -7.97 Tiselius units in phosphate buffer (pH 6.98, 0.1 $\Gamma/2$). At pH 8.4 the value was -6.8 Tiselius units.

Zone electrophoresis in urea-starch gel showed a smear directly in front of the starting slot (Wake and Baldwin, 1961: Neelin, Rose and Tessier, 1962). PART I

THE PREPARATION AND PRELIMINARY CHARACTERIZATION OF KAPPA_CASEIN

.

INTRODUCTION TO PART I

When this study was initiated all the reported methods of isolation for k-casein required the use of a preparative ultracentrifuge. Since this instrument was not available at that time, a different isolation scheme was necessary. Furthermore, even when an ultracentrifuge was available, a method for obtaining crude k-casein in good yields was desirable since the capacity of the centrifuge limits the amount which can be purified.

The method of preparation developed to satisfy the above requiremetns is presented in Part I of this thesis. Also included are the characterization studies which were performed to establish the identity and homogeniety of the preparation. Once the in a net bath the Witł plas spee Viti 400 ult ecu Mod ezp Ele Ie Tes 201 Re Ŧ Ŋ

EXPERIMENTAL METHODS

<u>Apparatus</u>

The raw milk was collected in ten-gallon stainless steel cans. Once the volume was reduced following the precipitation of whole casein, the operations were performed in pyrex containers. Milk was separated in a small (Model 9) DeLaval disc-type separator. A refrigerated cabinet in which an ice bank was formed served as a low temperature water bath for the protein preparative operations. The pH was measured during the preparative procedures with a Beckman Zeromatic pH meter equipped with a glass electrode. A variable-speed Welch stirrer fitted with a plastic rod and blade was used to stir the protein solutions. Low speed centrifugation was performed either in an International centrifuge with a capacity of 1500 ml or a Servall type SS-1 centrifuge with a 400 ml capacity. Earlier preparations were subsequently purified by ultracentrifugation in a Beckman Model L preparative ultracentrifuge equipped with a type 40 fixed-angle rotor. In later preparations, a Model L with a high speed drive and a type 50 fixed-angle rotor was employed. Free-boundary electrophoresis was performed in a Perkin-Elmer, Model 38A Tiselius electrophoresis apparatus using circulating, refrigerated water to maintain the bath temperature at $< 2^{\circ}$ C. Buffer resistances were measured with an Industrial Instruments, Model RC conductivity bridge. A Plexiglass horizontal cell equipped with a Reco power source was used for urea-starch gel electrophoresis. The analytical ultracentrifuge employed to characterize the preparations will be described in Part II of the thesis.

us gr ¥a th m fr rea cha UT of ce (: k-CCI Ve: te a: Va: E

1

Chemicals and Buffers

Analytical reagent grade urea was obtained from Mallinckrodt and used without further purification. Trichloroacetic acid (TCA), reagent grade, was purchased from Fisher Scientific Company. Crystalline rennin was obtained from the Paul Lewis Laboratories and General Biochemicals; the latter's product had a reported specific activity of 960 rennin units per milligram of rennin nitrogen. Sephadex G-75 was obtained from Pharmacia. Other organic or inorganic chemicals employed were of reagent grade quality.

The buffers used in the elctrophoretic and ultracentrifugal characterization of k-casein preparations are described in Appendix I.

Preparatory Procedure

The postulation that k-casein would be more soluble in concentrated urea-TCA solutions than other caseins was prompted by the observations of Hipp <u>et al.</u> (1952) that isoelectric casein was dissociated in concentrated urea solutions and of Wake (1959) and Nitschmann and Beeby (1960) that the primary scission product of the action of rennin on k-casein was soluble in 12% TCA. Thus, if the complex dissociation was complete, some fractionation could be expected. The following experiments were designed to test this postulate.

Wet isoelectric casein (<u>ca</u> 50% dry weight) was dissolved at room temperature in concentrated urea solutions, ranging from 3 to 8 <u>M</u>, and at protein concentrations of 2 to 4%. Crystalline TCA was added in varying concentrations from 6 to 20% to aliquots of the urea solutions. The protein obtained from the supernatant following low speed centrifugation (2000 RPM for 30 min) was assayed both electrophoretically at pH 8,6 and as a substrate for rennin. Thus, the most effective removal of non-k-casein fractions was achieved in 6.6 \underline{M} urea-12% TCA solutions. Higher concentrations of urea and TCA did not appear to achieve further fractionation of the proteins. Lower concentrations of TCA resulted in less complete removal of non-k-casein fractions and lower concentrations of urea produced lower yields of crude k-casein in the supernatant.

Pooled raw milk was obtained directly from the University herd and processed immediately. The skimmilk portion was diluted with an equal volume of distilled water and isoelectric casein obtained by adjusting the pH to 4.6 through the slow additions of $1 \ M$ HCl. The precipitated casein was redispersed in water in its original concentration and dissolved by the slow addition of $1 \ M$ NaOH, being careful not to exceed pH 8. Again, the dissolved casein was isoelectrically precipitated and washed with several liters of 1 : 1 (v/v) mixture of ethyl ether and ethanol. Finally, the washed casein was redissolved and reprecipitated to assure complete elimination of serum proteins. Calcium-insensitive casein fractions were prepared from the whole casein using four variations of the urea-TCA method. Careful stirring was observed in all of the preparations to avoid foaming and surface denaturation. The final product was lyophilized and stored at -20° C.

Isolation Procedure for Preparation No. 1

Isoelectric casein was dissolved in 6.6 <u>M</u> urea at a concentration of 2 - 4% and the temperature lowered to 1 - 3° C in the ice bath. Crystalline TCA was added slowly with stirring to a final concentration of 12% by weight. After standing for 30 min, the precipitated casein fraction was removed by centrifugation in the cold room (5 - 10° C at

1000 X G for 30 min). The pH of the supernatant was adjusted to 7 at 3° C through the slow addition of solid NaOH. The neutralized solution was dialyzed to remove the resulting neutralization salts. The solution was concentrated to 1 - 2% protein by pervaporation, cooled to 3° C and adjusted to pH 8. Then, 2 M CaCl₂ was added dropwise to give a final concentration of 0.25 M. After allowing the mixture to stand overnight, much of the calcium-sensitive precipitate had settled out. The remaining precipitate was removed by centrifugation in the cold room as previously described. Upon warming the supernatant to 30° C, more precipitate formed and was removed by centrifugation at 25,000 X G for 10 min in the Servall. Calcium chloride was removed from the clear supernatant by dialysis. The protein concentration of the dialyzed supernatant was again adjusted to 1 - 2% by pervaporation. At 3° C, the pH was adjusted to 11.3 momentarily to dissociate the complexes and then rapidly lowered to 4.4 with cold 0.2 \underline{N} HCl to precipitate the k-casein-rich fraction. The precipitate was collected by centrifugation (1000 X G for 10 min), dissolved with 0.1 \underline{N} NaOH (pH < 8), dialyzed, and lyophilized. A schematic of the preparatory procedure is presented in Figure 1.

Isolation Procedure for Preparation No. 2

The protein was prepared in the same manner as Preparation No. 1 except that the operations were performed at room temperature. Also, Step 6 of the isolation scheme in Figure 1, consisting of the pH adjustment and isoelectric precipitation, was omitted.

Isolation Procedure for Preparation No. 3 and 3 A

Approximately equal amounts of isoelectric casein and crystalline

urea were mixed and made to a final volume in which the urea concentration was 6.6 M. The pH (ie. about 5) was adjusted to 4.7 with 1 N HC1. When the casein was completely dissolved, the solution was diluted to a 3.3 <u>M</u> urea concentration by dropwise addition of distilled water. There was no visible precipitate at 4.63 M urea concentration as reported by Hipp et al. (1952). A similar observation was made by Nielsen (1957). After standing for 1 - 2 hours, a viscous, sticky precipitate (α -casein fraction) had settled out and most of the supernatant was decanted. The remaining mixture was centrifuged at 1000 X G for 20 - 30 min. The precipitate was redispolved in 6.6 M urea (pH 4.7) and the final volume of the solution determined. Sufficient water was added dropwise, as before, to give a 4.0 <u>M</u> urea concentration. The precipitate was collected by centrifugation (1000 X G for 20 min) and the step repeated. The final precipitate was redissolved in sufficient 6.6 M urea at 3° C to give a protein concentration of 2 - 4%. From this point, the procedure described for Preparation No. 1 was followed. The complete procedure is shown schematically in Figure 1.

Additional Purification as Applied to Preparations No. 3 and 3 A

Portions of the preparations made by the procedure for 3 and 3 A were further purified according to the following scheme. Crude k-casein solutions (2 - 3% protein) were made 0.1 M with respect to NaCl at pH 7 and centrifuged for 5 - 6 hours at 40,000 or 50,000 RPM and 0 - 4° C in a Spinco Model L. The bottom 1/3 to 1/4 of the liquid column (a bottom layer was clearly visible), including a small amount of pellet, represented purified k-casein. For most of the physical studies reported in Part II of this thesis, k-casein (Preparation No. 3 A) was further

ptr <u>M</u> N the ing fra fra 3,3 ing to : the in y zati :101 Patt ther 1:31 ε. Ε <u>ن</u> ۽ ڌ'

purified by elution from a Sephadex G-75 column equilibrated with 0.1 <u>M</u> NaCl. The column was monitored at 280 mµ. k-Casein was eluted in the eluate immediately following the void volume.

Isolation Procedure for Preparation No. 4

In earlier preparations, some difficulty was experienced in removing β -casein; therefore, the purification procedure for the α -casein fraction described by Hipp <u>et al.</u> (1952) was used. The crude α -casein fraction, initially obtained by diluting solutions in 6.6 <u>M</u> urea to 3.3 <u>M</u> urea concentration, was dissolved in 6.6 <u>M</u> urea solutions containing 10.6 g/l NaCl. The α -casein fraction was precipitated by dilution to 3.3 <u>M</u> urea concentration and the step repeated. In other respects, the preparatory procedure was the same as for Preparation No. 3 and 3 A.

However, the final product (from Step 6 of Figure 1) was obtained in yields of only 0.1 - 0.2% of the whole casein. Furthermore, characterization studies indicated that this fraction did not contain k-casein.

Analytical Methods

Electrophoretic mobilities were calculated from measurements made from the position of the initial boundary on the descending and ascending patterns, as follows:

$$\mu = \frac{\mathbf{d} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{K}}{\mathbf{tIRm}}$$

where μ is the electrophoretic mobility in cm² volt⁻¹ sec⁻¹, <u>d</u> the distance the boundary traveled in cm, <u>A</u> the cross-sectional area of the electrophoresis cell in cm², <u>K</u> the conductivity cell constant, <u>t</u> the time in seconds, <u>I</u> the current in amperes, <u>R</u> the resistance of the buffer in ohms, and <u>m</u> the magnification of the optical system. The buffer resistance was determined by placing the conductivity cell containing the buffer in the electrophoresis water bath just prior to or following the experiment. Relative amounts of the various components were determined from the relative refractive areas measured, with the aid of a planimeter, from tracings of the patterns enlarged five times. Boundaries were divided by drawing a vertical line from the minimum gradient between the peaks to the base line. The isoelectric point of k-casein was estimated from a plot of mobility (μ) against the pH.

An estimate of the isoelectric point was also made by the minimum solubility method. A series of acetate buffers were prepared ranging in pH from 3.6 to 4.5. Five milliliters of a 2% k-casein solution were added to 5 ml of buffer, possessing a concentration of salts such that the final solution had the composition: 0.02 M sodium acetate and 0.08 M NaCl. The pH of the buffer was determined before and after addition of the protein. The solution was equilibrated at 5° C with intermittant mixing for 48 hours. The amount of protein remaining in the supernatant following centrifugation at 3000 X G for 10 min at 5° C was determined a) spectrophotometrically at 280 mu following the addition of base to give a clear solution and b) by the conventional macro-Kjeldahl procedure.

The ability of k-casein to stabilize α_s -casein in the presence of calcium ion was evaluated by the method of Zittle (1960). The final test solution consisted of 10 ml of 0.02 <u>M</u> CaCl₂, 10 mg/ml of α_s -casein, and varying amounts of k-casein. The solution was prepared as follows: 5 ml of 2% α_s -casein was mixed with varying amounts of a 1% solution of k-casein; then 2 ml of 0.1 <u>M</u> CaCl₂ was added and the solution was made

to 10 ml. After holding for 30 min at 30° C, the mixture was centrifuged at 3000 X G for 5 min. The 280 mµ absorption of 1 ml of supernatant diluted to 25 ml with 1 ml of 0.1 <u>N</u> NaOH and redistilled water was determined. The concentration of protein remaining in the supernatant was obtained from a standard curve prepared by measuring known concentrations of $\alpha_{\rm s}$ -casein. Since all of the k-casein was in the supernatant, the amount of $\alpha_{\rm s}$ -casein present in the stabilized complex was obtained by subtracting the per cent k-casein in the test solution from the total protein.

Zonal electrophoretic analyses were performed in urea-starch gels according to the method described in detail by Wake and Baldwin (1961). A discontinuous buffer system was used and consisted of Tris-citrate buffer incorporated into the gel and borate buffer in the buffer compartments. The gel was made to 7 <u>M</u> with respect to urea. Electrophoresis was carried out in a cold room ($\sim 5^{\circ}$ C). The resolved proteins were stained with Amido Black.

Ultracentrifugal characterization and determination of purity were performed at temperatures ranging from 3 to 25° C in pH 7 phosphate buffer ($\prod/2 = 0.1$ or 0.2) using a rotor speed of 59,780 RPM. Both a regular analytical and a synthetic boundary cell were used. The position of the maximum ordinate was used to calculate the sedimentation coefficient (see Appendix II).





Figure 1. Procedure followed for obtaining k-casein from a concentrated urea-TCA solution of isoelectric casein or crude α -casein fraction.

RESULTS

Preparation and Yields

The complete scheme for the preparation of k-casein is shown schematically in Figure 1. α -Casein fraction was obtained in yields of nearly 50% of the starting whole casein. As shown in Figure 2 (A and B), α -casein No. 3 contained some β -casein, but α -casein No. 3 A appeared electrophoretically homogeneous. Precipitation in 6.6 M urea with 12% TCA removed from solution approximately 40% of the initially dissolved α -casein fraction or whole casein. With whole casein, large amounts of α_s -, β -, and possibly γ -casein were precipitated (Figure 2 E). The precipitate obtained from Hipp's α -casein fraction was essentially $\alpha_{\rm s}$ -casein. The electrophoretic and sedimentation-velocity patterns in Figure 2 (C and D) indicate that some β -casein was present. Subsequent preparations obtained from β -casein free α -casein fraction were homogeneous as measured by free-boundary electrophoresis. Further, this precipitated protein was established as $\alpha_{\rm s}{\rm -casein}$ by its sedimentation coefficient (S₂₀ = 4.9 S in phosphate buffer, pH 7, 0.1 $\Gamma/2$), electrophoretic mobility (μ = -7.2 Tiselius units in veronal buffer, pH 8.6, 0.1 Γ /2), instability to calcium ion $(0.02 \text{ M} \text{ CaCl}_2 \text{ caused a nearly complete precipi$ tation), and the fact that it formed micelles and was stabilized with k-casein in the presence of calcium ion.

Approximately 70% of the material which was soluble in urea-TCA was removed by addition of calcium ion. The properties of this fraction were identical to those of the urea-TCA insoluble material. Thus α_s casein appeared to be divided between the urea-TCA precipitate and the calcium ion precipitate, with slightly more precipitating in the urea-

TCA. Due to the selective precipitation of α_s -casein in urea-TCA, the urea-TCA soluble portion was greatly enriched with respect to k-casein. However, as shown by the electrophoretic patterns in Figure 2 (G and H), a complex of α_s - and k-casein still existed.

Electrophoretic, ultracentrifugal, and yield characteristics of k-casein preparations No. 1, 2, and 3 are recorded in Table 1 and Figure 3. These data illustrate the differences in composition and properties between the preparations obtained directly from whole casein (No. 1 and 2) and that fractionated from crude α -casein fraction (No. 3). Electrophoretic resolution in neutral or alkaline buffers indicated that preparation No. 3 contained the least amount of discernible B-casein. At pH 2.3, the preparations appeared polydispersed, probably due to proteinprotein interactions. Sedimentation under similar conditions revealed the same polydispersity. The room temperature preparation from whole casein was obtained in the highest yield. However, it contained only 60% of a fast sedimenting component at pH 7, whose S_{20} was higher than that previously reported for k-casein (20.6 S as opposed to 13.5 S). Preparation No. 1 (prepared at 3 - 5° C) closely resembled Fraction S. reported by Waugh and von Hippel (1956). About 90% of the refractive area in electrophoretic patterns and 77% of the area in sedimentationvelocity patterns corresponded to k-casein, indicating the presence of β - and possibly λ -caseins.

When α -casein fraction was employed as the starting material, crude k-casein (90 - 92% purity) was obtained from Step 6 of the fractionation scheme shown in Figure 1. Yield approximating 30 - 50% of the theoretical yield, assuming k-casein to be 15% of the whole casein, were obtained. Sedimentation-velocity patterns of this fraction in phosphate buffer

(pH 7) are shown in Figure 4, Row A, and the calculated sedimentation coefficients are given in Table 2. Sedimentation patterns of Preparations No. 3 and 3 A which were purified by preparative ultracentrifugation are represented in Row B. The sedimentation coefficient of the sedimented pellet was slightly higher than that of other k-casein preparations even though the purity was not greater. Ultracentrifugal patterns of Preparation No. 3 A, purified by both ultracentrifugation and elution from G-75 Sephadex, are shown in Row C. For comparison, patterns of a preparation by the method of Waugh and von Hippel (1956), purified by ultracentrifugation and elution from G-75 Sephadex, together with a preparation by the method of McKenzie and Wake $(1961)^1$ are also shown. The first two patterns demonstrate the superiority of the synthetic boundary cell over the conventional analytical cell as a means of detecting small quantities of λ -casein in the k-casein preparations. The third and fourth patterns in Row C represent purified Fraction S and the McKenzie-Wake preparation, respectively. The data from these experiments, listed in Table 2, indicated that the k-caseins obtained by the three different methods were essentially the same. Urea-starch gel electrophoresis of purified No. 3 A and the McKenzie-Wake preparation also showed similar results (Figure 5, Column 4). As shown in Figure 6, the free-boundary electrophoretic patterns of purified No. 3, No. 3 A and purified No. 3 A were indicative of homogeneity in neutral phosphate buffer.

¹ This preparation was provided by Dr. M. P. Thompson of Eastern Regional Research Laboratory (USDA).

Free-Boundary Electrophoretic Characteristics

Electrophoretic analyses of Preparation No. 3 were performed over a pH range of 2.3 to 8.6. The results are recorded in Table 3 and selected typical patterns are shown in Figure 7. A split peak similar to that previously described for k-casein at pH 2.3 was observed at pH 5.5 and 6.0 but to a lesser extent and restricted to the ascending patterns. Also, the area of the peak ascribed to β -casein was smaller at pH 5.5 and 6.0 (4 and 5% respectively) than that at pH 6.5 (7.5%). The area under the slowly migrating peak decreased as the pH was increased from 6.5 to 8.6 (with the exception of pH 8.3).

The descending mobilities $(\underline{\mu})$ for the principle component recorded in Table 3 were plotted as a function of buffer pH, Figure 8. The solid line connects the experimental values and intercepts the point of zero mobility at <u>ca</u> pH 3.8. The broken line passes through the three points nearest to the isoelectric point and intercepts the axis at pH 4.1.

pH of Minimum Solubility at 0.1 Ionic Strength

The isoelectric point of Preparation No. 3 was determined from the pH of minimum solubility. Absorption at 280 mµ and nitrogen in mg/ml for the k-casein which remained in the supernatant are shown as a function of pH in Figure 9. These data indicated that at 4-5°C a minimum amount of the protein remained soluble between pH 3.8 and 4.1.

Stabilization of α_s -Casein

The ability of Preparation No. 3 to stabilize $\alpha_{\rm g}$ -casein in the presence of calcium ion at 30° C is shown in Figure 10. At a k-/ $\alpha_{\rm g}$ -casein

ratio of 1 : 10, approximately 90% of the $\alpha_{\rm s}$ -casein was stabilized.

Complex Formation with $\alpha_{\rm S}\operatorname{-Casein}$

Electrophoretic and sedimentation characteristics of α -casein fraction prepared by the method of Hipp <u>et al.</u> (1952) were compared with those for two k-/ α_s -casein complexes formed by two different treatments of a 1 : 4 (w/w) mixture of k- and α_s -casein. In the first method, the mixture containing 1% protein was adjusted to pH 12 for 30 min at room temperature, followed by neutralization and dialysis against pH 7.5 phosphate buffer prior to analysis. The second procedure consisted of dissolving the mixture in 6.6 <u>M</u> urea solution, adjusting the pH to 4.8, and then diluting the solution to 3 <u>M</u> with respect to urea. The precipitate obtained was dialyzed against water to remove the urea and then against the phosphate buffer (pH 7.5).

The patterns in Figure 11 show that qualitatively the complexes were similar to the α -casein fraction. α -Casein fraction and the complex formed by pH adjustment had the same electrophoretic mobility (-7.6 to -7.7 Tiselius units), whereas that formed in urea was greater (-9.0 Tiselius units). The sedimentation coefficients were 4.3 S, 6.2 S, and 4.7 S, respectively, for the α -casein fraction, the complex formed by pH adjustment, and the complex formed in urea.

Characteristics of the λ -Gasein Fraction (Preparation No. 4)

When the α -casein fraction was purified by precipitation from urea solutions containing NaCl as described in the procedure for obtaining Preparation No. 4, only small quantities of final product were obtained (Step 6 of Figure 1). Further, the protein was not characteristic of

k-casein when subjected to urea-starch gel electrophoretic analysis (Figure 5). The fraction was not sensitive to calcium ion, contained 1.2% phosphorus and was not a primary substrate for rennin as demonstrated by qualitative observations and ultracentrifugal and electrophoretic properties. Also, the fraction was incapable of stabilizing α_s -casein to calcium ion. The amino acid composition is compared to that for kcasein in Appendix III.

Although the fraction was heterogeneous as shown by urea-starch gel electrophoresis, free boundary electrophoresis and sedimentationvelocity in pH 7 phosphate buffer revealed only one symmetrical boundary. The mobility measured from the descending pattern was -6.86 Tiselius units and the sedimentation coefficient for a 6 mg/ml solution was 1.68 S. Moreover, molecular weights in phosphate buffer (pH 7, 0.1

 $\Gamma/2$) obtained by the Archibald method (Schachman 1957) did not indicate weight heterogeneity (M_w≈40,000). However, short column equilibrium analysis (see Appendix II) in 5 <u>M</u> guanidine • HCl was indicative of heterogeneity, giving M_w = 20,000 and M_z = 90,000.

Action of Rennin on k-Casein Preparations

Studies of the primary rennin action were made on three preparations, two of which were purified and one of which was similar to Waugh's Fraction S (ca 70% k-casedin). When a purified sample of kcasein (Preparation No. 3 A) was reacted with rennin (1 - 3 μ g/ml) in redistilled water, the solution first appeared cloudy (1 - 5 min), then a precipitate formed which settled out upon standing. Under the same experimental conditions, the crude k-casein did not become cloudy. The addition of NaCl to 0.1 <u>M</u> caused the solution to become opalescent. Still a precipitate did not form. A peptide was released as shown by

the i durin Wake tion puri (<u>ca</u> in o othe in t tenp tion Phil ¥ate 814 Pept Veiį This <u>Dit</u>: (317 Pept brit 25.(**0**3/1

the increase in non-protein nitrogen (NPN = 12% TCA soluble N) observed during the reaction, ie. 4.3%. The increase in NPN (6.7%) reported by Wake (1959) for pure k-casein gave a calculated purity for this preparation of 65%, which was in agreement with the ultracentrifugal data.

The soluble peptides and para-k-casein were obtained from both purified Preparations No. 3 and No. 3 A by centrifuging the neutral (<u>ca</u> pH 7) mixture in a Spinco Model L at 40,000 RPM for 3 hours at 4° C in one instance and at 50,000 RPM for 2 hours at room temperature in the other. The rennin action was stopped by heating to 80° C for 10 sec. in the case of Preparation No. 3 and by adjusting the pH to 9.5 with ammonium hydroxide and allowing the mixture to stand for 2 hours at room temperature in the case of Preparation No. 3 A. Following centrifugation the supernatant and pellet were quantitatively recovered and lyophilized without dialysis (both reactions were performed in redistilled water) to avoid the loss of possible small peptides.

Preparation No. 3 (1.46 g) yielded 333 mg of soluble peptides and 814 mg of para-k-casein. Starting with 50 mg of 3 A, 15 mg of soluble peptides and 34 mg of para-k-casein were obtained. Thus about 30%, by weight, of the k-casein appeared, as soluble peptides in both cases. This value gave approximately 23% of the total nitrogen as soluble nitrogen assuming 15.3% N for k-casein and 11.7% N for the peptides (Brunner and Thompson, 1959).

The weight average and Z-average molecular weights of the soluble peptides from purified 3 A were determined by the short-column equilibrium method (see Appendix II) in veronal buffer (pH 8.6, 0.1 $\Gamma/2$) at 25.0° C using a rotor speed of 29,500 RPM. For a concentration of 4.8 mg/ml, M_w was calculated to be 5900 and M_z, 6000, using 0.68 for the

partial specific volume (Brunner and Thompson, 1959). The method of Sophianopoulos <u>et al.</u> (1962) (see Appendix II) was used to determine the diffusion coefficient. A value of 10.0 Ficks was obtained.

Preliminary observations showed that rennin was capable of coagulating skimmilk in the presence of diisopropylflourophosphate. However, in the presence of 1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), k-casein was not effected by rennin as shown by NPN liberation experiments.

	- uo		Yield ^d (%)		6 • 8	15	8
	Sedimentati velocity ^c values fc leading	boundary	boundary Concen- tration (A%)		77	58	92
			^S 20		12.7	20.6	12,9
	σ		NaC1 2.4	Peak 2	+1.4 17	+1.2 15	+1.2 24
su	c peaks		HC1: PH	Peak 1	+3.4 83	+2.0 85	+2.1 76
ceparatio	cophoreti		ate • 0	Peak 2	- 3.7 4	- 2.6 11	- 3. 2 5
áseín pi	e electi	Buffer	Phosp [†] 7 Hq	Peak 1	- 6.6	- 6. 2 89	- 7.5 97
of k-c	ies of th		nal •6	Peak 2	4. 6 10	●3,6 10	- 3.4 1
	Propert		Ve r o PH 8	Peak l	μ ^e = -7.4 A%f = 90	μ = -6.2 A% = 90	н = - 6.7 А% = 99
			Identification of k-casein preparation		Preparation No. 1 TCA added to solu- tion of urea and isoelectric casein at 2-4 C	Preparation No. 2 TCA added to solu- tion of urea and isoelectric casein at 21-24 C	Preparation No. 3 TCA added to solu- tion of urea and crude &-casein at 2-4C

TABLE 1

Comparison of the electrophoretic, ultracentrifugal, and yield characteristics

TABLE 1 - Continued

ກ ສໍ

92

12.9

+ 1- 2 2 - 7 - 2

+2,1

5. S

5./.5

-3-4

• ``

- a Fast component was presumed to be the k-casein fraction.
 - b Concentration of protein was 1.0%.
- ^c Protein was carried in phosphate buffer at pH 7.0, $\Gamma/2 = 0.1$, at 3 C.
 - d Expressed as the percentage of total isoelectric casein.
 - e Mobilities were measured from descending pattern.
- f Relative areas were measured from descending pattern.

TABLE 2

Quantitative characteristics of the sedimentation-velocity patterns of the k-caseins shown in Figure 4a

Preparation	Concentration (mg/ml)	Γ/2	s ₂₀ x 10 ¹³	% of total refractive area
No. 3	6	0.1	12.9	92
No. 3A	6	0.1		90
Prepared by E. M. McCabe	10	0.2	13.2	90
No. 3 purified by ultracentrifugation	6	0.1	14.5	• 96
No. 3A, bottom layer obtained from ultracentrifugation	6	0.2	13.1	95
No. 3A, pellet obtained from ultracentrifugati	on 5	0.2	16.6	93
No. 3A, purified by ult centrifugation and elu from G=75 Sephadex	ra- tion 8.2	0.2	13.4	97
k-Casein prepared by th McKenzie-Wake method	e 10	0.1	13.4	97
Fraction S purified by ultracentrifugation an elution from G-75	d	0.2	15.0	
Sephadex	6	0.2	12.0	49 - 69

^a Experiments were performed in pH 7.0 phosphate buffer.

B ([]/ EC1;) Acet; Acet;

Phosp

Aceta

Aceta

Aceta

^{Aceta}

Phosp

Pnosp

Phospi

Paosp!

Verona

TABLE 3

	-	Protein concen- tration (%)	Electrophoretic characteristics				
Buffer	рН		Mobility µX10 ⁵ 		Refractive area ^a (%)		
System $(\Gamma/2 = 0.1)$			Descend- ing	Ascend- ing	Fast peak	Slow peak	
HC1:NaC1	2.3 ^b	2.0	+2.4 ^c	+3.2 ^c	100°	0	
			+0.8 ^d	+2.2 ^d			
Ac etate	4.5 ^b	0.6	-3.0	-3.1	•••	•••	
Acetate	4.6	0.6	- 4.4	- 4•4	92.7	7.3	
Acetate	4.7	0.6	-4.6	-4.7	•••	•••	
Acetate	5.1	0.6	-6.3	-6 .5	•••	•••	
Acetate	5.3	0.6	-6.2	- 6.6	•••	•••	
Acetate	5.5 ^b	0.6	-6.4	-6.4 ^d	96.2	3.8	
Phosphate	6.0 ^b	0.6	-6 .8	-5.9 ^e -7.6 ^d -7.4	95 . 1	4.9	
Phosphate	6.5	0.6	-7.2	-7.4	9 2. 5	7.5	
Phosphate	6.7	0.6	-7.7	-8.1	93 . 7	6.3	
Phosphate	7.0 ^b	0.6	-8,2	-8.5	94.7	5.3	
Phosphate	7.1	0.6	- 7.6	-8.1	97.7	2.3	
Phosphate	7.5	0.6	-8.6	-8,9	• • •	•••	
Veronal:HC1	8.3	0.6	-7 .5	-7.6	95.0	5.0	
Veronal	8.6 ^b	1.0	-6.7	-6.8	99.0	1.0	

Electrophoretic properties of k-casein (Preparation No. 3) in buffers from pH 2.3 to 8.6

^aMeasured from the descending patterns.

bElectrophoretic patterns for these analyses are shown in Figure 7. Higher concentrations of protein are required at pH 2.3 to give comparable refractive areas.

Mobility of the leading portion of the divided peak.

Mobility of the trailing portion of the divided peak.

eCombined area of divided peak.

Figure 2. Electrophoretic and sedimentation patterns of the material obtained from various steps of the isolation procedure. Only the ascending electrophoretic boundaries are shown. The studies were performed in veronal buffer (pH 8.6, 0.1 $\lceil /2 \rangle$) except for D and G which were in phosphate (pH 7, 0.1 $\lceil /2 \rangle$). A- α -casein fraction, Preparation No. 3. B- α - casein fraction, Preparation No. 3 A. C-TCA precipitate, Preparation No. 3. D-TCA precipitate, Preparation No. 3. D-TCA precipitate, Preparation No. 1. F- Calcium ion precipitate, Preparation No. 1. F- Calcium ion precipitate, Preparation No. 3. G-TCA soluble fraction, Preparation No. 1. H-TCA soluble fraction, Preparation No. 3.




Figure 3. Electrophoretic and sedimentation-velocity patterns of the k-casein preparations reported in Table 1. Ultracentrifugation was conducted in phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) at 3° C.

Figure 4. Sedimentation-velocity patterns of different k-casein preparations in pH 7.0 phosphate buffer. The rotor speed was 59,780 RFM. The first patterns in rows A and B and the middle two patterns in row C were obtained from a regular analytical cell. The other patterns were obtained from experiments using the synthetic boundary cell. Row A (left to right) - Preparation No. 3, 0.1 //2 buffer, 2° C, 36 min.; Preparation No. 3 A, 0.1 //2 buffer, 5.1° C, 28 min.; Prepared by E. M. McCabe according to the procedure given in Figure 1, 0.2 //2 buffer, 25° C, 16 min. Row B (left to right) - Ultracentrifugally purified preparation No. 3, 0.1 //2 buffer, 3° C, 36 min.; Preparation No. 3A, bottom layer from preparative ultracentrifugation, 0.2 //2 buffer, 20° C, 16 min.; Preparation No. 3 A, pellet from preparative ultracentrifugation, 0.2 //2 buffer, 20° C, 16 min. Row C (left to right) - Preparation No. 3 A, purified by ultracentrifugation and elution from Sephadex G-75, 0.2 //2 buffer, 25° C, 20 min.; same as previous protein, 0.2 //2 buffer, 25° C, 16 min.; Fraction S purified as above, 0.2 //2 buffer, 25° C, 16 min.; k-casein prepared by the McKenzie-Wake method, 0.1 //2 buffer, 24° C, 16 min.

С

1),



Figure 4



Figure 5. Urea-starch gel electrophoretic patterns of Qg-, k-, and N-caseins. Column 1: A) A-casein fraction, B) k-casein, Preparation No. 3. Column 2: A) whole casein, B) N-casein fraction, Wake method, D) k-casein, purified Preparation No. 3A. Note: The pattern in Column 3 and the McKenzie-Wake k-casein were a gift from Dr. M. P. Thompson of Eastern Regional Research Laboratory Preparation No. 3, B) k-casein, purified Preparation No. 3A, C) k-casein prepared by the McKenzie-Column 4: A) TCA-precipitate, Column 3: A) calcium-sensitive casein, B) A-casein fraction. (NSDA).



3500 sec.; 9.04 v. cm.⁻²

Figure 6. Free-boundary electrophoretic patterns of purified k-caseins in pH 7.0 phosphate buffer, f/2 = 0.1. Row A - Preparation No. 3, purified by ultracentrifugation. Row B - Preparation No. 3A. Row C - Preparation No. 3A, purified by ultracentrifugation and elution from Sephadex G-75.





Electrophoretic Mobility

1

Figure 8.



Figure 8. A plot of the descending electrophoretic mobilities of k-casein Preparation No. 3 at various pH values (see Table 3).

Nitrogen (mg/ml) 0 G

. •

.

^Ngure 9. ^{Casein} rema

0.0

1.0



Figure 9. A plot of the nitrogen and 280 mµ absorption for the kcasein remaining in solution at pH values near the isoelectric point.



100

^{Figure} 10 Preparati



Figure 10. The stabilization of $\alpha_{\rm S}$ -casein by various amounts of k-casein Preparation No. 3.

-

Figur of A) B) p Solut Phosp



Figure 11. Electrophoretic patterns and sedimentation-velocity diagrams of A) Hipp <u>et al.</u> (1952) α -casein and k-/ $\alpha_{\rm s}$ -casein complexes induced by B) precipitation from 3.0 <u>M</u> urea and by C) momentarily adjusting a solution of the mixture to pH 12. Ultracentrifugation was conducted in phosphate buffer (pH 7.5) at 20° C.

DISCUSSION

General

The original goal was to obtain k-casein in good yields without requiring the use of a preparative ultracentrifuge. Large quantities of $\alpha_{\rm g}$ - and β -casein could be removed from whole casein by adjusting solutions in 6.6 <u>M</u> urea to 12% TCA (w/w) at 3° C. The contaminating β casein was difficult to remove, therefore, α -casein fraction prepared by a modification of the method of Hipp <u>et al.</u> (1952) was used as the starting material. The α -casein which remained with the k-casein following s urea-TCA fractionation was easily removed by low speed centrifugation in the presence of 0.25 <u>M</u> CaCl₂. Cyanate ion was <u>not</u> operative in these concentrated urea solutions since isoelectric casein was used and the pH was lowered to < 4.7 when TCA was added. Marier and Rose (preprint), using a spectrophotometric method of improved sensitivity to detect cyanate ion, have shown that cyanate is not present in acidic urea solutions, ie., lower than pH 5.5.

k-Casein was obtained in quantities of 30 - 50% of the theoretical amount with a purity of 90 - 92%. Although the fraction did not have the desired purity for physical studies, it was relatively good compared to those preparations thus far reported. β -Casein (10%) was present in the k-casein prepared by Cheeseman (1962) and probably the λ -casein fraction was also a contaminate, although ultracentrifugal studies were not performed to detect this component (this writer has experienced greater difficiently in removing the λ -casein fraction than the β -casein). The method of Fox (1958) as modified by Morr (1959) gave a preparation which was apparently hemogeneous by free-boundary electrophoresis and sedimentation-

velocity, however, a synthetic boundary cell was not used for the sedimentation analyses. This method involved repeated exposures to high pH, several times in the presence of 6.6 M urea. Waugh (1958) reported a purification step for Fraction S which increased the purity to 90%. k-Casein prepared by the method of Long (1958) (also see Morr, 1959), from a mixture similar to Fraction S was shown to contain the slow-sedimenting λ -casein fraction in amounts of possibly more than 10%. Since the preparative ultracentrifuge was used initially for the constant pH methods, the volume of skimmilk was limited to one liter and thus the amount of k-casein obtained was also reduced. The method of McKenzie and Wake (1961) obtained good yields of apparently homogeneous k-casein, however, in some respects preparations by this method appeared to be "denatured" (Neelin, Rose and Tessier, 1962). Recently, Hill (1963) has published a method of preparing k-casein, but unfortunately the purity was not determined.

The ability to obtain relatively pure k-casein in large amounts was an asset when a preparative ultracentrifuge became available. Subsequent purification by ultracentrifugation and elution from G-75 Sephadex yielded a preparation which was 97% pure by analytical ultracentrifugation using a synthetic boundary cell. Similar purity was indicated by urea-starch gel electrophoresis which showed only small quantities of several leading bands. With respect to these two criteria of purity, this preparation appeared identical to that prepared by the McKenzie-Wake method.

Electrophoretic and Ultracentrifugal Characterization

The homogeneity of k-casein preparations was best determined by

sedimentation-velocity studies in phosphate buffer (pH 7, 0.1 $\lceil /2 \rangle$ at 4° C in a synthetic boundary cell. Free-boundary electrophoresis could detect β -casein, however, the λ -casein fraction moved with the k-casein (Long, 1958). At 4° C, both the β - and λ -casein appeared in the slowsedimenting boundary since β -casein has an S₂₀ of 1.36 S under these conditions (Sullivan, Fitzpatrick, Stanton, Annino, Kissel, and Palermiti, 1955). The observed sedimentation coefficients for k-casein were in accord with those reported by others (McKenzie and Wake, 1961; Waugh and von Hippel, 1956; Long, 1958; Morr, 1959).

Under certain conditions crude k-casein was observed to interact with β -casein. Free-boundary electrophoresis revealed a decrease in the relative area of the β -casein peak from 7.5% at pH 6.5 to 3.8% at pH 5.5. The relative area also decreased to 1% upon increasing the pH to 8.6. Furthermore, the mobility of k-casein reached a maximum at pH 7 to 7.5 and then decreased due to the incorporation of β -casein into the complex. Morr (1959) also observed a decrease in mobility at pH 8.4 as compared to 7. The work of McKenzie and Wake (1959a) on Fraction S showed 80% of the area attributable to k-casein by freeboundary electrophoresis, but only 50% of the area by ultracentrifugation. Also, the mobility at pH 7 (phosphate, 0.1 Γ /2) was -4.88 Tiselius units which is much lower than the value reported herein, again indicating interaction with β -casein. These researchers also studied the " α -casein split" using both whole acid casein and firstcycle casein. They found the split to occur more readily in acid casein and only when k-casein was present did it occur in other fractions, which led them to suggest that the split was due to the incorporation of kcasein into "difficultly reversible aggregates" with $\alpha_{\rm s}$ -casein theor acid

precipitation. Their results are similar to the data reported here for the interaction of k- and β -casein in that the relative area of the β -. casein peak decreased on lowering the pH from 7.8 to 6.3 -- the decrease being most marked at 6.3 -- and on raising the pH from 7.8 to 8.2 (however, the area was nearly as large at pH 8.8 as at 7.8). Also, the electrophoretic split in the pattern for crude k-casein at pH 5.5 and 6.0 reported here appeared similar to the data reported by McKenzie and Wake for whole casein.

Although these data are not in complete agreement, one must remember that k-casein occurs in whole casein as a complex with α_s -casein and therefore its properties will be influenced by the α_s -casein. On this basis, the " α -split" in whole casein may be due to an interaction of the k-, α_s -complex with β -casein. This view is supported by the fact that β -casein is known to be present in the boundary ascribed to the α -casein complex (Sullivan <u>et al.</u> 1955).

In alkaline buffers where k-casein is believed to be complexed with β -casein, the peak was not split, an observation attributed to the formation of the stable complexes. In acid buffers the casein complexes appeared to behave as association-dissociation systems resulting in the observed boundary split.

The isoelectric point of k-casein at 0.1 ionic strength lies between pH 3.8 and 4.1 as determined by electrophoretic mobility and minimum solubility studies. This value agrees with that reported by Hipp <u>et al.</u> (1961) for α_3 -casein.

Stabilization and Interaction with α_{c} -Casein

The k-casein preparations were excellent stabilizers of α_s -casein.

At a k-/ α -casein.ratio of 1 : 10 about 90% of the α_s -casein was stabilized, a value similar to that reported by Zittle (1961).

Complex formation was induced in a mixture of 1 : 4 (w/w) k-/ $\alpha_{\rm s}$ casein by dilution in concentrated urea solutions and by short exposure to pH 12. In both cases, electrophoretic and ultracentrifugal analysis obtained results similar to that for an α -case in fraction prepared by the method of Hipp et al. (1952). The electrophoretic mobility of the complex obtained from urea solutions was greater than that for the α casein fraction or the other complex, however, in view of the preceding discussion of β -casein interaction, this increase could be explained on the basis of removal of β -casein from the complex. In fact, the electrophoretic pattern for the urea-formed complex showed less β -casein than that for the complex induced by pH adjustment. The sedimentation coefficient of the latter complex was larger than that for the α -casein fraction or the urea-formed complex, indicating either a different shape or a larger complex. One cannot conclude from these data that the complex which existed in the native micelle was formed, but only that a specific interaction occurred between k- and $\alpha_{\rm s}$ -casein. Moreover, since these proteins were not completely pure, the role of β - and λ caseins could not be determined.

Characteristics of the Preparation as a Primary Substrate for Rennin

Treatment of purified Preparations No. 3 and 3 A with rennin resulted in the formation of a precipitate in either redistilled water or buffered solution at pH 7. However, when a crude preparation containing large quantities (<u>ca</u> 30%) of λ -casein fraction was treated with rennin in redistilled water, a precipitate did not form. Addition of NaCl to 0.1

<u>M</u> concentration caused the solution to become opalescent, but still no precipitation occurred. Possibly an interaction had occurred between kcasein and the λ -casein fraction resulting in greater stability of the para-k-casein. Long (1958) also observed an interaction between k- and λ -casein. After repeated preparative centrifugation of crude k-casein in 0.2 <u>M</u> NaCl, analytical ultracentrifugation showed only a small amount of λ -casein. However, a similar analysis conducted 48 hours later revealed a considerable amount of λ -casein. Crude k-caseins, containing the λ -casein fraction, served as good stabilizers of α_s -casein, but studies were not performed to compare these with purer preparations. Nevertheless, the possibility exists that an interaction of the λ -casein fraction with k-casein may increase the latter's ability to stabilize α_s -casein.

A molecular weight of 8400 was calculated for the peptides using the sub-unit molecular weight of k-casein (see Part II of this thesis) and the fact that 30% of the original k-casein remained after removal of para-k-casein. This value was similar to the value obtained by shortcolumn equilibrium -- <u>ca</u> 6000 -- and the range of values -- 6000 to 8000 -reported by Nitschmann <u>et al.</u> (1957). Sedimentation-equilibrium experiments performed in this laboratory have indicated a molecular weight of <u>ca</u> 9000 for the glyco-macropeptide (McCabe, unpublished data).

Other Proteins Obtained During the Preparation of k-Casein or as a Result of a Slight Alteration in the Preparative Procedure

By using α -casein fraction, free of electrophoretically discernible β -casein, as the starting material, α_s -casein was obtained as a precipitate from 6.6 <u>M</u> urea -- 12% TCA solutions. The preparation was homogeneous when examined by free-boundary electrophoresis and sedimentationvelocity ultracentrifugation. However, a band which appeared to move slightly ahead of β -casein was observed in urea-starch gel electrophoretic patterns (Figure 5). Nevertheless, α_s -caseins prepared by other procedures have shown greater heterogeneity, e.g., Neelin <u>et al</u>. (1962), when examined by this method. The value obtained for the sedimentation coefficient was in accord with those reported by Waugh and von Hippel (1956), Long (1958), and McKenzie and Wake (1959b); namely, 4.5 S, 4.6 S and 4.4 S, respectively. Also the electrophoretic mobility agreed with that given by McKenzie and Wake (1959a); μ =-7.17 Tiselius units in veronal buffer, pH 8.2.

Incorporation of 10.6 g/l NaCl into the 6.6 \underline{M} urea used to purify the **Co-casein** fraction resulted in the complete absence of k-casein in the

material obtained in Step 6 of the preparation scheme (Figure 1). On the basis of the stability to calcium ion, sedimentation coefficient, non-reactivity with rennin, and inability to stabilize α_s -casein, the material was considered similar to the λ -casein fraction reported by Long (1958). There seems to be some inconsistancy in the product obtained (Neelin et al., 1962). Three of the four preparations made in this laboratory were essentially identical. The fraction appears homogeneous in neutral phosphate buffer, but ultracentrifugal studies in 5 M guanidine • HCl clearly indicated molecular heterogeneity. Ureastarch gel electrophoresis also revealed numerous bands (Figure 5), all of which moved ahead of the β -casein position. Particularly characteristic of the λ -casein fraction was the band which moved with the front. Whether or not the band in the $\alpha_{\rm s}$ -casein region was $\alpha_{\rm s}$ casein remains to be determined. Since the fraction is homogeneous in non-dissociating solvents, a complex must exist between the constituent proteins under the conditions employed.

SUMMARY OF PART I

A method was developed for preparing k-casein of about 90% purity in yields approximating 30 - 50% of the amount theoretically present. The preparation was characterized by free-boundary electrophoresis, urea-starch gel electrophoresis, sedimentation-velocity ultracentrifugation, ability to stabilize α_s -casein, and its reaction with rennin. The results of these characterizations confirmed that the protein possessed properties typical of k-casein as reported previously. Although the preparation was not as homogeneous as desired for physical studies, the method provided large quantities of the crude k-casein which could be readily purified, yielding a final product of 97% purity.

The preparation scheme also afforded means of obtaining the $\alpha_{\rm s}$ - and $\lambda\text{-casein fractions.}$

PART II

- 7

.

PROPERTIES OF KAPPA-CASEIN

The k-casein isolated from bovine milk forms relatively uniform aggregates in inorganic salt solutions below pH 11. To assess the properties of this protein more completely, the associated protein molecules must be dissociated prior to characterization. Unfortunately, the dissociation can be accomplished only by using strong dissociating solvents such as concentrated acetic acid, guanidine, urea or sodium dodecyl sulfate. These agents make the determination of thermodynamic or hydrodynamic properties less accurate due to preferential interactions and the non-ideal behavior of protein in their presence.

However, studies in recent years have shown that these errors probably were not greatly significant. To cite a few of the many examples; a) Harrup and Woods (1961) found that molecular weights of bovine serum albumin, egg albumin, β -lactoglobulin, lysozyme and insulin in anhydrous formic acid were in agreement with those determined in other solvents; b) Kielley and Harrington (1960) found that the mole**cular** weight of ribonuclease in 5 M guanidine • HCl was in accord with the known value; c) Trautman and Crampton (1959) obtained the same result for ribonuclease in 6 M urea; d) Massey, Hofmann, and Palmer (1962) obtained an Archibald molecular weight for lipoyl dehydrogenase in 6.5 M urea which agreed with the chemical analyses of amino acids and FAD; e) Hofmann and Harrison (1963) found that the Archibald molecular weight of apoferritin in SDS solutions was in accord with x-ray diffraction studies; f) Yphantis and Waugh (1957) obtained a molecular weight for insulin in 33% acetic acid - 0.15 M NaCl which agreed with the chemical analysis; and g) Criddle, Bock, Green, and Tisdale (1962) obtained the same molecular weight for the structural

prote chara prese

repor

protein of mitochondrion in 67% acetic acid, 8 \underline{M} urea, and 0.1% SDS.

Information relating to the chemical composition and physical characterization of k-casein in neutral salt solutions and in the presence of dissociating agents were the objectives of the experiments reported in this section of the thesis.

Sedir performed KIC temp A capilla studies a optical a cell. Bo of the ve plastic o windows in an An served a The plates a The mics and was Vi dilutio ranging ^{bath} eq trol the tempera differer For

EXPERIMENTAL

Apparatus

Sedimentation-velocity and sedimentation-equilibrium studies were performed in a Spinco Model E analytical ultracentrifuge equipped with an RTIC temperature control unit and a phase plate as a schlieren diaphragm. A capillary-type synthetic boundary cell was used for most of the velocity studies and also to determine the initial concentrations in terms of optical areas. Equilibrium experiments were performed in a double-sector cell. Both of these centerpieces were the filled-Epon type. For some of the velocity studies a single sector, analytical cell with a Kel-F plastic centerpiece was used. The 12 mm cells equipped with quartz windows were used in all determinations. Centrifugation was performed in an An-D duralumin rotor and a General Electric AH-6 mercury lamp served as the light source.

The schlieren patterns were preserved on Kodak metallographic glass plates and measured with a Nikon Model 6 Shadowgraph microcomparator. The micrometer stage traveled 25 mm on the y-axis, 50 mm on the x-axis and was read directly to 0.002 mm.

Viscosities were determined with a Cannon-Ubbelohde semi-micro dilution viscometer which could be operated with a volume of solution ranging from 1 to 20 ml. A circulating, Precision Scientific water bath equipped with a Precision micro-set thermoregulator was used to control the temperature for viscosity and density determinations. The temperature was controlled to \pm 0.01° C as indicated by a Philadelphia differential thermometer.

For precise weighing, a Cahn Gram Electrobalance was used which has

a tota range. places A titrat equili µl and S ratio. using 1 Were d ł Compan Guanic Chemia 1:1 ^{by} Gre Was T oven. ang m from s studie Curve a total capacity of 1 g on the maximum range and 1 mg on the minimum range. The balance setting of the wheatstone bridge reads to four places on all ranges.

A Starrett microsyringe-burette was used for sulfhydryl group titrations and to fill the ultracentrifuge cell for short-column equilibrium experiments. The microsyringe had a total capacity of 250 μ l and the micrometer could be read to 0.1 μ l.

Spectrophotometric measurements were made with a Beckman DK-2 ratio-recording spectrophotometer or a Beckman DU spectrophotometer using quartz cells with a 1 cm light path.

The hydrogen ion concentrations of various buffers and solutions were determined with a Beckman Model G pH meter using a glass electrode. Materials were dried in temperature controlled Cenco vacuum oven.

Chemicals

p-Mercuribenzoate (PMB) was obtained from the Sigma Chemical Company. Glutathione (GSH) was purchased from Matheson Company. Guanidine \cdot HCl (GU) and 2-mercaptoethanol (ME) were Eastman Organic Chemical products. The guanidine \cdot HCl was recrystallized from a 1 : 1 (v/v) mixture of absolute methanol and ethyl ether as described by Greenstein and Jenrette (1942). The urea, obtained from Mallinckrodt, was recrystallized from 60% ethanol and dried below 60° C in the vacuum oven. Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) was obtained from Fisher Scientific and used without further purification. Fluorocarbon oil FC-43, purchased from Spinco, was used to form a false bottom for ultracentrifugal studies. N-acetylneuraminic acid (NANA), used to obtain a standard curve for NANA determination, was supplied by General Biochemicals.

Unles acid Were time from the p vacuur 1 in 50(ml of drops hour. ^{before} soluti ^{was} di of a 4 0.1038 normali ^{tris} (h l The a Riehm

Unless otherwise specified, all chemicals were reagent grade quality.

Chemical Methods

Amino Acid Analysis¹

The amino acid analyses were performed on 24, 48, and 72 hour acid hydrolysate, using a Beckman Acid Analyzer. The values obtained were extrapolated to zero time for acids whose values decreased with time of hydrolysis. The quantity of protein analyzed was determined from a micro-Kjeldahl nitrogen analysis. Percentage of nitrogen in the protein was determined on samples dried at 105° °C over P_2O_5 in the vacuum oven for 48 hours.

Nitrogen

The digestion mixture consisted of 5 g SeO₂ and 5 g CuSO₄· $5H_2O$ in 5OO ml of concentrated H_2SO_4 . Protein (1-5mg) was digested with 1 ml of digestion mixture on an electric burner for 4 hours, then 5 drops of 30% H_2O_2 was added and digestion continued for another half hour. After cooling, 2 ml of redistilled water was added. Immediately before attaching the digestion flask to the distillation unit, the solution was neutralized with <u>ca</u> 9 ml of 40% KOH solution. The ammonia was distilled by heating with a microburner and collected in 5 ml of a 4% boric acid solution containing 3 drops of indicator. Standard 0.1038 <u>N</u> HCl diluted 5 times was used to titrate the ammonia. The normality of the standard was determined by titration with Sigma 121, tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane.

¹ The amino acid analysis was obtained through the courtesy of Drs. J. P. Richm, J. C. Speck and H. A. Lillevik of the Biochemistry Department.

	addon
	nitro
	samp i
	(ಗಿದ್ದೇ
	Ann /
	P ₂ 05
	and }
	Weig
	Ferr
	acid
	Proc
	free
	oven
	curve
	Prote
	0.1 <u>N</u>
	Perio

tin

The recovery of nitrogen from standards was $100.2 \pm 2.9\%$ using ammonium sulfate and $100.0 \pm 3.3\%$ using tryptophan. The per cent nitrogen in β -lactoglobulin determined in quadruplicate on <u>ca</u> 5 mg samples was 15.63 \pm .03\% as compared to a reported values of 15.60% (McMeekin, 1954).

Sulfur

The total sulfur was determined by Spang Microanalytical Laboratory, Ann Arbor, Michigan. Prior to analysis, the protein was dried over P_2O_5 at 105° C for 48 hours in a vacuum oven.

Phosphorus

Phosphorus was determined colorimetrically in a wet digest (H_2SO_4) and H_2O_2 of the protein -- dried in the vacuum oven over P_2O_5 and weighed with the microbalance -- by the method of Sumner (1944). Ferrous sulfate was added in slight excess to reduce the phosphomolybdic acid to a blue color which was read at 610 mu.

N-Acetylneuraminic Acid

The method used was reported by Aminoff (1961). Similar to the procedure given by Warren (1959), the method is also specific for the free acid. The protein was dried to constant weight in the vacuum oven over P_{205} at 105° C and weighed with the microbalance. A standard curve was prepared using commerically available NANA. An amount of protein corresponding to 20 - 40 µg of NANA was dissolved in 0.5 ml of 0.1 N H₂SO₄ and hydrolyzed for 1 hour at 80° C thus releasing the NANA. Periodate reagent was added and the sample incubated at 37° C for 30 min, after which the excess periodate was reduced with sodium aresnite.
Thio ing extr ⊡ine (<u>M</u>E) adjus ing a to pH remov 0.1 <u>M</u> approx of th dition 1 proced Benesc] disulfi ^{was} dev Protein from the ^{the} redu to 7 with Thiobarbituric acid reagent was added and the color developed by heating in a boiling water bath for 7.5 min. The color compound: was extracted in 5 ml of acid-butanol and the absorbancy at 549 mµ determined in a Beckman DU spectrophotometer.

Disulfide Bond Reduction

The disulfide bonds of k-casein were reduced with mercaptoethanol (ME) at a level of <u>ca</u> 2 μ l/mg of protein in 5 <u>M</u> guanidine . HCl (GU) adjusted to pH 8.4 with methylamine (Anfinsen and Haber 1961). Following a reduction period of about 24 hours, the solution was adjusted to pH 3 with glacial acetic acid. The reducing agent and GU were removed by passing the solution over G-25 Sephadex equilibrated with 0.1 <u>M</u> acetic acid. Complete elution of the protein was achieved approximately 40 to 50 ml prior to the elution of ME. Reoxidation of the sulfhydryl groups should be negligible under the acidic conditions of this elution.

Sulfhydryl Group Titration

The sulfhydryl groups were titrated essentially according to the procedure described by Boyer (1954) and reviewed by Benesch and Benesch (1962). However, to prevent reoxidation of the reduced disulfide bonds following the removal of ME, the following procedure was devised: a) a protein determination was made on an aliquot of the protein solution immediately following its elution in 0.1 <u>M</u> acetic acid from the Sephadex G-25 columns, b) excess PMB was added directly to the reduced protein in 0.1 <u>M</u> acetic acid, and c) the pH was adjusted to 7 with 0.1 N NaOH.

the dete amou to t quant centr titra (Bene: soluti microb ∎ethod tratio by Boye F ferred the sol reactio ^{react}ed CSH solu ^{GSH} solu ^{vol}umes following ^{vclume} of ^{the} prote bl_{ank} and The volume of protein solution was accurately measured after removing the aliquot and before adding the PMB solution. The concentration was determined on the aliquot by measuring the absorbancy at 280 mµ. The amount of portein in the reaction mixture was usually 15 - 20 mg.

A known quantity of PMB dissolved in redistilled water was added to the reduced k-casein and amounted to approximately ten times the quantity required to react with the newly formed SH groups. The concentration of PMB in solution was determined just prior to addition by titration with a freshly prepared standard glutathione (GSH) solution (Benesch and Benesch, 1962). The concentration of the standard GSH solution was determined by weighing the desiccated crystals on the microbalance and dissolving with water in a volumetric flask. This method provided results which were in good agreement with the concentration calculated by using the extinction coefficient at 232 mµ given by Boyer (1954).

Fifty milliliters of protein solution were quantitatively transferred to a 100 ml volumetric flask. After standing for 1 hour at pH 7, the solution was made 7 <u>M</u> with respect to urea to insure complete reaction of the SH groups and the solution made to volume. The unreacted PMB in aliquots of this solution was titrated with the standard GSH solution used previously to titrate the PMB solution. Thus, standard GSH solution was added to both the sample and reference cell in equal volumes with a Starrett microsyringe and the end point determined by following the change in absorption at 250 ml. A blank consisting of a volume of 0.1 <u>M</u> acetic acid was treated in exactly the same manner as the protein solution. The difference between the amount of PMB in the blank and the sample represented the quantity of PMB bound to the protein.

One determination of the number of SH groups was made by a direct titration with standard PMB solution. In this experiment, however, a clear solution was not obtained unless the pH was adjusted to 9. Some re-oxidation could occur under these conditions.

Nitroprusside

The test was conducted in the presence of 5 M guanidine • HCl according to the procedure described by Hamilton (1960). One part of sodium nitroprusside to two parts of sodium carbonate were ground in a mortar until no crystals of the former could be distinguished. About 10 mg of this mixture was added to 1 ml of the protein solution after displacing the air with nitrogen. The test was performed on a reagent blank and a sample of β -lactoglobulin as a positive control concurrently with each experiment.

Physical Methods

Ultracentrifugation

Determination of the protein concentration. The freeze-dried **Protein was weighed on a microbalance and dissolved in an appropriate solvent.** The weight was corrected for the moisture content as determined on a portion of the freeze-dried sample by drying to constant weight ⁱⁿ the vacuum oven at 105° C over P_2O_5 . Following dialysis against the **solvent**, the solution volume was measured with a Hamilton Microliter ^{syringe}. In some instances the concentration was rechecked by nitrogen ^{analysis}.

In several cases, the concentration was determined by measuring the area of the schlieren pattern for the initial boundary formed in

synthetic boundary cell. The amount of protein was determined from a standard plot of area and concentration constructed from data obtained in a similar manner.

Sedimentation-equilibrium. The short-column equilibrium technique described by Van Holde and Baldwin (1958) was used. Centrifugations were performed in the double sector cell at 25.0° C using solution column lengths of 1 to 2 mm. A period of 24 hours was allowed for attainment of equilibrium. This time was more than adequate as indicated by characteristics of the schlieren patterns and calculations made from an assumed, approximate diffusion coefficient.

Schlieren patterns for the concentrated urea and GU solvents may also exhibit some curvature even at the low speed used. Consequently, the column which contained the protein solution was bracketed by the solvent column, ie., the false bottom (flourocarbon oil, FC-43) of the solvent column was slightly below and the air-liquid meniscus slightly above that for the solution column. To achieve this physical relationship the amount of solution required to produce the desired column length was calculated and precisely measured into the cell with a Starrett microsyringe along with predetem ined quantities of flourocarbon oil and solvent. Normally, the amounts added were a) 110 μ l of oil and 70 μ l of solution in the solution sector and b) 100 μ l of oil and 90 μ l of solvent in the solvent sector, resulting in a 10 μ l differential on each side of the solution column.

The protein solutions were dialyzed against their respective solvents for approximately one week at 20° C prior to sedimentation analyses. Optical areas obtained with the synthetic boundary cell were used as a measure of the concentration for molecular weight calculations. Details of the procedure are presented in Appendix II.

Diffusion coefficients were calculated from patterns obtained during the approach to equilibrium experiments according to the method of Sophianopoulos, Rhodes, Holcomb, and Van Holde (1962).

<u>Approach-to-Equilibrium</u>. This procedure was used principally to determine the molecular weight of the low-molecular weight component in a heterogeneous system. Experiments were performed at various rotor speeds and the data plotted as suggested by Trautman (1956) and adapted to heterogeneous systems by Erlander and Foster (1959). The details of this procedure are given in Appendix II. Since the concentrated GU, urea, and SDS solvents formed a gradient under these conditions, precaution was taken to assure that exactly the same volumes of solution and solvent were placed in the double sector cell. The patterns thus obtained showed only one liquid-air meniscus.

In some trials, only one rotor speed was used in which case the weight-average molecular weight was calculated as described by Schachman (1957).

Sedimentation-velocity. These experiments were performed at 20 or 25° C using a rotor speed of 59,780 RPM. The low sedimentation coefficients observed for the proteins in the presence of the dissociating solvents precluded the use of the synthetic boundary cell in these studies. Accurate sedimentation coefficients were obtained with this cell for coefficients less than 1 S (Schachman, 1959) and the problem of restricted diffusion at the meniscus was eliminated. Furthermore, concentrated solutions of GU, urea, and SDS also form gradients at the meniscus making observations of the protein boundary difficult unless a synthetic boundary cell is used. Then, the protein boundary is formed at the start of the experiment and at a considerable distance from the

air-liquid meniscus. The cell was filled by placing 300 μ 1 of protein solution in the lower compartment and 100 μ 1 of solvent, which had been dialyzed against the solution, in the upper compartment.

Sedimentation coefficients, determined by plotting the logarithm of the maximum ordinate against time, were corrected to values corresponding to water at 20° C ($S_{20,w}$). The concentration corresponding to a particular $S_{20,w}$ was the average concentration of the first and last frame used to obtain the $S_{20,}$ and was corrected for radial dilution according to Schachman (1959). Detailed calculations are presented in Appendix II.

<u>Densities and partial specific volume</u>. The solvent densities were determined with 25 ml pycnometers at 25.0 \pm 0.01° C. Solution densities were calculated according to Fujita (1962) using the relation

$$\beta$$
 solution = β solvent + (1 - $\overline{v} \beta$ solvent) c

where \underline{v} is the partial specific volume of the protein and <u>c</u> its concentration in g/ml. Freshly boiled, redistilled water was used to calibrate the pycnometers before each determination. Duplicate determinations agreed to \pm 0.0001 or better.

The partial specific volume was calculated from the amino acid analysis of the protein using the relation

$$\overline{\mathbf{v}} = \frac{\sum_{\mathbf{i}} \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{i}} \mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{i}}}{\sum_{\mathbf{i}} \mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{i}}}$$

where \underline{v} is the partial specific volume of the protein, $\underline{v_i}$ the specific volume of the <u>i</u>th amino acbd residue, and $\underline{W_i}$ the weight per cent of the

 $\underline{\mathbf{I}}^{\mathtt{th}}$ amino acid residue (Cohn and Edsall, 1943; McMeekin, Groves, and Hipp, 1949). The weight per cent of the amino acid residues is given by

$$W_i = g_i / 100g \text{ protein} \left(1 - \frac{18}{M_i}\right)$$

where \underline{g}_i is the grams of the \underline{i}^{th} amino acid and \underline{M}_i the molecular weight of this amino acid.

Intrinsic viscosity determinations. The relative viscosities were determined at 25.0 \pm 0.01° C. The outflow of time for water was 285.8 seconds. Four to six observations of the outflow time were obtained for each determination. All solutions were filtered through a sinteredglass filter. The relative viscosity was calculated according to the relation

$$\eta/\eta_{o} = \frac{t}{t_{o}} \frac{\rho}{\rho_{o}}$$

where $\underline{\Lambda}$, $\underline{\mathbf{t}}$, $\underline{\rho}$ are the viscosity, outflow time, and solution density and $\underline{\Lambda}_{o}$, $\underline{\mathbf{t}}_{o}$, and $\underline{\rho}_{o}$ represent similar quantities for the solvent. The solution density was calculated as previously described. The intrinsic viscosity $[\Lambda]$ was determined by plotting the reduced viscosity (Λ sp/c) against the protein concentration in g/ml, where $\Lambda_{s\mathbf{p}} = \Lambda \Lambda_{o} - 1$.

RESULTS

Composition

The amino acid composition of k-casein is shown in Table 4. These values were based on a nitrogen content of 15.3% as determined by micro-Kjeldahl analysis. The values for Thr, Ser and NH₃ were obtained by extrapolation to zero hydrolysis time. The weight per cent of the amino acid residues (W_i) are presented together with a comparison of the number of residues per 28,000 g of protein for a) purified Preparation No. 3A, b) the k-casein studied by Jollès <u>et al.</u> (1962), and c) α_3 -casein reported by Hipp <u>et al.</u> (1961). The residues were calculated from their data which were reported as g/100 g protein. A summation of the residue weights which includes in addition to the amino acid residues, the values for NANA and phosphorus, as well as the values of Jollès <u>et al.</u> (1962) for Cys, Try, galactose, and galactosamine amounts to 95 per cent.

The partial specific volume was calculated from the amino acid residue weights and the concentration of NANA (1.4%) for the purified Preparation No. 3A. The weight percentages for Cys (1.30%), Try (0.96%), galactose (1.4%), and galactosamine (1.2%) were reported by Jollès <u>et al.</u> (1962). By this method a \overline{v} of 0.729 was obtained, e.g., $\overline{v} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{v_i \quad W_i}{W_i} = \frac{68.925}{94.55} = 0.729.$

Partial specific volumes of 0.62 for hexoses and hexosamines and 0.59 for sialic acid were used (Bezkorovainy and Doherty, 1962).

The average of several determinations gave values of 0.22% phosphorus and 1.4% NANA for purified Preparation No. 3A. The percentage of P reported by Jollès <u>et al.</u> (1962) and Thompson and Pepper (1962) was in good agreement with this value (0.217 and 0.22, respectively). The values reported for NANA have been subject to considerable variation depending upon the method of preparation (Marier, Tessier, and Rose, 1963). The purified k-casein preparation (No. 3A) contained 0.70 <u>+</u> 0.02% sulfur. The calculated molecular weights in terms of the percentages of NANA, Try, P, and S are shown in Table 5.

Physical Properties of k-Casein

Properties in Non-Dissociating Solvents

The results of sedimentation-velocity studies performed on different lots of purified No. 3A at temperatures of 3° and 25° C and ionic strengths from 0.1 to 0.5 are shown in Table 6. The S_{20} value for a McKenzie-Wake preparation has also been included. Temperature and ionic strength had no significant effect on the sedimentation coefficient. The data were fitted to the equation $S_{20} = S_{20}^{\circ}$ (1-kc) giving the result

 $S_{20} = 15.6 (1 - 0.0165C) \pm 0.25,$

where S₂₀ is in Svedbergs and <u>c</u> in mg/ml.

The viscosity of this preparation was studied in 0.1 <u>M</u> NaCl at 25.0° C. Fitting the data to the Huggins equation (Tanford, 1961) gave $\eta_{\rm sp/c} = 9.5 + (0.217)$ (90.25) c <u>+</u> 0.06,

where the intrinsic viscosity was 9.5, the Huggins constant 0.217, and \underline{c} was in mg/ml. The data are plotted in curve C of Figure 12.

Properties in Dissociating Solvents

Sedimentation characteristics in SDS solutions. k-Casein

(purified No. 3A) was sedimented in buffers at pH 8.6 or 9.25 which contained from 2.5 to 40 mg/ml SDS. Usually the solutions were placed in the regular analytical cell without prior dialysis. Thus, a boundary due to SDS did not appear until the unbound SDS concentration exceeded the critical micelle concentration, i.e., 0.11% (Hofman and Harrison, 1963). An SDS boundary became apparent as the weight-ratio of SDS/protein approached 1. Apparently 0.5 to 1 g SDS was bound per gram of protein. Since the SDS and protein boundary were not completely separated, the pattern was measured on the Trautman z-scale and $X^2 \Delta Y$ plotted against X to correct for radial dilution. Gaussian curves were fitted to these plots to obtain the maximum ordinate for each peak. The calculated sedimentation coefficients are recorded in Table 7.

A value of approximately 2.3 S was obtained for the sedimentation coefficient in SDS concentrations ranging from 2.5 to 20 mg/ml. <u>Archibald</u> molecular weights were obtained for k-casein solutions in veronal buffer containing 10 mg/ml SDS and 5 and 10 mg/ml of protein. The solvent, dialyzed against the protein solution, was used as a reference. The apparent molecular weights were corrected according to the equation

$$M = M^{app} \qquad 1 + x_{1} \frac{(1 - \overline{v}_{1} \mathbf{O})}{(1 - \overline{v}_{p} \mathbf{O})},$$

1

where x_1 represents the grams of SDS bound by one gram of protein, \overline{v}_1 the partial specific volume of SDS, \overline{v}_p the partial specific volume of the protein, and $\underline{\rho}$ the solution density (Schachman, 1960). Even at a maximum x_1 , i.e. 1.0, molecular weights were calculated to be approximately 100,000. The sedimentation coefficient decreased as the SDS concentration was increased to 30 cr 40 mg/ml. This characteristic could be caused by unfolding cr swelling as well as by molecular dissociation. Furthermore, the steep refractive index gradients due to free SDS, and the charge effect caused by bound SDS at these high concentrations make molecular weight calculations of questionable reliability. Consequently, further studies along those lines were not performed.

Sedimentation and viscosity characteristics in 5.0 M GU solutions.

The results of short-column equilibrium experiments performed on k-casein (purified No. 3A) in 5.0 <u>M</u> GU at pH 4.8 are recorded in Table 8 and Figure 13 (filled circles). A molecular weight of 126,000 was obtained by a least-squares extrapolation to zero concentration. A marked concentration dependence of the apparent weight-average molecular weight was noted. The ratio M_Z/M_W was greater at a concentration of 3 mg/ml. Additionally, a Van Holde-Baldwin plot of the data showed considerable deviation from linearity (Figure 14B).

The molecular weight of the small component present in a 3 mg/ ml solution of k-casein in 5.0 <u>M</u> GU was determined from a Trautman plot of approach-to-equilibrium data (see Figure 15) and yielded a value of 54,000.

Sedimentation-velocity data were best represented by the linear relation

 $S_{20,w} = 3.18 (1-0.0178 c),$

where $S_{20,w}$ is in Svedbergs and <u>c</u> in mg/ml. A value of 3.1 Ficks -D_{20,w}-was calculated from a short-column equilibrium experiment at a protein concentration of 10.3 mg/ml. An approximation of the

molecular weight was obtained by combining this value with the sedimentation coefficient determined at the same concentration. This method assumes that the sedimentation and diffusion coefficients have the same concentration dependence. Nevertheless, an apparent molecular weight of 75,000 was obtained which was in agreement with the equilibrium data determined at the concentration. An intrinsic viscosity of 31 ml/g was determined from an evaluation of a reduced viscosity plot, see Figure 12B. The Scherage-Mandelkern constant, β , calculated from these data was 2.00 x 10⁶. The data are summarized in Table 9.

Sedimentation and viscosity characteristics in concentrated acetic acid solutions adjusted to 0.15 M NaCl. The short-column equilibrium data obtained in 67% acetic acid are represented by the open circles in Figure 13, and compared with the values for reduced k-casein, Table 10. The apparent weight-average molecular weights, which were strongly concentration dependent, yielded a value of 124,000 at zero concentration by least-squares extrapolation. Similar values were obtained from an experiment performed on purified Fraction S. Ratios for the relationship M_z/M_w were nearly one in all cases. Moreover, the Van Holde-Baldwin plots were linear for these data, see Figure 14A.

In 33% acetic acid, however, k-casein appeared to be polydispersed. A Trautman plot of approach-to-equilibrium data for a 6.8 mg/ml solution is shown in Figure 16. The molecular weight of the small component evaluated from the final slope was 58,000.

Selected hydrodynamic properties were determined in 67% acetic acid and are summarized in Table 9. The sedimentation coefficients

were fitted to the equation

$$S_{20} = 2.7 (1 - 0.0302 c)$$

where $S_{20,w}$ is in Svedbergs and <u>c</u> in mg/ml. A value of 2.4 Ficks was obtained for the diffusion coefficient at zero concentration by extrapolation of values calculated from the short-column equilibrium experiments. At a concentration of 7.5 mg/ml, the value was 1.5 Ficks. Substitution of these data into the Svedberg equation yielded a molecular weight of 101,000 which is in relatively good agreement with the value obtained by the short-column equilibrium technique.

The intrinsic viscosity was found to be 35 ml/g as determined from a reduced viscosity plot (Figure 12A). A value for β of 1.8 X 10^6 was calculated.

Sedimentation characteristics in 7.0 M urea solutions at pH 8.5. k-Casein (purified No. 3A) was polydispersed in this solvent as indicated by the results obtained from a short-column equilibrium experiment. At a protein concentration of 5 mg/ml the M_w and M_z were 108,000 and 213,000, respectively, giving a ratio, M_z/M_w of 1.97. Approach-toequilibrium studies of this solution resulted in values of 57,000, 118,000, and 144,000 for the molecular weights of the small component, M_w, and M_z, respectively. A Trautman plot of the data is shown in Figure 17.

Sedimentation and viscosity characteristics in pH 12,2 phosphate **buffer.** Archibald molecular weights (M_w), calculated from the meniscus **Patterns**, were averaged to approximately 24,000 for a 10 mg/ml solu **tion** of purified Preparation No. 3. A molecular weight of 23,400 was **obtained** from a Trautman plot of approach-to-equilibrium data for a 5.3 mg/ml solution of purified Preparation No. 3A. Unlike k-casein in 7.0 <u>M</u> urea, 5.0 <u>M</u> GU, and 33% acetic acid, the Trautman plot for these data fitted a straight line, see Figure 18.

The diffusion coefficient for a protein concentration of 8 mg/ml was 5.8 Ficks, obtained in the Tiselius electrophoresis cell by the height-area method. The sedimentation coefficients fitted the equation

$$S_{20,w} = 1.4 (1 - 0.0172 c)$$

where $S_{20,w}$ is in Svedbergs and <u>c</u> in mg/ml. A molecular weight of 22,300 was obtained by inserting these data into the Svedberg equation.

The reduced viscosity was related to the concentration according to the equation

$$N_{\rm sp}$$
 c = $[N]$ + 0.305 $[N]^2$ c ± 0.21,

where the intrinsic viscosity, [n], was 15.1. The calculated value for the Scheraga-Mandelkern constant was 2.04 X 10^6 . These data are compared to those for k-casein in other solvents in Table 9.

Physical Properties of Reduced k-Casein

Sedimentation Characteristics in 5.0 M GU

The experiments were performed with the PMB derivative of reduced k-casein to prevent re-oxidation of the disulfide bonds. Apparent molecular weights for the derivative remaining after removing aliquots for -SH group determination are shown as a function of the concentration in Figure 19 (filled circles). These values were obtained from the slopes of Van Holde-Bladwin plots which were linear for these equilibrium measurements. The apparent molecular weights, compared to those of k-casein in Table 8, did not show marked concentration dependence. A molecular weight of 28,700 was obtained by least-squares extrapolation to zero concentration. A weight-average molecular weight of 21,000 was obtained for a reduced, purified Fraction S in 5.0 \underline{M} GU at pH 8.4 and containing ME.

The diffusion and sedimentation coefficients were 5.8 Ficks and 1.3 S at a protein concentration of 9 mg/ml. A molecular weight of 20,000 was obtained when these values were inserted into the Svedberg equation. The concentration dependence of a later preparation of the PMB-derivative gave the result

 $S_{20,w} = 1.88 (1 - 0.0106 c).$

However, equilibrium molecular weight analysis showed $M_w = 34,000$, $M_z = 50,000$, and a non-linear Van Holde-Baldwin plot, indicating either limited re-oxidation had occurred before the PMB was added or complete reduction was not achieved. This material was not used for -SH group analysis.

Sedimentation Characteristics in 67% Acetic Acid Adjusted to 0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl

In these studies, the protein was reduced in 5 \underline{M} GU at pH 8.4. The solution was adjusted to pH 3 with glacial acetic acid and dialyzed against the solvent. There should be no re-oxidation of -SH groups under these conditions. The protein concentration was determined by measuring the area under the curve formed in the synthetic boundary cell. Concentration dependence of the apparent molecular weights is shown in Figure 19 (open circles). As observed for the case of the PMB-derivative in 5 \underline{M} GU, the concentration dependence was not large. These values represent both the weightaverage molecular weight for the entire cell contents and that obtained from the slopes of the Van Holde-Baldwin plots. Since these plots were linear, the values obtained agreed within experimental error. Also the ratio M_Z/M_W was approximately one as would be expected from the appearance of the Van Holde-Baldwin plots. The molecular weight obtained by least-squares extrapolation to zero concentration was 27,300. These results are compared to those for k-casein in the same solvent in Table 10.

The sedimentation-velocity data for reduced k-casein are represented by the relation

$$S_{20} = 1.26 (1 - 0.0146 c)$$

where $S_{20,w}$ is in Svedbergs and <u>c</u> in mg/ml. The diffusion coefficient, obtained at 6.4 mg/ml protein concentration, was 5.7 Ficks. Assuming the $D_{20,w}$ is not concentration dependent, a molecular weight $(M_{s,D})$ of 20,000 was calculated.

Determination of Sulfhydryl Groups

The nitroprusside test for free sulfhydryl groups performed in $5 \leq M$ GU gave negative results for purified Preparation No. 3A and purified Fraction S. following treatment with ME, the test was positive and the PMB titration experiments showed the presence of 2-3 -SH groups per 28,000 g of k-casein. Analysis of total sulfur and methionine showed that by difference, 3 cysteine/28,000 existed. k-Casein held at pH 12 for 24-48 hours at 20° C did not show any SH groups upon subsequent reduction with ME and titration with PMB. The results are summarized in Table 11.

Amino	-			Residues/28,000	g
acid	g/100 g ^a	Wi ^D	This study ^C	Jolles <u>et</u> <u>al</u> .d	α ₃ -casein ^e
Asp	7.72	6.68	16	15	16
Thr	6.74 ^f	5.72	16	16	10
Ser	5.03 ^f	4.17	13	16	15
Glu	19.80	17.38	38	33	34
Pro	10.95	9.24	27	21	25
Gly	1.23	0.93	5	5	. 5
Ala	5.40	4.31	17	17	17
Cys					1.6
Val	6.30	5.33	15	12	12
Met	1.68	1.48	3	2	2
[leu	7.10	6.13	15	13	14
Leu	6.11	5.27	13	13	14
ſyr	7.61	6.86	12	11	15
Phe	3.86	3.44	7	7	7
Lys	6.51	5.71	12	11	13
lis	2.36	2.09	4	3	3
Arg	3.96	3,55	6	6	7
ſry				1	2
^{۳Н} 3	1.94 ^f	1.82	32	•••	35
~	. g				

The amino acid composition of k-caseins

TABLE 4

TABLE 4 - Continued

³ Based on a nitrogen content of 15.3%.

^b Weight per cent of the ith amino acid residue.

^c Analysis provided through the courtesy of Drs. J. P. Riehm, J. C. Speck, and H. A. Lillevik of the Biochemistry Department.

^d Calculated from the g/100 g protein reported by Jollès <u>et al.</u> (1962).

^e Calculated from the g/100 g protein reported by Hipp <u>et al.</u> (1961) for α_3 -casein.

f Extrapolated values.

^g This summation includes in addition to the amino acid residues, the values for NANA and phosphorus (based on the H₂PO₃ residue) as well as the values for Cys, Try, galactose, and galactosamine reported by Jollès <u>et al</u>. (1962).

TABLE	5
-------	---

Molecular weights of k-casein from chemical analysis

Component	Percentage	Minimum molecular weight	Number of residue s	Molecular weight
Sialic acid (NANA)	1.4	22,000	1	22,000
Phos phorus	0.22	14,090	2	28,180
Sulfur	0.70	4,570	6	27,420
Tryptophan ^a	1.05	19,500	1	19,500

^a Reported by Jolles <u>et al</u>. (1962).

Concentration (mg/m1)	s ₂₀ x 10 ¹³	Temperature °C	Sølvent
6.0 ^a	14.5	3	phosphate buffer, 0.1 72
6.4 ^a	13.9	25	phosphate buffer, 0.2 \[/2
8.1 ^a	13.02	25	0.5 <u>M</u> NaCl
8.2 ^a	13.41	25	phosphate buffer
10.0 ^b	13.44	24	phosphate buffer 0.1 7/2
10.0 ^a	13.11	25	phosphate buffer 0.2 / /2

TABLE 6

Sedimentation coefficients of k-caseins at neutral pH

^a Purified preparation No. 3A.

^b **Preparation** obtained by the method of McKenzie and Wake.

Buffer	SDS (mg/m1)	Protein (mg/ml)	SDS (g/g protein)	s _{20,w} x 10 ¹³
Veronal	2.5	8	0.31	2.28 ^a
рН 8.6	5.0	8	0.63	2. 11 ^a
$\int /2 = 0.1$	10.0	5	2.00	2.28, 1.14 ^b
	10.0	8	1.25	2.19 ^c
	10.0	10	1.00	2.35 ^c
	20.0	9	2.22	2.32 ^a ,0.84 ^b
Tris	⁰	8.2		8.29 ^a
pH 9.25	10	8.2	1.22	2.00 [°]
[/2 = 0.1	20	8.3	2.41	2.26, 0.98 ^b
	30	8.3	3.61	1.10, 0.80 ^b
	30	8.1	3.70	1.2 ^{a,d}
	40	6.0	6.67	1.1 ^e

Sedimentation coefficients of purified Preparation No. 3A in buffers containing SDS

TABLE 7

a Not corrected to water.

^b Value for boundary due to SDS micelles.

^C Boundary due to SDS micelles was observed.

^d Free SDS removed by chilling to 0° C and centrifuging out the precipitated SDS.

^e Performed in synthetic boundary cell by layering, on the solution, buffer containing 40 mg/ml SDS which was dialyzed against the solution.

k	-Casein		Reduced	k-Casein
Concentration (mg/m1)	M _w X 10 ⁻⁴	M _z /M _w	Concentration (mg/m1)	M _w X 10 ⁻⁴
0	12.61		0	2.87
3.0	11.28 ^a	1.94 ^a	3	2.77 ^d
5.5	9.44	1.18	6	2.52 ^d
7.2	8.73 ^a	1.18 ^a	9	2 . 49 ^d
10.3	7.38 ^a	1.17 ^a	7 ^b	2.1 ^{b,c}

Equilibrium molecular weight data for k- and reduced k-casein in 5.0 M GU, pH 4.8

TABLE 8

^a Average of several determinations.

^b Fraction S (Waugh and von Hippel, 1956), purified by ultracentrifugation and elution from Sephadex G-75.

^c Solvent contained 7 μ 1/m1 ME at pH 8.4.

^d PMB derivative.

Property	5.0 <u>M</u> GU pH 4.8	67% Acetic Acid	Phosphate Buffer (pH 12.2, 0.19 //2)
s _{20,w} x 10 ¹³	3.18	2.7	1.4
k ^a	0.0178	0.0302	0.0172
^D 20,w X 10 ⁷	3.1 (10.3 mg/m1)	2.4 (c = 0)	5.8 (8 mg/m1)
[/] (m1/g)	31	35	. 15.1
Huggins constant	0.82	0.50	0.305
b f/fo	2.7	3.2	2.3
в х 10 ⁻⁶	2.00 ^c	1.8 ^c	2.04 ^d
^M s,D	75,000 (10.3 mg/m1)	101,000 (c = 0)	22,300 (c = 0)

TABLE 9

Hydrodynamic properties of k-casein in 5.0 M GU, 67% acetic acid - 0.15 M NaCl and pH 12.2 phosphate buffer

^a From the equation $S_{20,w} = S_{20,w}^{\circ}$ (1 - kC)

^b Calculated from sedimentation-velocity and molecular weight data.

^c A molecular weight of 120,000 was used in the calculation.

^d A molecular weight of 24,000 was used in the calculation.

TABLE 1	10
---------	----

Equilibrium	molecular	weight	data	for k-	and	reduced	k-casein
	in 67% .	acetic a	acid •	0.15	M NaO	21	

	k-Casein		Reduced k-Casein			
Concentration (mg/m1)	m M _w X 10 ⁻⁴	M _z /M _w	Concentration (mg/m1)	on M _w X 10-4	Mz/M _w	
0	12.42		0	2.73		
1.83	12.09	1.11	3.2	2.65	0.99	
2.40	10.60 ^a		6.3	2.55	0.91	
3.67	10.74	1.17	9.6	2.48	1.13	
6.50	9.14	1.01				
6.50 ^b	8.71 ^{a,b}	1.14 ^{a,b}				
7.34	8.75	0.98				
11.00	7.03	0.91				

^a Value for one calculation.

^b Fraction S (Waugh and von Hippel, 1956), purified by ultracentrifugation and elution from G-75 Sephadex.

TABLE	1	1
-------	---	---

Determination of the total sulfhydryl groups

	Method of SH	Number SH/	
Protein	Group Analysis	28,000 g	Nitroprusside
Reduced k-casein	Titration of un- reacted PMB ^a with GSH ^b		+
	Trial l (18.9 mg) ^C	1.93	
	Trail 2 (15.5 mg) ^c	2.67	
	Direct determina- tion of Mercaptide at pH 9.5	1.82	
k-Casein	Sulfur and methio- nine analysis	2.98	-
k-Casein prepared by the method of Waugh and von Hippel (1956)			-
k-Casein treated at pH 12 followed by reducti on	Titration of un- reacted PMB with GSH	0.1	-

a p-Mercuribenzoate

 $^{\rm b}$ Glutathione

^c Total amount of protein reacted with excess PMB



Figure 12. A plot of reduced viscosity (m1/g) for k-casein in A) 67% acetic acid - 0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl, B) 5.0 <u>M</u> guanidine HCl, and C) 0.1 <u>M</u> NaCl.



Figure 13. Plot showing the concentration dependence of the apparent molecular weight of k-casein in 5.0 M guanidine.HCl and 67% acetic acid - 0.15 M NaCl. Legend: **O**, M_w in 67% acetic acid; **O**, M_w in 5.0 M guanidine.HCl; Δ , M_w in 67% acetic acid for purified Fraction S (Weugh and von Hippel, 1956).







Figure 15. Trautman plot of approach-to-equilibrium data for k-casein in 5.0 Suanidine HC1. Legend: O, 42,040 RPM; A, 33,450 RPM; O, 20,410 RPM; O, 12,590 RPM.



Figure 16. Trautman plot of approach-to-equilibrium data for k-casein in 33% acetic acid - 0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl. Legend: **0**,42,040 RPM; **▲**, 29,500 RPM; ●, 14,290 RPM.







Figure 18. Trautman plot of approach-to-equilibrium data for k-casein in pH 12.2 phosphate buffer;
Z5 C. Legend: A, initial concentration; O, 42,040 RPM; O, 29,500 RPM; O, 16,200 RPM.

Figure 19. Plot showing the concentration dependence of the apparent molecular weights in dissociating solvents for reduced k-casein and k-casein exposed to pH 12. Legend: 0, M_W for reduced k-casein in 67% acetic acid - 0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl; •, M_W for PMB-k-casein in 5.0 <u>M</u> guanidine HCl; Δ , M_W for purified Fraction S (Waugh and von Hippel, 1956) in 5.0 <u>M</u> guanidine, pH 8.4, containing 7 μ 1/ml 2-mercaptoethanol; • M from Trautman plot of approach-to-equilibrium data for k-casein in pH 12.2 phosphate buffer, $\Gamma/2 = 0.19$; • M for k-casein treated at pH 12.2, then dialyzed against 5.0 <u>M</u> guanidine HCl.


DISCUSSION

Composition of k-Casein

A comparison of the amino acid composition of purified Preparation No. 3A with that of Jollès <u>et al</u>. (1962) for a McKenzie-Wake preparation showed good agreement. The analyses, including the carbohydrate and phosphorus content, accounted for 95% of the total protein. Jollès <u>et al</u>. (1962) accounted for only 85% of the residues in their analysis of k-casein. Perhaps a more thorough analysis of the carbohydrate moiety would account for the remaining portion. The total number of cationic and anionic groups per 28,000 g was estimated to be 22 and 58, respectively, assuming that a) the phosphoamino acid side chains were dibasic anionic groups and b) ignoring the amide nitrogen. When the 32 amide nitrogens are considered, then, there exists but four excess anionic groups. The large amount of proline is particularly noteworthy.

The 1.4% of NANA found for purified Preparation No. 3A lies in the range reported for other k-casein preparations. Marier <u>et al</u>. (1963) reported values of 0.65% and 1.25% for a McKenzie-Wake preparation, whereas, Thompson and Pepper (1962) and Jollès <u>et al</u>. (1962) reported values of 2.5% and 2.4%, respectively, for preparations by the same method. A modification of the McKenzie-Wake preparation yielded k-casein containing 1.8% NANA (Nitschmann and Beeby, 1963). Also, Marier, <u>et al</u>. (1963) gave a value of 2.14% for a preparation obtained by the Swaisgood-Brunner method as previously published but not purified as described herein. Urea-starch gel electrophoresis showed more of the leading bands in their preparation. The extent of

variation due to analytical procedures and that due to differences in the preparations can only be speculated. Possibly some of the contaminating proteins found in k-casein preparations contain NANA. This postulate is supported by the observation of Malpress (1961) that only 68% of the NANA in whole casein was released by rennin whereas Marier <u>et al.</u> (1963) found approximately 90% of the NANA was released from a Swaisgood-Brunner preparation of k-casein.

To some extent the phosphorus content appears to be related to the purity of k-casein preparations. Waugh's Fraction S contained about 0.5% P. The crude k-casein prepared by Long (1958) contained 0.46% P, but following five centrifugations it contained 0.33% P. Purer preparations had a phosphorus content of approximately 0.22% (Jollès <u>et al.</u>, 1962; Thompson and Pepper, 1962; Waugh, 1958). Preparations obtained during this study varied from approximately 0.35% P for crude k-caseins to 0.22% P for the purified material.

The composition of α_3 -casein is similar to that of k-casein. This protein fraction is undoubtedly rich in k-casein as evidenced by its amino acid composition, phosphorus and NANA contents, reaction with rennin, and ability to stabilize α_s -casein. Nevertheless, there are some noteworthy differences between these two proteins: a) the phosphorus content of α_3 -casein (0.35%) is similar to that of crude k-casein although electrophoresis and sedimentation-velocity experiments showed only one boundary, b) its sedimentation coefficient (23 S) is much larger than that for k-casein, c) it is <u>much less</u> soluble at pH 6.9 (0.26%), and d) its threonine content is significantly lower. Interestingly, this protein was prepared by the same procedure employed by Long (1958) with the following exceptions; a) only one centrifugation

at low speed was used to remove the $\alpha_{\rm s}$ -casein and b) the final ultracentrifugations were performed in the absence of salt. Possibly the interaction observed by Long (1958) in the presence of salt participates in the formation of a stable complex in the absence of salt. The fact that repeated ultracentrifugation in salt solutions does not concentrate k-casein preparations beyond a certain degree of purity was observed by Hipp et al. (1961) and, also, during the course of this study. The formation of stable complexes between k-casein and one or more of the λ -casein constituents would explain the discrepancies listed above. For example, the greatest difference between the amino acid composition of the λ -casein fraction and k-casein as reported in this thesis was the lower content of threonine in λ -casein. Furthermore, Hipp <u>et al.</u> (1961) observed that the exposure of $\alpha_{\rm s}$ -casein to pH 11.8 resulted in the formation of a number of electrophoretic peaks at pH 10.1 where previously only one peak was observed. In view of the above argument, this observation would indicate that the associated complex of casein's was dissociated in the high pH environment (Waugh and von Hippel, 1956).

Molecular Size and Interactions of k-Casein

Polymer Size of k-Casein in Neutral Salt Solutions

k-Casein forms polymers in neutral buffers or NaCl solutions which are relatively independent of temperature or ionic strength. These polymers are not entirely uniform with respect to size as evidenced by the skewness of the sedimenting boundary. Nevertheless, the interaction is unusually specific and an estimate of the aggregate size is noteworthy.

Although a direct determination of the molecular weight was not performed, an approximation can be obtained from the Scheraga-Mandelkern equation (Appendix II) since β is relatively insensitive to particle shape. Thus, using the equation given by Schachman (1959), a molecular weight of approximately 650,000 was calculated from the sedimentation coefficient and intrinsic viscosity. Therefore, the polymer seems to be composed of 10 to 15 basic units (M = 56,000). One must not conclude that this aggregate is indigenous to the native micelle, however, this ability to form aggregates certainly demonstrates the proteins unusual capability for specific interaction.

Dissociation of the k-Casein Polymers and the Properties of the Units Obtained

Sedimentation, diffusion, and viscosity characteristics of

<u>k-casein in dissociating solvents</u>. The polymer size of k-casein was significantly reduced when dispersed in solvents containing SDS, 7.0 <u>M</u> urea, 5.0 <u>M</u> GU, concentrated acetic acid, or high concentrations of hydroxyl ion. Thus, the equilibrium molecular weights extrapolated to zero concentration in 67% acetic acid and 5.0 <u>M</u> GU were approximately 125,000. Although there was some indication of an increase in the apparent molecular weights at low concentrations (Figure 13), the protein was essentially monodispersed in 67% acetic acid. At low concentrations in 5.0 <u>M</u> GU and in 7.0 <u>M</u> urea or 33% acetic acid the protein exhibited properties characteristic of polydispersity. In 5.0 <u>M</u> GU and 7.0 <u>M</u> urea, the M_w was similar to that obtained in 67% acetic acid but the M_z was nearly doubled. Determinations of the molecular weight of the light component in three solvents, i.e., 33% acetic acid, 5.0 <u>M</u> GU, and 7.0 <u>M</u> urea, resulted in an average value of 56,000. These data may be interpreted to suggest that k-casein existed in these solvents in the form of both lower and higher polymer species. For example, lowering the concentration of acetic acid or lowering the concentration of protein in 5.0 <u>M</u> GU may favor a monomerpolymer equilibrium rather than the dimer form observed in 67% acetic acid. The basic unit of k-casein appears to have a molecular weight of approximately 56,000.

The molecular weight of k-casein in solutions containing 10 mg/ml SDS was roughly 100,000. The polymer size was probably similar to that in acetic acid, GU, and urea solutions since this calculation assumed one gram of SDS bound per gram of protein; a figure most likely overestimated. However, the molecular weight at pH 12 was approximately 24,000 or about one-half the value for the basic unit. This result compares well with the value reported by McKenzie and Wake (1959b).

Molecular weight values were not corrected for charge effects or specific protein-solvent interaction--except for an estimate in the case of SDS--because of a lack of satisfactory correction values. However, the charge effect should not be large since the solutions contained relatively high concentrations of salt (e.g., $0.15 \ /2$) (Svedberg and Petersen, 1940; Schachman, 1959; Tanford, 1961). Preferential interactions with SDS and concentrated acetic acid should not effect the molecular weight greatly since their partial specific volumes are nearly the reciprocal of the density of the solution (Schachman, 1960). Kielley and Harrington (1960) found that < 5% GU was protein-bound for two dissimilar proteins (i.e., ribonuclease and myosin) dispersed in 5.0 M GU. Further, these investigators obtained a molecular weight of 13,000 \pm 500 for ribonuclease which agrees with

the known value.. The fact that similar molecular weights were obtained in all of the solvents employed in this study suggests that large charge effects or preferential interactions were not operative.

These studies demonstrated that the polymers were not completely dissociated in any of the solvents employed except the pH 12 buffer. Although a smaller unit was present, a tendency towards larger polymer size was more apparent in 7.0 \underline{M} urea, 33% acetic acid, and 5.0 \underline{M} GU at low protein concentrations than in 67% acetic acid. Conceivably an unusually strong interaction occurs between the basic units of k-casein since most proteins would be completely dissociated under these conditions.

The sedimentation coefficients, especially in 67% acetic acid, exhibited a considerable concentration dependence. Presumably this characteristic can be attributed to the non-ideality of the system as demonstrated by the large dependence of the molecular weights on concentration. However, the diffusion coefficient in 67% acetic acid showed only a small increase with decreasing concentration. The intrinsic viscosities in 67% acetic acid and 5.0 M GU were greatly increased over that in neutral salt solutions or pH 12 phosphate buffer. This observation was similar to that of Harrup and Woods (1961) who found that the intrinsic viscosities of bovine serum albumin, egg albumin, β -lactoglobulin, lysozyme, and insulin were much greater in anhydrous formic acid than in aqueous solutions.

The calculated frictional ratios as well as the large intrinsic viscosities suggest that the molecules were extended. However, a combination of thermodynamic and hydrodynamic data in the form of the Scheraga-Manderkern constant indicates that the molecule underwent

an isotropic swelling rather than an extension in the polypeptide chains. The calculated values for β were 1.8 X 10⁶, 2.00 X 10⁶, and 2.04 X 10⁶ in 67% acetic acid, 5.0 <u>M</u> GU, and pH 12 phosphate buffer, respectively. The theoretical minimum value is 2.12 X 10⁶, however, the values reported here are within the experimental error of this minimum. Scheraga and Mandelkern (1953) discuss the case of horse serum albumin in urea solutions where the frictional ratio indicated an axial ratio of approximately 20 : 1, whereas the calculated β 's ranged from 1.98 to 2.05 X 10⁶. They concluded that the protein molecules swelled in the presence of urea. Values lower than the theoretical minimum have been reported for other proteins (Schachman, 1959; Yang, 1961). Harrup and Woods (1961), on the basis of light scattering data, suggested that isotropic swelling occurred in bovine serum albumin rather than a linear extension of the chains in anhydrous formic acid.

The dissociation of k-casein in 67% acetic acid and 5.0 <u>M</u> GU was reversible with respect to the sedimentation-velocity characteristics. k-Casein which was held for two weeks in 67% acetic acid at room temperature exhibited the same NANA content and reaction with rennin following dialysis against water as it did prior to the exposure to the dissociating system. Holding the protein in 5.0 <u>M</u> GU or 7.0 <u>M</u> urea followed by dialysis against water yielded a k-casein solution which reacted normally with rennin. Some difficulty was experienced in completely removing the bound SDS from the protein as indicated by a lower sedimentation coefficient (e.g., = 10S).

<u>Sedimentation and diffusion characteristics of reduced k-casein</u> <u>in dissociating solvents</u>. Following cleavage of the disulfide bonds with ME, the molecular weight of k-casein was approximately 28,000 in both 5.0 \underline{M} Gü and 67% acetic acid. The protein appeared monodispersed as evidenced by linear Van Holde-Baldwin plots and ratios of M_z/M_w approaching one. As in the case of k-casein, the molecular weights were not corrected for charge effects or preferential interactions. Concentration dependence was not marked for either the molecular weights or the sedimentation coefficients. Diffusion coefficients were determined at only one concentration in both solvents giving values of 5.8 Ficks at 9 mg/ml in 5.0 M GU and 5.7 Ficks at 6.4 mg/ml in 67% acetic acid.

<u>Comparison of k-casein and reduced k-casein</u>. Reduction of the disulfide bonds clearly caused a decrease in the observed molecular weight of k-casein. This fact was obvious even from a qualitative observation of the sedimentation-equilibrium patterns, see Figure 20. Furthermore, a comparison of the sedimentation and diffusion coefficients showed that cleavage of the disulfide bonds caused a reduction in the $S_{20,w}$ and an increase in the $D_{20,w}$. The concentration dependency of the sedimentation coefficients for reduced k-casein were approximately half that for k-casein. This was as expected since the apparent molecular weights for reduced k-casein were much less concentration dependent. These data are summarized in Table 12.

The basic unit (M = 56,000) of k-casein observed in various dissociating solvents appears to be composed of two sub-units having a molecular weight of approximately 28,000. The proposed sub-unit weight is in accord with the chemical analyses which indicated an average minimum molecular weight of 24,300. Furthermore, it is proposed that the two sub-units are joined by disulfide bonds. This postulate is supported by the presence of three -SH groups per 28,000 g as determined by PMB titrations, analyses for total sulfur and methionine, and the cysteic acid values reported by Jolles <u>et al.</u> (1962) and Hipp <u>et al.</u> (1961). Since k-casein does not contain free -SH groups, an odd number of -SH groups per sub-unit weight precludes at least one inter-molecular disulfide bond. The results obtained were not a consequence of the particular method of preparation employed in this study since the same observations were made on a freshly prepared, purified Fraction S preparation.

A comparison of the properties of k-casein in pH 12 phosphate buffer to those of reduced k-casein indicated that the disulfide bonds were destroyed in this buffer. Also, k-casein dissolved in the phosphate buffer and then dialyzed against 5.0 M GU exhibited an equilibrium molecular weight of 24,500 at a protein concentration of 9 mg/ml, see Figure 19. Chemical evidence showing that alkalinetreated protein subsequently reduced with ME did not give the nitroprusside reaction or react with PMB substantiated the conclusions derived from the physical studies.

These results are not surprising considering the lability of disulfide bonds in proteins to alkali (Cecil and McPhee, 1959). Brown, Delaney, Levine and Van Vunakis (1959) observed an odor of hydrogen sulfide upon neutralization of aqueous solutions of ribonuclease which had been exposed to pH 12.7 for 30 min at room temperature. More recently, Young and Potts (1963) measured a 70% loss of half-cystine in ribonuclease after two hours at pH 11 in 5 M guanidine.

Further evidence in favor of a basic unit weight for k-casein of approximately 56,000 comes from the work of Garnier <u>et al.</u> (1962) and Beeby (1963). These researchers proposed that k-casein had a molecular

weight of 55,000 and 50,000, respectively. They based this conclusion on data pertaining to the release of protons and GMP resulting from the action of rennin on k-casein. If, as proposed by these workers, only one GMP is released per 56,000, then the two sub-units must be different but of approximately the same weight since the equilibrium patterns of reduced k-casein have shown it to be quite homogeneous. Further, a peptide other than GMP must be released by rennin since studies described earlier in this thesis showed that peptides of approximately 8,000 molecular weight were released from a 28,000 molecular weight unit.

Reduced k-casein did not show the same tendency to participate in a monomer-polymer equilibrium as did the non-reduced protein in the dissociating solvents employed. However, reduced k-casein in neutral phosphate buffer possessed the same sedimentation-velocity characteristics ($S_{20} = 13$ S) as the non-reduced. This result was expected since a typical sedimentation pattern was restored upon returning the protein to pH 7.0 from pH 12 (Waugh and von Hippel, 1956). Thus, the disulfide bonds may have some influence on the interactions of k-casein but certainly, the effect is not great.

Some other possible structures of k-casein. Recently Nitschmann (and Beeby (1963) and Beeby (1963) proposed that k-casein was a complex and that the initial action of rennin was to break this complex. Seemingly, this proposal was based on the following observations. a) Fifteen per cent of their k-casein preparation was soluble at pH 4.7 and the precipitate became more insoluble at pH 7 with each precipitation. b) When a 6M urea solution of the protein was dialyzed

against pH 4.7 acetate buffer, a precipitate formed leaving 20% of the protein in the supernatant. The precipitate was partially insoluble at pH 7. c) The insoluble material at pH 7 appeared similar to para-k-casein and the soluble portion from a) and b) similar to GMP. d) And finally, very low rennin concentrations, the nitrogen and NANA initially appeared more rapidly in the pH 4.7 soluble portion than in the 12% TCA soluble material.

Despite these evidences of a k-casein complex, one must consider that neither the k-casein preparation nor the various fractions were well characterized. Furthermore, it is possible that λ -casein fraction was present in their preparations. Fraction S, prepared in this laboratory by a similar method, contained large quantities of the λ -casein fraction. A McKenzie-Wake preparation of k-casein also contained λ -casein. The percentage of nitrogen reported for one of β their preparations (Beeby, 1963) was 14.6%, whereas, the purified kcasein studied here contained 15.3%. Moreover, purified Preparation No. 3A did not precipitate when solutions in 5.0 M GU at pH 4.8, 7.0 M urea, SDS, or acetic acid were dialyzed against water. The physical characteristics and reaction with rennin were normal for k-casein which had been treated in GU, urea, or acetic acid. Furthermore, a molecular weight of something less than 50,000 was not observed for k-casein in 7.0 M urea as would be expected if a complex existed and was broken as was suggested.

Several alternative interpretations of the data of Nitschmann and Beeby are considered.

1. The material which was soluble at pH 4.7 as described above in a) and b) may be enriched with the

λ-casein fraction. Possibly the λ-casein fraction contained the NANA not found in the GMP (see previous discussion). Also, some of the constituents of this fraction must have a relatively low molecular weight as evidenced by an $M_w = 20,000$ and $M_z = 90,000$ in 5.0 <u>M</u> GU. These characteristics could cause the λ-casein fraction, or some component thereof, to appear similar to GMP. The fraction of the precipitate obtained in a) and b) above which was insoluble at pH 7 (similar to para-kcasein) may have been an irreversible aggregate of kcasein and λ-casein fraction similar to α_3 -casein.

Interactions of the λ -casein fraction with k-casein would also explain the more rapid increase in the amount of nitrogen and NANA soluble at pH 4.7 when compared to that in 12% TCA following the action of rennin. Observations in this laboratory indicated that some k-casein may be soluble at pH 4.7, e.g., k-casein preparations containing 35-50% - or possibly less - of the λ -casein fraction does not cloud when treated with rennin in dilute salt solutions $(< 0.1 \text{ M})_{\circ}$. The amount of NPN liberated definitely indicated that GMP was being released (Note: Nitschmann and Beeby stated that k-casein was not in the pH 4.7 supernatant since the solution did not cloud with rennin). Further, the supernatant obtained at pH 4.4 during the urea-TCA preparative method contained in addition to large proportions of β -casein a fraction similar to crude k-casein as evidenced by freeboundary electrophoresis.

Thus, it can be argued that the NANA-containing material which is soluble in 12% TCA prior to the action of rennin may be one or more of the λ -casein constituents. This fraction may not be entirely soluble in 12% TCA under all conditions which would explain the conclusion arrived at by Wake (1959), namely that all of the GMP was not soluble. The initial stage of the action of rennin on k-casein would cleave the GMP from the protein, thus, increasing the ratio of λ -casein to unaltered kcasein. At pH 4.7, then, more of the k-casein in addition to λ -casein would remain soluble. In fact, Beeby (1963) found that the NANA/N ratio increased with time and suggested that "the intact sialic acid-containing component carries with it part of the insoluble components of the k-casein complex". However, only the initial proportion of the λ -casein fraction and the released GMP would be soluble in 12% TCA. After the complete reaction has occurred, the only NANA-containing proteins would be GMP and the λ -casein fraction. If any of the latter was not previously soluble in TCA, interaction with GMP could lead to complete solubility, thus, all of the NANA would be determined as soluble NANA.

2. The faster increase of pH 4.7 - soluble nitrogen and - NANA compared to that which was soluble in 12% TCA can be explained in another manner. The complete rennin action may be a result of two cleavages. Thus, the initial

cleavage would yield a large peptide of 12,000-16,000 molecular weight which is soluble at pH 4.7 but not in 12% TCA. An extended reaction would cleave this peptide approximately in half giving the GMP and another peptide. This would account for one proton, as suggested by Garnier <u>et al.</u> (1962) and a single GMP per 56,000 molecular weight unit. An assay of the total soluble peptides released indicated that units of 6,000-8,000 molecular weight were released per 28,000 molecular weight.

Nevertheless, if the complex exists as proposed by Nitschmann and Beeby (1963), then another interpretation of the physical data presented here is tenable, namely; that the complex should consist of two proteins of approximately the same molecular weight (28,000) since equilibrium studies of the reduced material indicated homogeneity. Secondly, the disulfide bonds probably would not be inter-molecular, but rather intra-molecularily located and possibly in only one of the proteins. And finally, the disulfide bonds must facilitate the complex formation since cleavage of these bonds resulted in reduction of the molecular weight to 28,000 units.

12
TABLE

			k-Casein			Reduced k-(lasein
Property	Phosphate Buffer pH 7.0	67% Acetic Acid-0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl	5.0 <u>M</u> GU	7.0 <u>M</u> Urea	Phosphate Buffer pH 12	67% Acetic Aci d-0. 15 <u>M</u> NaCl	5.0 <u>M</u> GU
W	650,000	124,000 58,000 ^{b,c}	126,000 54,000 ^b	118,000 ⁸ 57,000 ^b	24,000	27,300	28,700
s [°] 20, w X 10 ¹³	15.6	2.7	3.18		1.4	1.26	1.88
ĸ	0.0165	0,0302	0.0178	1	0.0172	0.0146	0.0106
D _{20,w} X 10 ⁷		2.3	3.1		5.8	5.7	5.8
[ŋ] (m1/g)	9.5	35	31	8	15.1		:
f/f,	1	3.2	2.7	8	2.3	2.6	1.8
β Χ 10⁻⁶		1.8	2.0	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2.04	t 6 1	8 8 1

Summary of the physical properties of k-casein and reduced k-casein

^a Weight-average molecular weight for a protein concentration of 5 mg/ml. ^b Molecular weight of the light component as determined from a Trautman plot. ^c Solvent used for this determination was 33% acetic acid -0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl.

Figure 20. Sedimentation-equilibrium patterns for k-casein and reduced k-casein in 67% acetic acid - 0.15 M NaCl and 5.0 M gwanidine-HCl. All experiments were performed at 25.0° C and a schlieren diaphragm angle of 70°. The protein condentrations were: top left, 7.34 mg/ml; top right, 7.2 mg/ml; bottom left, 6.3 mg/ml; and bottom right, 6 mg/ml.

KAPPA-CASEIN





12,590 RPM 67% ACETIC ACID 0.15 <u>M</u> NaC1

12,590 RPM 5 M GUANIDINE HC1

REDUCED KAPPA-CASEIN



Figure 20

The amino acid composition of the preparation of k-casein described in this thesis compared favorably with that reported by Jollès <u>et al.</u> (1962) for k-casein prepared by the method of McKenzie and Wake (1961). The equilibrium molecular weight was approximately 125,000 in both 5.0 <u>M</u> guanidine • HCl and 67% acetic acid \rightarrow 0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl. A smaller unit of approximately 56,000 molecular weight was detected in 33% acetic acid \rightarrow 0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl, 7.0 <u>M</u> urea, and at low protein concentrations in 5.0 <u>M</u> guanidine • HCl. Reduction of the disulfide bonds of k-casein caused a decrease in the molecular weight to 28,000 in both 5.0 <u>M</u> guanidine • HCl and 67% acetic acid \rightarrow 0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl. Approximately 3 \rightarrow SH groups per 28,000 g of protein were indicated by a) total sulfur and methionine analyses, b) titration of the reduced k-casein, with p-mercuribenzoate, and c) the cysteic acid content as reported by Jollès <u>et al.</u> (1962).

These data are consistent with the interpretation that the basic unit of k-casein is composed of two polypeptide chains having a molecular weight of 28,000 and joined by at least one disulfide bond.

LITERATURE CITED

- (1) Alais, C.
 1956. Étude des Substances Azotees Non-Proteiques (NPN) Separees de la Caseine du Lait de Vache sous L'Action de la Presure. Intern. Dairy Congr., 14th, Rome. <u>2</u>: 823.
- (2) Alais, C. and Jolles, P.
 - 1961. Étude Comparée des Caséino-glycopeptides Formés par Action de la Présure sur les Caséines de Vache, de Brebis et de Chèvre. II. Étude de la Partie Non-Peptidique. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 51: 315.
- (3) Alais, C., Mocquot, G., Nitschmann, H., and Zahler, P.
 1953. Das Lab und seine Wirkung auf das Casein der Milch. VII.
 Über die Abspaltung von Nicht-Protein-Stickstoff (NPN) aus Casein durch Lab and ihre Beziehung zur Primärreaktion der Labgerinnung der Milch. Helv. Chim. Acta. <u>36</u>: 1955.
- (4) Aminoff, D.
 1961. Methods for the Quantitative Estimation of N-Acetylneuraminic Acid and Their Application to Hydrolysates of Sialomucoids. Biochem. J. 31: 384.
- (5) Anfinsen, C. B. and Haber, E.
 1961. Studies on the Reduction and Reformation of Protein Disulfide Bonds. J. Biol. Chem. 236: 1361.
- (6) Baldwin, R. L. and Van Holde, K. E.
 1960. Sedimentation of High Polymers. Fortschr. Hochpolym. Forsch., Bd. <u>1</u>: 451.
- (7) Beeby, R.
 1963. Studies on the k-Casein Complex. I. The Release of Sialic Acid Containing Material by Rennin. J. Dairy Res. <u>30</u>: 77.
- (8) Beeby, R. and Nitschmann, H.
 1963. The Action of Rennin on Casein. The disruption of the k-casein complex. J. Dairy Res. 30: 7.
- (9) Benesch, R. and Benesch, R. E.
 1962. Determination of -SH Groups in Proteins. Methods Biochem. Analy. <u>10</u>: 43.
- (10) Bezkorovainy, A. and Doherty, D. G.
 1962. Isolation and Characterization of an Acidic Glycoprotein from Normal Bovine Plasma. Arch. Biochem. Biophys.
 <u>96</u>: 491.
- (11) Boyer, P. D. 1954. Spectrophotometric Study of the Reaction of Protein Sulfhydryl Groups with Organic Mercurials. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76: 4331.

- (12) Brown, R. K., Delaney, R., Levine, L., and Van Vunakis, H.
 1959. Studies on the Antigenic Structure of Ribonuclease.
 J. Biol. Chem. <u>234</u>: 2043.
- (13) Brunner, J. R., Ernstrom, C. A., Hollis, R. A., Larson, B. L., Whitney, R. McL., and Zittle, C. A.
 1960. Nomenclature of the Proteins of Bovine Milk - First Revision. J. Dairy Sci. <u>43</u>: 901.
- (14) Brunner, J. R. and Thompson, M. P.
 1959. Some Characteristics of the Glycomacropeptide of Casein-A Product of the Primary Rennin Action. J. Dairy Sci. <u>42</u>: 1881.
- (15) Cayen, M. N., Henneberry, G. O., and Baker, B. E.
 1962. Studies on Casein. IV. The Sialic Acid Content of Casein.
 J. Dairy Sci. 45:706.
- (16) Cecil, R. and McPhee, J. R. 1959. The Sulfur Chemistry of Proteins. Advan. Protein Chem. <u>14</u>: 255.
- (17) Cheeseman, G. C. 1962. A Method of Preparation of k-Casein and Some Observations on its Nature. J. Dairy Res. 29: 163.
- (18) Cohn, E. J. and Edsall, J. T.
 1943. <u>Proteins</u>, <u>Amino Acids</u>, <u>and Peptides</u>. New York: Reinhold Publishing Corp. p. 370.
- (19) Criddle, R. S., Bock, R. M., Green, D. E., and Tisdale, H.
 1962. Physical Characteristics of Proteins of the Electron Transfer System and Interpretation of the Structure of the Mitochondrion. Biochemistry. <u>1</u>: 827.
- (20) Erlander, S. R. and Foster, J. R. 1959. Application of the Archibald Sedimentation Principle to Paucidisperse Macromolecular Systems. J. Polymer Sci. <u>37</u>: 103.
- (21) Fox, K. K.
 1958. Separation of a Calcium-Soluble Fraction of Casein from Isoelectric Casein. J. Dairy Sci. 41: 715.
- (22) Fujita, H. 1962. <u>Mathematical Theory of Sedimentation Analysis</u>. New York: Academic Press.
- (23) Garnier, J.
 - 1957. Fraction Protéique Dégradée Spécifiquement par la Presure dans la Caséine. Proc. Intern. Symp. Enzyme Chem. Tokyo and Kyoto, pp. 524-526.

(24) Garnier, J. 1959. Quelques Observations Nouvelles Concernant la Transformation de la Caséine en Para-Caséine Sous L'Action de la Présure. Intern. Dairy Congr., 15th, London. 3: 1448. (25) Garnier, J. 1960. Étude Immunologique de la Protéolyse de la Caséine α par la Présure. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 38: 246. (26) Garnier, J., Mocquot, G. and Brignon, G. 1962. Original not seen. Taken from Beeby (1963). (27) Greenstein, J. P. and Jenrette, W. V. 1942. The Reactivity of Porphyrindin in the Presence of Denatured Proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 142: 175. (28) Hamilton, L. D. G. 1960. The Estimation of Side Chain Groups in the Intact Protein. In: Analytical Methods of Protein Chemistry. Alexander and Block, Ed. New York: Pergamon Press. Vol. 2, p. 78. (29) Harrap, B. S. and Woods, E. F. 1961. Light Scattering and Viscosity of Proteins in Anhydrous Formic Acid. J. Polymer Sci. 49: 353. (30) Hill, R. D. 1963. The Preparation of k-Casein. J. Dairy Res. 30: 101. (31) Hipp, N. J., Basch, J. J., and Gordon, W. G. 1961. Amino Acid Composition of α_1 , α_2 -, and α_3 -Caseins. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 94: 35. (32) Hipp, N. J., Groves, M. L., Custer, T. H., and McMeekin, T. L. 1952. Separation of α -, β -, and γ -Casein. J. Dairy Sci. 35: 272. (33) Hipp, N. J., Groves, M. L., and McMeekin, T. L. Separation of the Components of α -Casein. II. The 1961. Preparation of α_3 -Casein. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 93: 245. (34) Hofmann, T. and Harrison, P. M. The Structure of Apoferritin: Degradation into and 1963. Molecular Weight of Subunits. J. Mol. Biol. 6: 256. (35). Jolles, P. and Alais, C. 1960. Étude du Glycopeptide Obtenu par Action de la Présare sur la Caséine k du Lait de Vache. Compt. Rend. Acad. Sci., Paris. 251: 6205.

(36) Jollès, P., Alàis, C., and Jollès, J.
1961. Étude Comparée des Caséino-Glycopeptides Formés par Action de la Présure sur les Caséines de Vache, de Brebis et de Chèvre. I. Étude de la Partie Peptidique. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 51: 309.

- (37) Jolles, P., Alais, C., and Jolles, J.
 1962. Amino Acid Composition of k-Casein and Terminal Amino Acids of k- and Para-k-Casein. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. <u>98</u>: 56.
- (38) Jollès, P., Alais, C., Jollès, J.
 1963. Étude de la Caséine k de Vache Caractérisation de la Liaison Sensible a L'Action de la Presure. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. <u>69</u>: 511.
- (39) Kassel, B. and Brand, E.
 1938. The Distribution of the Sulfur in Casein, Lactalbumin, Edestin, and Papain. J. Biol. Chem. 125: 435.
- (40) Kielley, W. W. and Harrington, W. F.
 1960. A Model for the Myosin Molecule. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. <u>41</u>: 401.
- (41) Linderstrom-Lang, K.
 1925. Studies on Casein. II. Is Casein a Homogeneous Substance? Compt. Rend. Trav. Lab. Carlsberg. 16: 48.
- (42) Linderstrom-Lang, K. 1929. Studies on Casein. III. About the Fractionation of Casein. Compt. Rend. Trav. Lab. Carlsberg. Ser. Chim. <u>17</u> No. 9, pp. 1-111.
- (43) Long, J. E.
 1958. The Physical Properties and Interactions of Some Minor Milk Proteins. Ph.D. Thesis. The Ohio State University.
- (44) Malpress, F. H.
 1961. Sialic Acid Release by Rennin Action on Cow and Human Milk. Biochem. J. 80: 19p.
- (45) Marier, J. R. and Rose, D.
 1963. The Determination of Cyanate, and a Study of Its Accumulation in Aqueous Solutions of Urea. Preprint: For Publication in Anal. Biochem.
- (46) Marier, J. R., Tessier, H., and Rose, D.
 1963. Sialic Acid as an Index of the k-Casein Content of Bovine Skimmilk. J. Dairy Sci. <u>46</u>: 373.
- (27) Massey, V., Hofmann, T., and Palmer, G.
 1962. The Relation of Function and Structure in Lipoyl Dehydrogenase. J. Biol. Chem. <u>237</u>: 3820.
- (48) McCabe, E. M. Unpublished data.
- (49) McKenzie, H. A. and Wake, R. G.
 (1959a) Studies of Casein. II. Moving Boundary Electrophoresis of Casein Fractions with Particular Reference to α-Casein. J. Chem. <u>12</u>: 723.

- (50) McKenzie, H. A. and Wake, R. G.
 1959b. Studies on Casein. III. The Molecular Size of α-, β-, and k-Casein. Australian J. Chem. <u>12</u>: 734.
- (51) McKenzie, H. A. and Wake, R. G.
 1961. An Improved Method for the Isolation of k-Casein. Biochim. et Biophys. Acta. 47: 240.
- (52) McMeekin, T. L.
 1954. Milk Proteins. <u>In:</u> <u>The Proteins</u>. Neurath and Bailey, Ed. New York: Academic Press. Vol. II. Part A. P. 389.
- (53) McMeekin, T. L., Groves, M. L., and Hipp, N. J.
 1949. Apparent Specific Volume of α-Casein and β-Casein and the Relationship of Specific Volume to Amino Acid Composition. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71: 3298.
- (54) Mellander, O.
 1939. Elektrophoretische Undersuchungen von Casein.
 Biochem. Z. <u>300</u>: 240.
- (55) Morr, C. V.
 1959. Investigating β-Lactoglobulin and k-Casein Solutions and Their Interactions by Means of Fluorescence Polarization. Ph.D. Thesis. The Ohio State University.
- (56) Neelin, J. M., Rose, R., and Tessier, H.
 1962. Starch Gel Electrophoresis of Various Fractions of Casein. J. Dairy Sci. 45: 153.
- (57) Nielsen, H. C.
 1957. Molecular Weight Studies on Acid-Precipitated, Calcium-Precipitated, Alpha, and Beta Caseine by Osmotic Pressure Measurement in 6.66 M Urea. Ph.D. Thesis. Michigan State University.

(58) Nitschmann, H. and Beeby, R.

- 1960. Das Lab und seine Wirkung auf das Casein der Milch. XIV. Aminosäurezusammensetzung des aus k-Casein durch Lab in Freiheit gesetzten Glyko-Makropeptids. Chimia <u>14</u>: 318.
- (59) Nitschmann, H. and Henzi, R.
 1959. Das Lab und seine Wirkung auf das Casein der Milch. XIII.
 Untersuchung der bei der Labung in Freiheit gesetzten
 Peptide. Helv. Chim. Acta. <u>42</u>: 1985.
- (60) Nitschmann, H. and Lehmann, W.
 1947. Elecktrophetische Differezierung von Säure- und Lab Casein. Experientia <u>3</u>: 153.
- (61) Nitschmann, H., Wissmann, H., and Henzie, R.
 1957. Über ein Glyko-Makropeptid ein Spaltprodukt des Caseins, erhalten durch Einwirkung von Lab. Chimia. <u>11</u>: 76.

- (62) Pilson, M. E. Q., Henneberry, G. O., and Baker, B. E.
 1960. Studies on Casein. III. Preparation of a Carbohydraterich Fraction and a Calcium-sensitive Fraction from α-Casein. J. Sci. Food Agr. 11: 640.
- (63) Schachman, H. K. 1957. <u>In: Methods in Enzymology</u>. Colowick and Kaplan, Ed. New York: Academic Press. Vol. 4. pp. 32-103.
- (64) Schachman, H. K. 1959. <u>Ultracentrifugation in Biochemistry</u>. New York: Academic Press.
- (65) Schachman, H. K.
 1960. Deductions from Hydrodynamic and Thermodynamic Measurements. Brookhaven Symp. Biol. No. 13: 49.
- (66) Scheraga, H. A. and Mandelkern,
 1953. Consideration of the Hydrodynamic Properties of Proteins.
 J. Am. Chem. Soc. <u>75</u>: 179.
- (67) Sophianopoulos, A. J., Rhodes, C. K., Holcomb, D. N. and Van Holde, K. E.
 1962. Physical Studies of Lysozyme. J. Biol. Chem. 237: 1107.
- (68) Sullivan, R. A., Fitzpatrick, M. M., Stanton, E. K., Annino, R., Kissel, G. and Palermiti, F.
 1955. The Influence of Temperature and Electrolytes upon the Apparent Size and Shape of α- and β- Casein. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. <u>55</u>: 455.
- (69) Summer, J. B.
 1944. Method for the Colorimetric Determination of Phosphorus Science 100: 413.
- (70) Svedberg, T. and Pedersen, K. O.
 1940. <u>The Ultracentrifuge</u>. Oxford: Clarendon Press. New York: Johnson Reprint Corp. First Reprinting.(1959).
- (71) Swaisgood, H. E. and Brunner, J. R.
 1962. Characterization of k-Casein Obtained by Fractionation with Trichloroacetic Acid in a Concentrated Urea Solution. J. Dairy Sci. 4<u>5</u>: 1.
- (72) Tanford, C.
 1961. <u>Physical Chemistry of Macromolecules</u>. New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- (73) Thompson, M. P. and Pepper, L.
 1962. Effect of Neuraminidase on k-Casein. J. Dairy Sci.
 45: 794.

- (74) Trautman, R.
 1956. Operating and Comparating Procedures Facilitating Schlieren Pattern Analysis in Analytical Ultracentrifugation. J. Phys. Chem. 60: 1211.
- (75) Trautman, R. and Crampton, C. F.
 - 1959. Application of the Archibald Principle for the Ultracentrifugal Determination of the Molecular Weight in Urea Solutions of Histone Fractions from Calf Thymus. J. Am. Chem. Soc. <u>81</u>: 4036.
- (76) Van Holde, K. E. and Baldwin, R. L.
 1958. Rapid Attainment of Sedimentation Equilibrium. J. Phys. Chem. <u>62</u>: 734.
- (77) Wake, R. G. 1957. The Action of Rennin on Casein. Australian J. Sci. <u>20</u>: 147.
- (78) Wake, R. G. 1959. The Action of Rennin on Casein. Australian J. Biol. Sci. <u>12</u>: 538.
- (79) Wake, R. G. and Baldwin, R. L.
 1961. Analysis of Casein Fractions by Zone Electrophoresis in Concentrated Urea. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. <u>47</u>: 225.
- (80) Wales, M. 1962. I. Molecular Weights and Sizes. VII. Ultracentrifugation <u>In: Analytical Chemistry of Polymers</u>. G. M. Kline, Ed. New York: Interscience Publishers. pp. 46-71.
- (81) Warner, R. C. 1944. Separation of α- and β-Casein. J. Am. Chem. Soc. <u>66</u>: 1725.
- (82) Warren, L. 1959. The Thiobarbituric Acid Assay of Sialic Acids. J. Biol. Chem. <u>234</u>: 1971.
- (83) Waugh, D. F. 1958. The Interactions of α_s -, β -, and k-Caseins in Micelle Formation. Discussions Faraday Soc. 25: 186.
- (84) Waugh, D. F. 1961. Casein Interactions and Micelle Formation. J. Phys. Chem. <u>65</u>: 1793.
- (85) Waugh, D. F. and von Hippel, P. H.
 1956. k-Casein and the Stabilization of Casein Micelles.
 J. Am. Chem. Soc. <u>78</u>: 4576.

- (86) Williams, J. W., Van Holde, K. E., Baldwin, R. L., and
 Fujita, H.
 1958. The Theory of Sedimentation Analysis. Chem. Rev. <u>58</u>: 715.
- (87) Yang, Jen Tsi
 1961. The Viscosity of Macromolecules in Relation to Molecular Conformation. Advan. Protein Chem. 16: 323.
- (88) Young, D. M. and Potts, J. T.
 1963. Structural Transformations of Bovine Pancreatic Ribonuclease in Solution: A Study of Polarization of Fluorescence. J. Biol. Chem. 238: 1995.
- (89) Yphantis, D. A. and Waugh, D. F. 1957. Dissociation of Insulin in Pyridine-Water and Acetic Acid-Water Solutions. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 26: 218.
- (90) Zittle, C. A.
 1960. Column Chromatography of Casein on the Absorbent Diethylaminoethyl (DEAE)-Cellulose. J. Dairy Sci.

43: 855.

- (91) Zittle, C. A.
 - 1961. Stabilization of Calcium-Sensitive (α_s) Casein by k-Casein: Effect of Chymotrypsin and Heat on k-Casein. J. Dairy Sci. <u>44</u>: 2101.

APPENDIX I

Composition of the Buffers

The folowing quantities were made to one liter with redistilled water:

water: Hydrochloric acid - sodium chloride; pH 2.3; $\int /2 = 0.1$. 1. 5.85 g NaCl Adjusted pH with 0.1 N HC1 Acetic acid - sodium acetate; $\int /2 = 0.1$ 2. 2.72 g sodium acetate Adjusted the solution to the desired pH with dilute acetic acid, ie. pH 4.6, 4.7, 5.1, 5.3, and 5.5. Sodium phosphate; pH 6.0; $\int 2 = 0.1$ 3. 2.92 g NaC1 4.68 g NaH₂PO₄ • H₂0 0.763 g Na₂HPO₄ Sodium phosphate; pH 6.5; $\int 2 = 0.1$ 4. 2.92 g NaCl 2.75 g NaH₂PO₄ • H₂0 1.42 g Na₂HPO₄ Sodium phosphate; pH 6.7; 1/2 = 0.15. 2.92 g NaC1 1.73 g NaH₂PO₄ • H₂0 1.78 g Na₂HPO₄ Sodium phosphate; pH 7.0; 72 = 0.16. 2.92 g NaC1 , 1.06 g NaH₂PO₄ • H₂0 2.02 g Na_2HPO_4

7. Potassium phosphate; pH 7.0; $\frac{1}{2} = 0.2$

3.95 g KC1 3.63 g KH₂PO₄ 6.97 g K₂HPO₄ Sodium phosphate; pH 7.5; $\int /2 = 0.1$ 8. 2.92 g NaC1 0.43 g NaH₂PO₄ • H_2^0 2.22 g Na₂HPO₄ 9. Sodium veronal - hydrochloric acid; pH 8.3; $\frac{1}{2}$ = 0.1 20.6 g sodium veronal Adjusted pH with 2 N HC1 Veronal; pH 8.6; 1/2 = 0.1 10. 20.6 g sodium veronal 2.797 g veronal Potassium phosphate; pH 12.3; $\int /2 = 0.19$ 11. 3.22 g KOH 8.71 g K_HPO_4

Properties of the Dissociating Solvents Used for Molecular Weight Calculations or Correction of the Sedimenta

tion Coefficients to Water

The densities were determined in 25 ml pycnometers and the viscosities in a Cannon-Ubbelohde semi-micro dilution viscometer at $25.0 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$ C.

Appendix Table 1

Densities and relative viscosities of some of the dissociating solvents

Solvent	ⁿ m,	م
67% acetic acid - 0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl	2.574	1.0681
33% acetic acid - 0.15 <u>M</u> NaCl		1. 0445
7.0 <u>M</u> urea		1.1034
5.0 <u>M</u> GU	1.437	1.1198
Veronal buffer, pH 8.6 - 10 mg/ml SDS	1.101	1.0065

APPENDIX II

Introduction

The methods used to evaluate the ultracentrifugal data are presented in this section. The theoretical development of the required equations is presented to provide a firm basis of understanding for their applications. The following material does not represent an original contribution of this writer but is presented for the purpose of describing the use of the theoretical equations in this study. For a more thorough and extensive treatment of the theory, the reader is referred to the following references: Fujita (1962), Schachman (1959), Tanford (1961), Williams, Van Holde, Baldwin, and Fujita (1958), Baldwin and Van Holde (1960), Van Holde and Baldwin (1958), Trautman (1956), Svedberg and Peterson (1940), and Wales (1961).

Notation

The symbols \underline{r} and \underline{x} have been commonly used for the distance from the center of rotation. Since the ultracentrifuge cell is sector-shaped, the equations are written in cylindrical coordinates, therefore the symbol \underline{r} will be used in this section (In Part II, \underline{x} was used in several of the Figures.). The following symbols appear in this Appendix:

a' - The optical path length of the cell.
b' - The optical lever arm.
c - Concentration in g/m1⁻¹
c_m - Concentration of protein at the air-liquid meniscus.
c_b - Concentration of protein at the bottom of the solution.
c° - Initial concentration

- D Diffusion coefficient.
- f Frictional coefficient.
- L Phenomenological coefficient.
- M Magnification of the camera lens (radial).
- M_{c} Magnification of the cylindrical lens (height).
- N_{Av} Avagadro's number.
- n Total refractive index.
- n_o Refractive index due to solvent.
- Δ n Refractive index due to solute.
- R^{sp} Specific refractive increment.
- R Gas constant (8.314 X 10^7 ergs deg⁻¹ mole⁻¹).
- r Distance from the center of rotation.
- \mathbf{r}_{b} Distance from the center of rotation to the bottom of the solution.
- r_m Distance from the center of rotation to the air-liquid meniscus.
- r_H Distance from the center of rotation to the maximum ordinate of the gradient curve.
- s Sedimentation coefficient.
- T Absolute temperature.
- t Time.
- \overline{v} Partial specific volume of solute.
- X M_o r

 $X_{b} - M_{o} r_{b}$

 $X_m - M_o r_m$

 Δx - Radial distance between measurements on the photographic plate. Δy - Vertical distance between the solvent and solution pattern. y - Activity coefficient on the concentration scale. β - Scheraga-Manderkern constant.

 $\hat{\eta}$ - Viscosity.

 $[\eta]$ - Intrinsic viscosity.

- - Angle of the schlieren diaphragm.

μ - Chemical potential per gram.

 β - Density.

 $\boldsymbol{\phi}$ - Sector angle of the cell.

 ω -Angluar velocity of the rotor (radians sec⁻¹)

Sedimentation-Equilibrium

Theoretical

At equilibrium, the total potential of each component is independent of position in a centrifugal field;

$$\frac{d\mu_i}{dr} = 0.$$
 (1)

The force acting on any mass in the positive <u>r</u> direction is $\underline{\bigcup^2 r}$. Choosing the point at <u>r</u> = 0 as an arbitrary reference for potential energy (PE) and since PE decreases as the particle moves in the positive <u>r</u> direction,

PE =
$$-m \int_{0}^{r} (\omega^2 r d r) = -m \frac{(\omega^2 r^2)}{2},$$
 (2)

where \underline{m} is the particle mass. Since the total potential is the sum of the chemical potential and the centrifugal potential,

$$\mu_i^{\text{total}} = \mu_i - \frac{\omega^2 r^2}{2}$$
, (3)

where the potentials are expressed in terms of per gram of component. For a system at equilibrium -- therefore at constant temperature, -- the chemical potential of component \underline{i} is a function of the pressure and the concentrations of the \underline{q} components, i.e.,

$$\mu_i = f (P, c_k) (k = 1, ..., q)$$

Thus, by the laws of differential calculus;

$$d\mu i = \left(\frac{\partial \mu_i}{\partial P}\right)_c dP + \sum_{k=1}^{q} \left(\frac{\partial \mu_i}{\partial c_k}\right)_{T,P,c} dc_k.$$
(4)

Substitution of equations (3) and (4) into (1) gives:

$$\left(\frac{\partial \mu_{i}}{\partial P}\right)_{c} \frac{dP}{dr} + \sum_{k=1}^{q} \left(\frac{\partial \mu_{i}}{\partial c_{k}}\right)_{\substack{T,P,c, \\ (j \neq o,k)}} \frac{dc_{k}}{dr} - \omega^{2} r = 0.$$
(5)

But, for an imcompressible system

$$\left(\frac{\partial \mu_{i}}{\partial P}\right)_{c} = \overline{v}_{i}.$$
 (6)

Also the pressure varies with the position in the field and may be expressed as

$$\frac{d P}{dr} = \omega^2 r \rho$$
 (7)

Incorporating equations (6) and (7) into equation (5) gives

$$\overline{v}_{i} \omega^{2} r \rho + \sum_{k=1}^{q} \left(\frac{\partial \mu_{i}}{\partial c_{k}} \right)_{\substack{T,P,c_{j} \\ j \neq 0, k}} \frac{dc_{k}}{dr} - \omega^{2} r = 0$$
(8)

But the chemical potential per gram of a non-electrolyte varies with the concentration as,

$$\mu_{i} = \mu_{i}^{\circ} + \frac{R}{M_{i}} \ln y_{i} c_{i}$$
(9)

Thus,

$$\left(\begin{array}{c} \underline{\partial}\mu_{i} \\ \overline{\partial}^{c_{k}} \end{array}\right)_{\substack{T,P,c_{j} \\ (j \neq o,k)}} = \frac{R T}{M_{i}} \left(\begin{array}{c} \underline{\partial}\ln y_{i} \\ \overline{\partial}^{c_{k}} \\ J \end{array}\right)_{\substack{T,P,c_{j} \\ (j \neq o,k)}} (10)$$

and $\begin{pmatrix} \underline{\partial}_{\mu_{i}} \\ \overline{\partial}_{c_{i}} \end{pmatrix}_{(k \neq o, i)}^{T, P, c_{k}} = \frac{R T}{M_{i}} \begin{pmatrix} \underline{\partial}(\ln y_{i} c_{i}) \\ \overline{\partial}_{c_{i}} \end{pmatrix}^{T, P, c_{k}} \\
= \frac{R T}{M_{i}} \begin{pmatrix} \underline{\partial}\ln y_{i} \\ \overline{\partial}c_{i} \end{pmatrix}^{T, P, c_{k}} \\
= \frac{R T}{M_{i} c_{i}} \begin{bmatrix} 1 + c_{i} & (\underline{\partial}\ln y_{i}) \\ \overline{\partial}c_{i} & (h \neq o, i) \end{bmatrix} \\$ (11)

the combination of (8), (10), and (11) gives

$$M_{i} \overline{v}_{i} \omega^{2} r \rho + \frac{R T}{c_{i}} \frac{dc_{i}}{dr} + R T \left(\frac{\partial \ln y_{i}}{\partial c_{i}} \prod_{\substack{k \neq o, i}}^{T, P, c_{k}} \frac{dc_{i}}{dr} + R T \sum_{k=1}^{q} \left(\frac{\partial \ln y_{i}}{\partial c_{k}} \right)_{\substack{T, P, c_{j} \\ (j \neq o, k)}} \frac{dc_{k}}{dr} - M_{i} \omega^{2} r = 0 \quad (i \neq k)$$

$$M_{i} \overline{v}_{i} \omega^{2} r \rho + \frac{R T}{c_{i}} \frac{dc_{i}}{dr} + R T \sum_{k=1}^{q} \left(\frac{\partial \ln y_{i}}{\partial c_{k}} T, P, c_{j} \frac{dc_{k}}{dr} \right)$$

or

 $-M_{i}\omega^{2} r = 0 \quad (i = 1, ..., q). \quad (12)$

Rearranging gives

$$\frac{1}{c_i} \frac{dc_i}{dr} + \sum_{k=1}^{q} \frac{\partial \ln y_i}{\partial c_k} \frac{dc_k}{dr} = \frac{M_i (1 - \overline{v_i}) \omega^2 r}{R T}.$$
(13)

For a two component system, equation (13) reduces to

$$\frac{1}{c} \frac{d c}{d r} + \left(\frac{\partial \ln y}{\partial c}\right)_{r,P} \frac{d c}{d r} = \frac{M(1 - \overline{v}\rho)\omega^2 r}{R T}$$

or

$$\frac{1}{c} \frac{d}{d} \frac{c}{r} = \frac{Mr}{A \left[1 + c \left(\frac{\partial \ln y}{\partial c}\right)T, P\right]}$$
(14)
$$A = \frac{RT}{(1 - \nabla \rho)\omega^{2}}.$$

where

s 'n

Experimental Application

The quantitative observation made from the photographic plates is usually the refractive index gradient versus the distance from the origin.(schlieren optics). Fortunately, the refractive index (n) is related to the concentration by the equation;

$$n = n_{\circ} + \sum_{i=1}^{q} R_{i}^{sp} c_{i} \text{ and } (15)$$

neglecting c^2 terms which are negligible in most cases. Since $\underline{n} =$ n - no and assuming an incompressible system,

$$\underline{\partial \underline{\Delta}_n}_{\mathbf{r}} = \sum_{i=1}^{q} R_i^{sp} \underline{\partial_{c_i}}_{\mathbf{r}},$$

where R_i^{sp} is the specific refractive increment.

Various procedures have been reported for the calculation of molecular weights of solutes from equilibrium sedimentation data. These procedures are classified here in terms of the type of average molecular weight obtained when the system is polydisperse. In this section, the equations are developed for ideal, monodisperse systems, therefore the molecular weight is defined as an <u>apparent molecular</u> weight (\underline{M}^{app}). The true molecular weight is obtained by some suitable extrapolation of \underline{M}^{app} to zero concentration. All of these methods should give the same value for the calculated molecular weight.for homogeneous solutes.

Weight-average molecular weight for the entire cell contents. The total solute content of the cell is given by

$$\oint_{r_m}^{r_b} \operatorname{cr} dr$$
Applying the principle of conservation of mass, the total solute content at any time must equal the amount initially placed in the cell, i.e.,

$$\phi \int_{\mathbf{r}_{m}}^{\mathbf{r}_{b}} \operatorname{cr} d\mathbf{r} = \phi \operatorname{c}^{\circ} \int_{\mathbf{r}_{m}}^{\mathbf{r}_{b}} r d\mathbf{r} = \phi \frac{\mathbf{c}^{\circ}}{2} \left(\mathbf{r}_{b}^{2} - \mathbf{r}_{m}^{2}\right)$$
or
$$\int_{\mathbf{r}_{m}}^{\mathbf{r}_{b}} \operatorname{cr} d\mathbf{r} = \frac{\mathbf{c}^{\circ}}{2} \left(\mathbf{r}_{b}^{2} - \mathbf{r}_{m}^{2}\right). \quad (17)$$

Rearranging equation (14) and integrating between \underline{r}_{M} and \underline{r}_{D} gives

$$\int_{r_{m}}^{r_{b}} cr dr = \frac{A}{M^{app}} \int_{c_{m}}^{c_{b}} dc = \frac{c^{\circ}}{2} (r_{b}^{2} - r_{m}^{2})$$

$$M^{app} = \frac{2A}{r_{b}^{2} - r_{m}^{2}} \cdot \frac{c_{b} - c_{m}}{c^{\circ}}$$
(18)

or

In these experiments, $\underline{c}_b - \underline{c}_m$ was obtained from the refractive index gradient curve and \underline{c}° from the curve obtained with a synthetic boundary cell. Thus,

 $c_b - c_m = \frac{1}{R^{sp}} \int_{r_m}^{r_b} \Delta n dr$

Thus, $c_b - c_m = \int_{r_m}^{r_b} \frac{\partial c}{\partial r} dr$ and $c^\circ = \int_{r_m}^{r_p} \frac{\partial c}{\partial r} dr$. Using equation (16)

these become

$$c^{\circ} = \frac{1}{R^{sp}} \int_{r_{m}}^{r_{p}} \partial A_{r} dr. \qquad (20)$$

$$\partial A_{r} = \frac{tan \ 0}{a'b'M_{c}} \Delta Y (21) \text{ and } r = \frac{X}{M_{o}} \qquad (22),$$

(19) and

Since

equation (18) becomes

$$M^{a}PP = \frac{2 A}{r_{b}^{2} - r_{m}^{2}} \cdot \frac{\frac{1}{R^{s}P} \frac{\Delta X \tan \Theta}{a'b' M_{c} M_{o}}}{\frac{1}{R^{s}P} \frac{\Delta X \tan \Theta}{a'b' M_{c} M_{o}}} \sum_{X_{m}}^{X_{b}} \Delta Y \text{ equil.}}_{X_{m}}$$

If the same schlieren diaphragm angle is used for both photographs, this equation simplifies to X_{b}

$$M^{app} = \frac{2 A}{r_b^2 - r_m^2} \cdot \frac{\Delta X}{M_o} \sum_{X_m} \Delta Y \text{ equil}$$

$$\frac{\Delta X}{M_o} \sum_{X_m} \Delta Y \text{ syn. boundary}$$
(24)

where $r_b = \frac{X_b}{M_o}$ and $r_m = \frac{X_m}{M_o}$.

or

Weight-average molecular weight at r (Van Holde - Baldwin plot). Equation (14) is used directly as

 $\frac{1}{r}\frac{dc}{dr} = \frac{M^{app} \cdot c}{A}$ Although <u>c</u> cannot be evaluated directly, it is readily obtained relative to the concentration at the meniscus, <u>r</u>_m. Thus, by adding and subtracting <u>c</u>_m from <u>c</u>

$$\frac{1}{r}\frac{dc}{dr} = \underline{M}^{app}_{A} \left[(c - c_m) + c_m \right].$$
(25)

Applying equations (16), (21), and (22) as before, the following expressions are derived;

$$\frac{1}{X/M_{o}} \cdot \frac{\tan \Theta}{R^{Sp} a'b' M_{c}} \Delta Y = \frac{M^{app}}{A} \cdot \frac{\Delta X \tan \Theta}{R^{Sp} a'b' M_{c}M_{o}} \sum_{X_{m}} \Delta Y$$

$$+ \operatorname{constant}_{X} = \frac{M^{app}}{A M_{o}} \cdot \frac{\Delta X}{M_{o}} \sum_{X_{m}}^{X} \Delta Y + \operatorname{constant}. \quad (26)$$

Therefore
$$\Delta Y = X$$
 was plotted against $\Delta X = X_m = X_m = X_m$ and M^{app} was obtained

from the slope since

$$M^{app} = A M_{o} Slope.$$
 (27)

<u>z-Average molecular weight for the entire cell contents</u>. This method utilizes information derived from the intersections of the plot described in the above paragraph with the meniscus and the cell bottom. From equation (14), the following expression is developed:

$$\frac{\frac{1}{r_b} \left(\frac{dc}{dr}\right)_b - \frac{1}{r_m} \left(\frac{dc}{dr}\right)_m = \frac{M^{app}}{A}.$$
 (28)

Applying equations (16), (19), (21), and (22) the above equation becomes:

$$\frac{\frac{1}{r_{b}} \frac{\tan \Theta}{R^{sp}a'b'M_{c}} \Delta Y_{b}}{\frac{\Delta X \tan \Theta}{R^{sp}a'b'M_{c}} \sum_{X_{m}}^{X_{b}} \Delta Y_{m} = M^{app}}{\Delta Y_{m}}$$

or

$$M^{app} = A \underbrace{\Delta Y_b / r_b}_{M_o} - \underbrace{\Delta Y_m / r_m}_{X_b} \Delta Y \text{ equil.} (29)$$

Example Calculation

The microcomparator readings and the calculations for an equilibrium pattern are presented in this section. The symbol <u>Rn</u> refers to the distance from the inner reference line to the designated position as measured by the microcomparator on the photographic plate. For the Model E used, $r_{inner} = 5.70$ cm at low speeds and $M_o = 2.103$.

Appendix Table 2

Data and example calculation from a short-column equilibrium pattern Protein: Reduced k-Casein Speed: 14,290 RPM Conc.: 3.2 mg/ml Temperature: 25.0° C Buffer: 67% acetic acid - 0.15 M NaCl 0: 60°

•

n	Rn	Xn Rn + 5.70 M₀	Δyn	$\sum \Delta \mathtt{Yn}$	$\Delta Yn/Xn X10^{-1}$	$\frac{3\Delta_{X}}{M_{o}}\sum_{YnX10}$
0	2,025		0.110*			
1	2.030		0.112*	0.112		
2	2.040		0.114*	0.226		
3	2.050		0.117*	0.343		
4	2,060		0.120*	0.463		
5	2.070		0.123*	0.586		
6	2.080		0.126*	0.712		
7	2.090		0.128*	0.840		
8	2.100	14.087	0.1312	0.9712	9.31	4.62
9	2.110	14.097	0.1322	1.1034	9.38	5.25
10	2.120	14.107	0.1356	1.2390	9.61	5.89
11	2.130	14.117	0.1426	1.3816	10.10	6.57
12	2.140	14.127	0.1434	1.5250	10.15	7 •25
13	2.150	14.137	0.1464	1.6714	10.36	7.95
14	2.160	14.147	0.1484	1.8208	10.56	8. 66
15	2.170	14.157	0.1526	1.9734	10.78	9.38
16	2.180	14.167	0.1534	2.1268	10.83	10.11
17	2.190	14.177	0.1560	2.2828	11.00	10 .8 5
18	2.200	14.187	0.1584	2.4412	11.17	11.61
19	2.210	14.197	0.1622	2.6034	11.42	12.38
20	2.220	14.207	0.1650	2.7684	11.61	13.16
21	2.230	14.217	0.1658	2.9342	11.66	13.95
22	2.240	14.227	0.1694	3.1036	11.91	14.76
23	2.240	14.237	0.1746	3.2782	12.26	15.59
24	2.260	14.247	0.1762	3.4544	12.37	16.43
25	2.270	14.257	0.1794	3.6338	12.58	17.28
26	2.280	14.267	0.1818	3.8156	12.74	18.14
27	2.290	14.277	0.1834	3.9990	12.85	19.02
28	2.300	14.287	0.1868	4.1858	13.07	19.90
29	2.310	14.297	0.1900	4.3758	13.29	20.81
30	2.320	14.307	0.1940	4.5698	13.56	21.73
31	2.330	14.317	0.19/2	4./6/0	13.77	22.67
32	2.340	14.32/	0.2030	4.9700	14.1/	23.03
33	2.350	14.33/	0.2068	5.1/68	14.42	24.01
34 25	2.360	14.34/	0.2104	5.38/2	14.0/	20.02
35	2.370	14.357	0.2132	5.6004	14.85	20.03

36	2.380	14.367	0.2178	5.8182	15.16	27.67
37	2.390	14.377	0.2210	6.0392	15.37	28.72
38	2.400	14.387	0.2240	6.2632	15.57	29.78
39	2.410		0.228*	6.4912		
40	2,420		0.232*	6.7232		
41	2,430		0.236*	6,9592		
42	2,440		0.239*	7,1982		
43	2,4465		0.241*			
R _b =	2.448		$r_b = X_b$	= 6.864	$\Delta^{\mathtt{y}_{\mathtt{m}}}$	= 0.110
R _m =	2.025		M		$\Delta \mathtt{Y}_{b}$	= 0.242
-			$r_m = X_m$	= 6.663		
			M			

* Values obtained by extrapolation.

$$c_{b} - c_{m} = \frac{\Lambda x}{M_{o}} \sum_{1}^{42} \Lambda y_{n} + \frac{R_{b} - (R_{42} + \Lambda x)}{M_{o}} \Lambda y_{n} + \frac{R_{b} - (R_{42} + \Lambda x)}{M_{o}} \Lambda y_{n} + \frac{R_{42} + \Lambda x}{2} + \frac{\Lambda x}{2} + \frac{R_{b} - (R_{42} + \Lambda x)}{2}$$

Note that the first value for ΔY used in the summation was obtained at $X_m + \frac{\Delta X}{2}$ and similarly, the ΔY was obtained at the midpoint of the small interval remaining at the bottom. Essentially, this method represents trapezoidal integration. <u>C</u>_o is obtained by similar measurements of a synthetic boundary pattern obtained <u>at the same schlieren diaphragm</u> angle, ie.

$$c_{\circ} = \Delta x \sum_{M_{\circ}}^{X_{p}} \Delta y$$
 syn. boundary = 0.04904 for this case.

Other quantities necessary for the calculations are a) $\rho_{solution} = 1.0688$, b) $\frac{R T}{(1 - \overline{v}\rho)\omega^2} = A = \frac{(8.314 \times 107) (298)}{(1 - 0.73 \times 1.0688) (2.23936 \times 10^6)} = 50,290$, and c) $\frac{1}{r_b^2 - r_m^2} = 0.368$. The different average molecular

weights are obtained of follows:

(Continuation of Table 2)

a) weight-average molecular weight for the total cell contents;from equation (24)

$$M_{w}^{app} = (2) (50,290) (0,368) \frac{0.03457}{0.04904} \simeq 26,100$$

b) z-average molecular weight for the total cell contents; from equation (29)

$$M_{z}^{app} = 50,290 \quad \frac{0.242/6.864 - 0.110/6.663}{0.03457} \succeq 27,260$$

c) weight-average molecular weight from the Van Holde-Baldwin plot; from equation (26). The slope is obtained from a plot of $\Delta Y_n/X \times 10^3$ against $\Delta X \sum_{M_o} \Delta Y_n \times 10^3$, then $M^{app} = M_o A$ Slope = (2.103) (50,290)(0.242) = 25,600.

Calculation of the Diffusion Coefficient

The diffusion coefficient can be obtained by combining measurements of photographs taken after the plateau region disappears from the sedimentation-equilibrium pattern. The simplest method for such calculations is that proposed by Sophianopoulos <u>et al</u>. (1962) utilizing the following equation;

$$\ln \left[\left(\frac{\partial c}{\partial r} \right)_{eq} - \left(\frac{\partial c}{\partial r} \right)_{t} \right]_{mid point} = constant - \frac{\pi^2 D}{r_b^2 - r_m^2} A_I A_{II} t, (30)$$

where

$$A_{I} = 1 + \frac{3}{\pi^{2}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{r}_{b} - \mathbf{r}_{m}}{\mathbf{r}_{b} + \mathbf{r}_{m}} \right)^{2} \qquad \text{and}$$
$$A_{II} = 1 + \frac{(\mathbf{r}_{b} - \mathbf{r}_{m})^{2}}{2} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} M (1 - \overline{v} \rho)}{2 RT} \right) \left(\frac{\mathbf{r}_{b} - \mathbf{r}_{m}}{2} \right)^{2}$$

By removing the optical constants, equation (30) becomes

ln (
$$\Delta Y_{eq} - \Delta Y_t$$
)_{mid point} = constant' - $\frac{\pi^2 D}{r_b^2 - r_m^2} A_{I}A_{II} t$. (31)

Thus, log $(\Delta Y_{eq} - \Delta Y_t)$ measured at the mid point of the solution column was plotted against the time (min), letting the first photograph be zero time since only the time interval is important. The slope of this plot is given by

slope =
$$\frac{-\pi^2 D A_{I} A_{II}}{2.303 (r_b - r_m)^2}$$

Changing the diffusion coefficient from $cm^2 min^{-1} to cm^2 sec^{-1}$, then, gives

$$D = -\frac{2.303 (r_b - r_m)^2 (slope)}{\pi^2 A_I A_{II} 60} cm^2 sec^{-1}.$$
 (32)

Approach-to-Equilibrium

Theoretical

The flow equation for the ultracentrifuge has been derived from the laws of irreversible thermodynamics and for incompressible systems is

$$J_{i} = -\sum_{k=1}^{q} L_{ik} \left(\frac{\partial \mu_{k}^{\text{total}}}{\partial r} \right)_{t} \quad (i = 1, \dots, q). \quad (33)$$

Differentiating equation (3) with respect to \underline{r} at constant time gives

$$\left(\frac{\partial \mu_k^{\text{total}}}{\partial r}\right)_t = \left(\frac{\partial \mu_k}{\partial r}\right)_t - \omega^2 r$$

For an isothermal system the chemical potential is a function of the pressure and concentrations of all solutes, therefore

$$\left(\frac{\partial \mu_k}{\partial r} \right)_t = \left(\frac{\partial \mu_k}{\partial P} \right)_{T,c,t} \left(\frac{\partial P}{\partial r} \right)_{T,t} + \sum_{j=1}^q \left(\frac{\partial \mu_k}{\partial^c_j} \right)_{T,P,c_i} \left(\frac{\partial c_j}{\partial r} \right)_t$$

Substituting this result along with equations (6) and (7) into equation (33) gives

$$J_{i} = -\sum_{k=1}^{q} L_{ik} \left[-\omega^{2r} (1 - \overline{v}_{k} \rho) + \sum_{j=1}^{q} \left(\frac{\partial \mu_{k}}{\partial^{c}_{j}} \right)_{T,P,c_{i}} \left(\frac{\partial c_{j}}{\partial r} \right)_{t} \right] (i = 1, ..., q) (34)$$

This equation is converted to the corresponding practical flow equation,

$$J_{i} = c_{i} S_{i} \omega^{2} r - \sum_{j=1}^{q} D_{ij} \left(\frac{\partial c_{j}}{\partial r} \right) \quad (i = 1, ..., q) \quad (35)$$

where

$$S_{i} = \sum_{k=1}^{q} \frac{L_{ik}}{c_{i}} (1 - \overline{v}_{k} \rho) \qquad (i = 1, ..., q)$$
$$D_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{q} L_{ik} \left(\frac{\partial \mu_{k}}{\partial c_{j}} \right) \qquad (i = 1, ..., q)$$

The <u>Archibald</u> molecular weight can then be obtained by applying the boundary conditions to the centrifuge, and are represented by

$$J_i = 0$$
 (i = 1, ..., q) (r = r_m, r_b). (36)

For a two component system, equation (34) becomes

J = L (1 -
$$\overline{v}\rho$$
) ω^2 r - L $\left(\frac{\partial \mu}{\partial c}\right)_{T,P}$ $\left(\frac{\partial c}{\partial r}\right)_{t}$, and since J = 0 at

 $\underline{\mathbf{r}} = \underline{\mathbf{r}}_{\mathbf{m}},$

$$(1 - \overline{v} \rho) \omega^2 r_m - \left(\frac{\partial \mu}{\partial c}\right)_{T, P} \left(\frac{\partial c}{\partial r}\right)_m = 0.$$
(37)

Substituting in equations (9) and (11) for yields yields

$$(1 - \overline{v} \rho) \omega^{2} r_{m} - \frac{RT}{Mc_{m}} \left[1 + c \left(\frac{\partial \ln y}{\partial c} \right)_{T, P} \left(\frac{\partial c}{\partial r} \right)_{m} \right] = 0$$

which gives upon rearranging

$$\frac{\left(\frac{\partial c}{\partial r}\right)_{m}}{\omega^{2} r_{m}} = \frac{M \left(1 - \overline{v} \rho\right) c_{m}}{RT \left[1 + c \left(\frac{\partial \ln y}{\partial \alpha}\right)_{T, P}\right]}$$
(38)

By adding and subtracting a constant, \underline{c}° , from the right-hand side of equation (38), one obtains

$$\frac{\left(\frac{\partial c}{\partial r}\right)_{m}}{\mathcal{W}^{2} r_{m}} = \frac{M \left(1 - \overline{v} \mathcal{D}\right) \left[\left(c_{m} - c^{\circ}\right) + c^{\circ}\right]}{RT \left[1 + c \left(\frac{\partial \ln y}{\partial c}\right)_{T, P}\right]}$$
(39)
where $c_{m} - c^{\circ} = -\frac{1}{r_{m}^{2}} \int_{rm}^{r} r^{2} \frac{\partial c}{\partial r} dr$. (40)

Experimental Application

Rewriting equation (39) in terms of the refractive index and • rearranging signs gives 1 . .

$$\frac{\frac{1}{R^{sp}}\left(\frac{\partial \Delta n}{\partial r}\right)_{m}}{W^{2} r_{m}} = -\frac{M \left(1 - \overline{v}\rho\right) \left[\left(c^{\circ} - c_{m}\right) - c^{\circ}\right]}{RT \left[1 + c \frac{\partial \ln y}{\partial c}\right]}.$$
 (41)

The quantity ($c^{\circ} - c_m$) may be evaluated by several methods, however, the method using the Trautman z-scale is the most direct. Thus, a quantity is defined

$$Z = (10X / X_r)^3$$
 (42),

where X_r is an arbitrary reference point beyond the cell bottom, chosen here as 160 mm. This gives

$$x^2 dx = (x_r^3/3000) d Z$$
 (43)

upon differentiation. Since

$$c^{\circ} - c_{m} = \frac{1}{R^{sp} r_{m}^{2}} \int_{rm}^{r} r^{2} \frac{\partial \Delta n}{\partial r} dr =$$

$$\frac{\tan \Theta}{R^{sp} X_{m}^{2} a'b' M_{c}M_{o}} \int_{X_{m}}^{X} x^{2} \Delta Y dX,$$

use of equation (43) gives

$$c^{\circ} - c_{m} = \frac{X_{r}^{3} \tan \Theta}{R^{sp} X_{m}^{2} a'b' M_{c} 3000 M_{o}} \int_{Z_{m}}^{Z} \Delta Y dZ$$

$$c^{\circ} - c_{m} = \frac{F_{x}}{a'b'M_{c}} \left[\frac{X_{r}}{X_{m}} \right]^{2} \frac{\Delta Z \tan \Theta}{R^{sp}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \Delta Y_{j} \qquad (44)$$

or

where $F_x = X_r / 3000 M_0$. (45)

Applying these results to equation (39) one obtains

$$\frac{\frac{1}{R^{\text{sp}}}\frac{\tan \theta}{a'b'M_{c}}}{\omega^{2}r_{m}} = -M^{\text{app}} \frac{(1-\overline{v}\rho)}{RT} \frac{F_{x}}{a'b'M_{c}} \left[\frac{X_{r}}{X_{m}}\right]^{2} \frac{\Delta Z \tan \theta}{R^{\text{sp}}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \Delta Y_{j}$$

where
$$M^{app} = M/1 + c \left(\frac{\partial \ln y}{\partial c} \right)_{T,P}$$

Multiplying through by the optical constants and using a constant syields

$$\underline{\Delta}_{\mathbf{r}_{m}}^{\mathbf{Y}_{m}} = -M^{app} \left(\frac{1 - \overline{\mathbf{v}} \boldsymbol{\rho}}{RT} \right) F_{\mathbf{x}} \left[\frac{\mathbf{x}_{r}}{\mathbf{x}_{m}} \right]^{2} \Delta Z \qquad \sum_{j=1}^{n} \Delta \mathbf{Y}_{j} + \text{constant.} \quad (46)$$

 M^{app} can then be obtained from the slope of a plot of $\Delta Y_m / \omega^2 r_m$ against $F_x \left[\frac{X_r}{X_m}\right]^2 \Delta Z \sum_{j=1}^n \Delta Y_j$.

(Note: In Part II of this thesis, these quantities were denoted as
$$\frac{dn}{dx}m/\omega^2 X_m$$
 and $c^\circ - c_m$).

To obtain the greatest accuracy, at least three widely separated rotor speeds should be used. In the case of a paucidisperse system, a change in slope occurs when all of the heavy components have sedimented away from the meniscus, thus allowing the molecular weight of the light component to be determined.

Sedimentation-Velocity

Calculation of the Coefficient

The observed sedimentation coefficient. The sedimentation coefficient is defined as the sedimenting velocity (u) per unit of centrifugal field. Thus

 $S = \frac{u}{w^2 r}$. (47). The velocity corresponds to the movement of particles in the plateau region (where $\partial c/\partial r = 0$) and it can be shown that the true sedimentation-velocity is given by the rate of movement of the square-root of the second movement of the refractive index gradient curve (r_z). However, the position of r_z is equivalent to the position of the maximum ordinate (r_H) for symmetrical boundaries. Therefore,

 $S = \frac{dr_{H}}{dt} / \frac{\omega^{2}}{\omega^{2}} r_{H}$ which upon integration gives $\ln r_{H} = \frac{\omega^{2}}{\omega^{2}} S t + \text{constant} \quad \text{or}$ $\log \frac{X_{H}}{100} = \frac{\omega^{2}S}{2.303} t + \text{constant'} \quad (48) \text{ where } X_{H} \text{ is in } \underline{\text{mm.}}$ For the purpose of making the calculations, $\log \frac{X_{H}}{100}$ is plotted against time (min) and the sedimentation coefficient obtained from the slope of

Correction of the observed S to standard conditions. The experimentally determined sedimentation was corrected to a value corresponding to sedimentation in water at 20° C. The equation commonly used is

the plot.

$$S_{20,w} = \left(\frac{\eta_{w,t}}{\eta_{w,20}}\right) \left(\frac{\eta_{o,t}}{\eta_{w,t}}\right) \left(\frac{1-\overline{v}\rho_{20,w}}{1-\overline{v}\rho_{t,o}}\right) S_{T}, \quad (49)$$

where the first term is the viscosity of water at the experimental temperature relative to that at 20° C, the second term is the relative viscosity of the solvent to that of water, and the last term is the relative buoyancy term containing the partial specific volume, the density of water at 20° C, and the density of the solution at the experimental temperature.

<u>Correction for radial dilution</u>. Since the cell is sector-shaped, the concentration in the plateau region is constantly changing. This factor must be considered when the values obtained at finite concentrations are extrapolated to infinite dilution to obtain $S^{\circ}_{20,w}$. If the slope of the plot described in the first paragraph is obtained by the method of least-squares, the actual concentration corresponding to the observed coefficient is the average of the concentrations for the first and last frame used for the calculation. The initial concentration (c°) placed in the cell and the concentration in the plateau region (c_p) at any other time are related by the equation

$$\frac{c_{\rm p}}{c^{\circ}} = \frac{r_{\rm m}}{r_{\rm H}}$$
(50)

or more simply

$$\frac{c_p}{c^\circ} = \frac{X_m}{X_H} \qquad . \tag{51}$$

Therefore, if the initial concentration is known, the concentrations for the first and last frame may be obtained.

The radial dilution rule also provides a method of checking the homogeneity of the sample since the area under the curve corrected to radial dilution by equation (51) should be constant.

Relation of the Sedimentation Coefficient to Particle Shape

The frictional ratio. The frictional coefficient for a rigid, uncharged sphere is given by Stokes law

$$f = 6 \pi \eta r, \qquad (52)$$

where \underline{r} is the radius of the sphere. Assuming no solvation, the radius of a molecule is given by

$$r = \left(\frac{3 \text{ Mv}}{4 \pi N_{\text{AV}}}\right)^{1/3}$$
. Therefore the minimum possible

frictional coefficient per mole of solute (fo) would be $\frac{1}{1}$

$$f_{o} = 6 \pi \eta \left(\frac{3 M_{v}}{4 \pi N_{AV}}\right) \approx 1.39 \times 10^{-9} (M \overline{v}_{20,w})$$
 (53)

Equation (35) defined the sedimentation coefficient of a particle as

 $S_{1} = \frac{L_{11}}{c_{1}} (1 - \overline{v}_{1} \rho) \quad \text{and the diffusion coefficient as}$ $D_{11} = L_{11} \left(\frac{\partial \mu_{1}}{\partial c_{1}} \right)_{T,P} \quad \text{for a two-component system. Since}$ $\mu_{1} = \mu_{1}^{\circ} + \frac{RT}{M_{1}} \quad \ln y_{1}c_{1}, \quad D_{11} \doteq L_{11} \frac{RT}{M_{1}c_{1}} \left[1 + c_{1} \left(\frac{\partial \ln y_{1}}{\partial c_{1}} \right) \right] = \frac{RT}{N_{AV} f_{1}};$

where f_1 is the frictional coefficient per mole. Thus

$$L_{11} = \frac{M_{1}c_{1}}{N_{AV} f_{1}} \frac{1}{1 + c_{1}} \frac{\partial \ln y_{1}}{\partial c_{1}}$$
 and

$$S_{1} = \frac{M_{1} (1-\overline{v}_{1} \rho)}{N_{AV} f_{1} \left[1 + c_{1} \frac{\partial \ln y_{1}}{\partial c_{1}}\right]} \text{ or in the limit,}$$

$$c_{1} \rightarrow 0, S_{20,w}^{\circ} = \frac{M_{1} (1 - \overline{v}_{20,w} \rho_{20,w})}{N_{A_{V}} f_{1}}.$$

Therefore,

$$f/f_{o} = \frac{\frac{M (1 - \bar{v}_{20,w} \rho_{20,w})}{\frac{N_{AV} S_{20,w}^{2}}{1.39 \times 10^{-9} (M \bar{v}_{20,w})}} \frac{1}{3}.$$
 (55)

(54)

This ratio has been related to the axial ratios of prolate and oblate ellipsoids by use of Perrin's equation. These ratios are tabulated in many of the references given previously.

<u>The Scheraga-Mandelkern constant</u>. According to Scheraga and Mandelkern (1953), the intrinsic viscosity is related to the effective hydrodynamic volume, V_e , of the particle, thus

$$[n] (d1/g) = \frac{N_{AV}}{100} \frac{Ve}{M} \mathcal{V}$$
(56)

where $\underline{\mathcal{V}}$ is a shape factor. Note that [n] is in dl/g ([n] in ml/g = 100 [n] in dl/g). Since hydrodynamic properties depend on both the particle size and shape, these authors pointed out that two hydrodynamic parameters must be obtained to define the size and shape.

The frictional coefficient for a sphere having a volume equal to Ve is

$$f_{o} = 6 \pi \eta a_{o}$$
 (57)

Substituting this equation into equation (54) gives

$$S_{20,w}^{\circ} = \frac{M (1 - \overline{v}_{20,w} \, \rho_{20,w})}{N_{AV} \, f/f_{o} \, \delta \pi \, \eta_{20,w}} a^{\circ} .$$
(58)

But $a_o = \left(\frac{3}{4} \frac{V_e}{\pi}\right)^{1/3}$ and substituting equation (56) for \underline{V}_e and rearranging results in the following expression:

$$\frac{M (1 - \overline{v}_{20,w} \,\rho_{20,w})}{S^{\circ}_{20,w} \,N_{A_{V}}} = f/f_{\circ} \, \boldsymbol{6} \, \boldsymbol{\pi} \boldsymbol{\eta}_{20,w} \left(\frac{300 \, M \,\rho_{1}}{4 \, \boldsymbol{\pi} \, \boldsymbol{\nu} \, N_{A_{V}}}\right)^{1/3}$$

$$f_{\circ}/f \left(\frac{N_{A_{V}} \,\boldsymbol{\nu}}{16200 \, \boldsymbol{\pi}^{2}}\right)^{1/3} = \frac{N_{A_{V}} \,S^{\circ}_{20,w} \,\rho_{1}^{1/3} \,\rho_{20,w}}{M^{2/3} \,(1 - \overline{v}_{20,w} \,\rho_{20,w})} = \beta. \quad (59)$$

or

Thus, two hydrodynamic properties -- $S_{20,w}^{\circ}$ and [n] -- and a thermodynamically determined molecular weight were used in these studies to calculate $\underline{\beta}$. However, $\underline{\beta}$ is not very sensitive to particle shape and therefore the effective dimensions of the molecules were not calculated. Since β is not very sensitive to particle shape, an approximate molecular weight can be calculated from the intrinsic viscosity and sedimentation coefficient. Assuming an average value for $\underline{\beta}$ (2.16 X 10⁶) and substituting the value for the viscosity of water at 20° C in equation (59) gives

$$M = \frac{4690 (s_{20,w}^{\circ})^{3/2} (\eta)^{1/2}}{(1 - \bar{v}_{20,w}} \rho_{20,w})} .$$
(60)

•

APPENDIX III

Appendix Table 3

A comparison of the amino acid analysis for k-casein and the $\lambda\text{-casein}$ fraction

Amino Acid	k - Casein g/100 g	λ-Casein Fraction g/100 g
Asp	7.72	8.18
Thr	6.74 ^a	1.65 ^a
Ser	5.03 ^a	3.17 ^a
Glu	19.80	24.11
Pro	10.95	7.16
Gly	1.23	2.63
Ala	5.40	2.86
Val	6.30	5.89
Met	1.68	1.99
Ilen	7.10	5.18
Leu	6.11	8.23
Tyr	7.61	5.67 ^a
Phe	3.86	4.55
Lys	6.51	9.04
His	2.36	3.83
Arg	3.96	4.17
NH3	1.94 ^a	1.90

^a Extrapolated to zero hydrolysis time.

CHEMISTRY LIBRARY

